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To the Shareholders 
of eXp World Holdings,

I’m writing this letter while traveling in 
Australia and New Zealand, reflecting 
on a few recent meetings with agents 
and brokers in Australia and I’m now 
getting ready to fly back to Sydney 
where I will travel up to Brisbane to 
speak at a real estate conference.

Just mentioning these two countries 
in the context of eXp means we have 
done incredible things in the 10 years 
since we embarked on this simple, but 
revolutionary idea. As I think back to 
2009 when we launched eXp Realty as 
an agent-centric real estate brokerage 
in Bellingham, Washington, we 
weren’t sure a cloud-based real estate 
brokerage would succeed without the 
trappings of physical bricks-and-mortar 
offices. It was a bold idea and it was 
truly ahead of its time. However, given 
technological advancements and the 
fact that we were in the middle of the 
worst housing market in our lifetime, 
not only was it a necessity to reinvent 
how we worked, but it also gave us an 
opportunity to change how business 
gets done. 

Those early years were grueling and I 
honestly wondered if this model was 
even viable. By 2012, we only had a few 
hundred agents in the United States, but 
we were determined to make it work. 
So, we set a goal to have 10,000 eXp 
agents by 2020. It was an audacious 
goal and probably met with a certain 
amount of skepticism.  

2019
IN REVIEW
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Flash forward to 2020 and not only did we more 
than double that number to 28,000 at the end of  
the first quarter, but  just as importantly, we have 
grown internationally. Our northerly neighbor, 
Canada, now has more than 1,000 agents. Our 
friends in the United Kingdom are numbering 
close to 100 agents and our latest expansion 
Down Under, Australia, is getting a fair bit of 
early traction. And we’re not done planting flags 
internationally; we are looking at additional 
opportunities beyond our borders and are eager 
to announce them when the time comes.

This rapid growth doesn’t happen by itself. It is 
a result of our intense commitment and focus 
on our agents and to provide them with the best 
possible training, direction and support so they 
can be rewarded financially and professionally as 
we have always believed. 

This past year, we also added a number of key 
members to various areas of the business and 
achieved quarterly GAAP profitability for the first 
time since being listed on Nasdaq. This sets a 
new stage of sustainable growth while serving 
our most important stakeholders — our agents 
and end customers — whether on the eXp Realty 
or VirBELA side.  

In 2007, the research firm Gartner coined the 
term “Virtual World for Work,” which has now 
morphed to “Immersive Technology.” What 
we recognized in 2009 is that by creating a 
sense of place in a Virtual World for Work we 
could create an analog for going to work. I 
would rather be saying this under very different 
circumstances, but with the emergence of an 
unprecedented global event (COVID-19), we have 
one of the few platforms that supports people 
and teams working together seamlessly without 

ever needing to leave their homes, if desired or 
needed.

As we move more deeply into 2020, it will no 
doubt be a volatile year for many industries. The 
backdrop of the coronavirus outbreak will change 
how people will work together and even how they 
socialize. It has the potential of changing how 
consumers approach the home-buying and-
selling process. And beyond real estate, there will 
be a number of enterprises that adopt a virtual 
workplace — the way the global eXp family 
already works together. I can’t help but recall 
the phrase “necessity is the mother of invention” 
because  necessity was a driver for starting eXp 
back in 2009 and it is inspiring us to innovate 
how we do things now. As we emerge from his 
crisis, companies will want plans in place for 
installing a remote workforce while still having a 
sense of community, contribution and belonging.

I believe that our core values of Innovation and 
being Agile will take on more importance than 
ever during the next year. Additionally, our cloud-
based model, built by VirBELA, will be the new 
normal for how business is conducted as the 
need and desire to socially distance takes center 
stage.

To close, I am grateful to the entire eXp 
community for their dedication and commitment 
to making this virtual idea a reality and humbled 
by how far we’ve come. But, we still have a lot of 
runway left as we continue to serve our agents 
and customers, as well as revolutionize how 
other businesses and leaders adopt new and 
smarter ways of working.

Thank you for being on this journey with us so 
far. We still have a lot of important work ahead.

Sincerely,

Glenn Sanford
CEO & Chairman of the Board, eXp World Holdings, Inc.
Founder, eXp Realty 
Chief Strategy Officer, VirBELA

“

“

This past year,  we’ ve added 
a number of key members to 
various areas of the business 
and achieved quarterly GAAP 
profitability for the first time 
since being listed on Nasdaq.
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In the decade since eXp Realty launched into 
the trillion-dollar real estate sales space, the 
company’s meteoric rise has been nothing 
short of remarkable. While we marvel at 
the accomplishments we’ve made since 
our visionary first days, we see incredible 
opportunities ahead for not only the way our real 
estate business is conducted, but for ways we 
will seek to expand and amplify our company’s 
core mission as well. 

When this journey started back in 2009, founder 
Glenn Sanford identified a completely innovative 
way to pivot from a traditional brick-and-mortar 
enterprise to a new way of doing business: 
A virtual real estate brokerage. Rather than 
spending enormous capital on offices and staff, 
why not scale an online network that could 
cost-effectively connect and support this sort of 
dynamic brokerage? A laptop, mobile phone and 
internet connection were all eXp agents would 
ever need in order to conduct business from 
anywhere, anytime.

From this simple, logical and cost-saving idea, 
eXp World Holdings was created, becoming 
the parent company of its real estate cloud-
brokerage business, eXp Realty. In 2018, eXp 
acquired its virtual world technology platform, 

VirBELA, and added this key component to the 
company’s portfolio. Under one roof, these two 
companies are transforming not only the future 
of real estate, but other businesses as well.

eXp Highlights for 2019

Looking back on 2019, there are many notable 
accomplishments. To begin, eXp World Holdings 
recorded its most successful year on record 
as its companies, eXp Realty and VirBELA, 
experienced positive results on several fronts. 

First, eXp posted its first profitable quarter since 
being listed on Nasdaq in 2018, we expanded 
our businesses and partnerships, we solidified 
our leadership team and most importantly, we 
continued to attract and build our most valuable 
asset: our people, which includes our agents and 
staff. 

By adding nearly 10,000 new agents to eXp 
Realty in 2019, it deserves to be repeated: The 
switch by some of America’s best real estate 
agents from traditional brokerages to eXp 
Realty is nothing short of breathtaking. It is also 
affirmation that eXp Realty is onto something 
revolutionary. 

EXP WORLD HOLDINGS 
CELEBRATES A DECADE OF INCREDIBLE GROWTH 
AND INNOVATION WITH MANY BIG GOALS AHEAD
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“We can’t be more thrilled and humbled by this 
amazing synergy between eXp Realty and all 
the agents who have made a home here,” said 
Sanford. “We have proven that our business 
model works and it’s attracting many agents 
who want a better way to work and be financially 
successful.”

In the background of eXp’s extraordinary success 
is VirBELA, the platform that has been the single-
most important technology enabling eXp to 
scale. VirBELA continues to build features and 
functionality that support the #FutureofWork that 
is nothing less than profound, especially in the 
current environment as a result of COVID-19.

Thanks to VirBELA, business for eXp Realty and 
eXp World Holdings has not missed a beat. But 
perhaps more importantly, VirBELA’s technology 
is being adopted by tens of thousands of people 
worldwide, but especially so in the last few 
months as company teams and in some cases, 
whole companies, are shifting to this new way of 
working.  

VirBELA’s technology has been used for a 
number of large conferences including the 
largest virtual reality and extended reality event, 
Laval Virtual World, in their own campus.  We will 
certainly talk a lot more about this in next year’s 
recap for 2020, but none of this could be possible 
without investing in VirBELA.

Recapping 2019’s Accomplishments

While eXp posted impressive financial and 
growth numbers for 2019, the company also 
made tremendous headway in securing business 
partnerships, adding agent benefits and 
solidifying its management team.

Financial Results
Most notably, this is eXp World Holdings’ first 
profitable quarter since being listed on Nasdaq 
in 2018. For some quick and easily digestible 
numbers, in the fourth quarter of 2019, revenue 
increased 82% to $274 million, compared to 
$150 million in the fourth quarter of 2018. For 
the entirety of 2019, eXp posted record revenue 

of $980 million, which is an increase of 96% 
year-over-year from $500 million in 2018. These 
are incredible numbers and we are focused on 
delivering similar results in 2020.

Agent Growth
As many of you know, agents are the lifeblood of 
eXp Realty and it’s why eXp is laser-focused on 
its mission of being an agent success obsessed 
company. This mantra flows throughout eXp 
World and Workplace and is visible in everyone’s 
day-to-day mindset: Provide the best possible 
support, tools and solutions for agents and 
brokers because agents’ success is the 
foundation for the company’s overall success. 

As a result, we are pleased to report that agent 
growth on eXp Realty’s platform has increased 
63% year-over-year to 25,423 at the end of 2019, 
compared to 15,570 at the end of 2018. As of 
Feb. 29, 2020, the agent count was 27,460. 
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If you consider the company only had 467 agents 
at the end of 2014, the trajectory of this growth is 
impressive. 

The increase in the number of agents has 
also made a relative impact on the number 
of transactions and sales volume in 2019 for 
eXp Realty. Transaction sides increased 81% 
to 135,320, compared to 74,678 in 2018. And 
transaction volume increased 93% to $38.2 
billion, compared to $19.8 billion in 2018. 

“We also expect eXp Realty to continue to add 
agents at levels above what competing national 
brokerages are experiencing and anticipate 
increased adoption of our affiliated services 
businesses by eXp Realty agents as well as 
additional international expansion,” said eXp 
World Holdings CFO and Chief Collaboration 
Officer Jeff Whiteside. “We have a long runway 
ahead of revenue growth and profitability with the 
right team in place to meet those goals.”

International Expansion 
When eXp went international in 2012 and planted 
a flag in Canada to open for business, it took 
awhile for growth to happen. By the end of 2018, 
there were only 264 agents across Canada. 
Today, that number has ballooned to more 
than 1,000 agents in seven provinces. eXp also 
expanded beyond its North American borders 
and opened international operations in the United 
Kingdom and Australia in 2019. More countries 
are planned for eXp Realty operations this year. 

New Businesses and Partnerships 
eXp has made many strides in developing new 
businesses and creating additional partnerships 
in 2019. One of eXp’s biggest undertakings this 
past year was the launch of an iBuying program, 
Express Offers. This “instant” home-buying and 

selling platform is available to eXp Realty agents 
in the United States and their clients. Once eXp 
agents have been trained and certified through 
Express Offers’ certification program, they are 
free to transact business on the iBuying platform.  

eXp also launched the eXp Preferred Partner 
program, which gives eXp Realty agents and their 
clients an end-to-end marketplace solution for 
all of their home-buying and selling needs, such 
as mortgages, warranties, title services, moving 
services and more. While many agents may 
have vendors and services they already use, eXp 
Preferred Partners is simply an additional choice, 
but is especially geared for eXp agents who may 
not have support in place. 

VirBELA, eXp World Holdings’ technology 
company whose software created eXp World and 
produces next-generation remote collaboration, 
won new government contracts and released a 
new team-based product called Team Suites. 
These virtual collaboration spaces are private 
offices in the cloud and can be leased monthly. 
The 3D experience is more powerful than text 
chats and video calls and instills a sense of 
togetherness, community and presence.

Awards & Accolades 
Once again, the people of eXp have spoken and 
for the third straight year, eXp Realty has landed 
on Glassdoor’s popular Best Places to Work 
list. This time, the 2020 award puts eXp in the 
large business category, which is for companies 
with more than 1,000 employees. As another 
testament to the popularity of eXp, 88% of 
employees would recommend working at eXp 
Realty to a friend and eXp was ranked 4.6 out of 
five stars for its culture and values.

“We have an amazing staff who make our 
company culture great and enable us to fulfill 
our vision of transforming real estate,” said eXp 
Realty Senior Vice President of People, Mike Vein. 
“Our staff is empowered to make meaningful 
decisions and drive change, and I’m humbled by 
their work to help our agents succeed.”

Additionally, eXp landed in the top five of several 
categories of the elite 2020 REAL Trends 500 

“

“

We have a long runway ahead of 
revenue growth and profitability 
with the right team in place to 
meet those goals . 
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Report, which ranked transactions in 2019. eXp 
was the No. 1 mover in transactions, the No. 1 
independent in the country and No. 3 in closed 
transaction sides. 

And as a salute to our incredible leadership, eXp’s 
Glenn Sanford and eXp Realty CEO Jason Gesing 
were ranked No. 15 and No. 170, respectively, 
on the 2020 Swanepoel Power 200 ranking, 
which identifies the real estate industry’s most 
influential leaders from the previous year. Glenn 
jumped up from No. 32 in 2018 and Gesing made 
the list for the first time. 

Benefits 
Because affordable healthcare coverage 
continues to be an increasing concern among 
Americans and particularly those who are 
independent contractors such as real estate 
agents, eXp Realty rolled out eXp Agent 
Healthcare.

“We heard from our agents that finding affordable 
health care is a challenge that detracts from their 
peace of mind and growing their businesses, 
which is why we’re so pleased to roll out eXp 
Agent Healthcare,” said Gesing.

The plan has been overwhelmingly positive 
among eXp’s agent community, who have 
expressed relief to have innovative and low-cost 
choices for their health care as opposed to facing 

the open market, whose plans can be pricey and 
limited.

eXp agent Joe Sinnona of Long Beach, New 
York, opted into eXp Agent Healthcare and was 
able to cover his family of four for half the cost 
of his previous insurance. With the savings, he 
was able to add dental insurance. “I want to be 
a living testimony to every agent out there who 
is looking for good health insurance. (I have) the 
same doctors, same quality of care. I raised the 
deductible and I was able to get this affordable 
health insurance through eXp Realty.”

Culture 
As part of eXp’s continual effort to put forth a 
positive and welcoming workplace, the company 
introduced ONE eXp, which is an initiative to 
support career development, promote fair 
housing principles and provide networking 
opportunities that encourage cultural awareness. 
Some of ONE eXp groups include the Black 
Network, Asian, Latino, LGBTQ, Veterans, Seniors, 
Women and more to come.

Executive Staff 
Last year, eXp World Holdings fortified its 
executive staff with many key appointments in 
areas to help take the company to the next level.

To begin, eXp made a leadership shift at the top 
with Jason Gesing taking over as CEO of 
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eXp Realty from company founder Glenn Sanford, 
who remains CEO of the parent company, eXp 
World Holdings. Gesing has been with eXp for 
nearly its duration and focuses on brokerage 
growth. Sanford concentrates on developing eXp 
World Holdings’ expanding businesses.

Additionally, John Tobison, who has more than 30 
years of experience in business and information 
technology management, was named Chief 
Technology Officer. 

Jim Bramble was named General Counsel and 
will oversee the company’s legal and compliance 
affairs. 

Mitch Robinson was named eXp World Holdings’ 
first Chief Marketing Officer to lead and advise 
eXp Realty marketing and communications, while 
also focusing on other initiatives of eXp World 
Holdings.

Raymond “RJ” Jones, who has more than 20 
years of expertise in investor relations, finance, 
strategy, operations and communications from 
startup to mature companies across multiple 
industries, was named Executive Vice President, 
Finance and Growth, of eXp World Holdings.

Why eXp Is So Successful

It’s no secret that eXp Realty has experienced a 
dramatic rise in the real estate world, which has 
been met with wonder and curiosity. How does 
the first cloud-based brokerage in the world scale 
at such a rapid pace? Simply, because eXp puts 
agents first. Agent success obsessed is at the 
heart of how the company operates, which means 
every action, every thought, every procedure, 
every anything at eXp is met with: “How will the 
agent benefit?”

With that simple guidance, agents achieve much 
more financially and professionally. 

Financially, agents are compensated three ways: 
With a generous commission structure, a unique 
revenue sharing program and the opportunity to 
earn stock awards.

Professionally, eXp agents are given an incredible
support system with collaborative tools and 
technology so they can go to work everyday, 
knowing their rewards are much greater than a 
traditional brokerage and therefore, have a deeper 
commitment to the company and people they 
serve.

“Keeping costs down is important,” said Gesing 
of the commission and fee structure. “And with 
revenue sharing, in combination with stock, this 
enables agents to be secure in their future.”

Let’s look more closely at the three financial 
opportunities for eXp agents.

Commissions 
Unlike traditional brokerages where commissions 
are agreed upon depending on the agent’s 
experience or star power, most agents at eXp 
get the same commission structure: 80/20 with 
a $16,000 cap. The exception is for agents on 
a team in which the caps are half- and quarter-
caps.

That means for each real estate transaction 
within an agent’s anniversary year, 80% of the 
commission is kept by the agent and 20% goes to 
eXp until a cap of $16,000 is reached. After that, 
the agent keeps the entire commission for the 
duration of their anniversary year. 

And while eXp is a cloud brokerage, there are 
some administrative charges to make sure the 
transactions are handled from start to finish. 
For example, there is a transaction fee, risk 
management fee, and broker review fee. 

Revenue Share Plan 
Perhaps one of the most misunderstood benefits 
at eXp is revenue share. This is the second leg of 

“

“

Keeping costs down is important. . .
with revenue sharing,  in combination 
with stock ,  this enables agents to be 
secure in their future. 
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eXp’s financially beneficial tool for agents and is 
wildly popular. 

It works like this: When an eXp agent attracts 
another agent to join eXp, that means they 
sponsor that agent into the company. Once 
the new agent begins closing on transactions, 
the sponsor can receive a percentage of 
revenue share income from the sales activity 
of their sponsored agent. It is based on gross 
commission income (GCI), and is dynamically 
calculated each month. What’s important to note 
is that eXp pays that share — not the agent. 

This is a different concept than profit sharing, in 
which certain brokerages share company profits 
with agents, but only after all the bills are paid 
such as rent, insurance, utilities, staff salaries and 
other costly overhead charges. The difference 
between what other brokerages do in their profit 
share and what eXp does in revenue sharing is 
significant. At eXp, payouts are not dependent 
on the company making profits. Payout depends 
on the sponsored agent being productive and 
executing on transactions. 

What’s also important to note is that sponsoring 
agents keep earning revenue share income while 
the agent is productive with eXp Realty and until 
they reach the annual cap. 

Agents Can Be Shareholders 
Yes, that’s right. Agents can receive shares 
of stock in eXp World Holdings after reaching 
milestones. Owning stock in the company not 
only provides financial security, but it also gives 
agents a voice in the company and enhances 
their commitment in helping eXp succeed.

Agents do not need to personally invest their 
own money to buy the stock (Nasdaq: EXPI), 
but rather, it is earned or awarded after certain 
milestones are reached, including:

 z Closing their first transaction as an eXp agent

 z The close of a transaction by an agent they 
are sponsoring

 z Reaching ICON Agent status 

 z Reaching the annual cap

It’s not often that you hear of real estate 
companies where agents have as much voice, 
ownership or ability to earn revenue share income 
continuously, but eXp is proving it can happen. 

eXp’s Off ice Is in the Cloud

Imagine not having to go to the office to conduct 
business. Think of the time it would save. Then, 
imagine the cost savings of not having to pay for 
rent, equipment, signage, staff, utilities, insurance 
and more. All of this overhead — gone. All of this 
time — saved.

This is eXp - a brokerage that uses the best 
technology and smartest tools to conduct 
business online. Call it working remotely, or 
telecommuting, or working in the cloud — it’s all 
the same. To work in the cloud, eXp provides eXp 
agents and staff with two main online tools: eXp 
World and Workplace, which is basically Facebook 
for work.

eXp World is eXp’s virtual “online campus” and 
was created by VirBELA, eXp World Holdings’ 
technology company. eXp World — or, simply “the 
World,” as eXpers call it — has been described as 
a similar video experience like “The Sims.” 
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Here’s how it works:

Everyone has a personalized avatar, representing 
your likeness. Your avatar can move about 
eXp World’s large campus and interact with 
others. You talk to each other through your 
computer’s microphone, perhaps using a headset 
or earbuds. Within eXp World, there are virtual 
meeting rooms, an auditorium and offices such 
as accounting, human resources, brokerage 
operations, legal, tech support, brokerage 
operations, and more. It contains an entire office 
support system — just like real life — and has 
every kind of support an agent would need to 
conduct their real estate business. 

Workplace is a communications tool that eXp 
uses for the entire company to collaborate 
together across the globe. It’s an easy and 
friendly interface where eXp agents and staff 
can chat privately with each other, or post 
announcements or questions to Workplace 
groups. It is wildly popular and is a great 
resource for everyone to glean best practices, 
exchange information and get referrals.

Together, these two tools are at the center for 
how eXp agents and staff communicate and 
interact. It means everyone gets to work from 
wherever they want: their homes, a coffee shop 
or even from their car, watching their kids’ soccer 
game. This freedom means less commute 

times and more time to conduct business, more 
time with family and friends and more time for 
your personal needs. As a matter of fact, many 
agents are astounded to experience a richer 
collaborative and communicative experience in 
eXp’s online world than in real life.

eXp Realty’s Brett Sikora of Hoboken, New 
Jersey, says eXp’s tools and technology are used 
extensively by his team.

“We use Workplace a ton,” said Sikora. “We go to 
the Watercooler chat area and I’ll ask the group, 
‘What would you do in a situation like this?’ The 
collaboration is amazing.”

While eXp has revolutionized how real estate 
business is conducted, we see this as a model 
for how other businesses can thrive remotely, 
too. eXp’s business model could easily translate 
to other verticals such as insurance companies, 
financial services, legal services and others. 

As the world has been recently affected by the 
coronavirus, in which many companies cancelled 
conferences and ordered their staff to work from 
home, eXp was conducting business as usual. 
Our virtual world business model not only thrives 
and saves money, but it allows for much more 
collaboration than many realize. 

eXp’s online model can be easily scaled, as 
proven by its international expansion. eXp is 
currently operating its real estate business in the 
United States and Canada and in 2019, opened 
operations in the United Kingdom and Australia. 
Plans are in the works to add many other 
countries to our growing network. 

As you have just read from this exciting summary 
of eXp’s accelerating growth, eXp is not just the 
future of real estate. It is the model on which the 
future of other businesses will also scale entirely 
new levels of success. 

We are excited to lead this online transformation 
for real estate and other businesses as well.
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Revenue (in millions)

Adjusted EBITDA (in millions)
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Agent Count
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Transaction Volume (in billions)

Transaction Sides
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Gross Profit (in millions)

Gross Margin
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Cash Flow from Operations (in millions)

Ending Cash Balance (in millions)

15



16



UNITED STATES 
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 

Washington, D.C. 20549 

FORM 10-K 
[X] ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 

or 

[_] TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 

For the transition period from ________ to _________ 

Commission File Number: 001-38493 

EXP WORLD HOLDINGS, INC. 
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter) 

Delaware 98-0681092
(State or other jurisdiction (IRS Employer 

of incorporation) Identification No.) 

2219 Rimland Drive, Suite 301 

Bellingham, WA 98226 

(Address of principal executive offices and Zip Code) 

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (360) 685-4206 

Title of each class Trading Symbol Name of each exchanged on which registered 

Common Stock, par value $0.00001 per share EXPI NASDAQ 
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Yes [_]    No [X] 

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act. 
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Yes [X]    No [_] 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§ 
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Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company or an emerging growth 
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Act. 

    

Large accelerated filer [_] Accelerated filer [X] 
Non-accelerated filer [_] Smaller reporting company [X] 
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financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. [_] 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act). 

Yes [_]    No [X] 

The aggregate market value of the voting and nonvoting common equity held by non-affiliates of eXp World Holdings, Inc. was approximately $252,205,811 based on 
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

This Annual Report and our other public filings contain forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private 
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements give expectations or forecasts of future events. 
Forward-looking statements can be identified by words such as “believe,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” 
“project,” “plan,” “should,” “intend,” “may,” “will,” “would,” “potential” and similar expressions to future periods. 
Forward-looking statements are not based on historical facts but rather represent current expectations and assumptions. 
Forward-looking statements include statements we make about matters such as: future revenues; future industry market 
conditions; future changes in our capacity and operations; future operating and overhead costs; operational and 
management restructuring activities (including implementation of methodologies and changes in the board of directors); 
future employment and contributions of personnel; tax and interest rates; capital expenditures and their impact on us; 
productivity, business process, rationalization, investment, acquisition and acquisition integrations, consulting, 
operational, tax, financial and capital projects and initiatives; changes in the regulatory environment; and future 
working capital, costs, revenues, business opportunities, cash flows, margins, earnings and growth. 

Forward-looking statements relate to the future and are subject to many risks, assumptions and uncertainties, including 
those risks set forth in this report and as described in Part I, Item IA Risk Factors incorporated by reference. Although 
we believe the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, actual results, developments and 
business decisions could differ materially from those contemplated by such forward-looking statements. The 
environment for which we operate in is highly competitive and rapidly changing and it is not possible for our 
management to predict all risks, as new risks emerge from time to time. 

All subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements by or attributable to us or persons acting on our behalf are 
expressly qualified in their entirety by these factors. We undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any 
forward-looking statements whether as a result of new information, future developments or otherwise, except as may be 
required by law. 



PART I 

Item 1. BUSINESS 

eXp World Holdings, Inc. (“eXp”, or, collectively with its subsidiaries, the “Company”, “we”, “us”, or “our”) was 
incorporated in the State of Delaware on July 30, 2008 and initially focused on operating a real estate brokerage.  Today 
the Company owns and operates a cloud-based real estate brokerage and a technology platform business that enables a 
variety of businesses to operate remotely. Our real estate brokerage is now one of the largest and fastest growing in the 
United States by agent count, and recently began to expand internationally.  Our technology platform business develops 
and uses immersive technologies that enable and support virtual workplaces. This unique enabling platform helps 
businesses increase their effectiveness and reduce costs from operating in traditional “brick and mortar” office spaces.   

In our current state, almost the entirety of our revenue and profit or loss are generated by our cloud-based real estate 
brokerage and wholly-owned subsidiary, eXp Realty LLC (“eXp Realty”).  Because we do not have significant 
standalone contributions of revenue and profit or loss from our other businesses, we operate and manage the Company as 
one business unit.  In the future, we believe there is strong potential for multiple significant revenue and profit 
opportunities that may be organized into distinct business units in order to increase our management effectiveness. Over 
the long term, we envision owning and operating a diversified portfolio of service based businesses whose operations 
benefit substantially from utilizing our enabling technology platform. 

Within the Company today, we strategically prioritize our efforts to grow our real estate brokerage, develop immersive 
and cloud-based technology products and services, nurture affiliated services (and our Preferred Partner Program) related 
to real estate transactions, and strengthen and iterate on our enabling technology platform.  

We currently operate businesses in the following categories: 

Real Estate Brokerage - We launched eXp Realty in October 2009 with a small number of real estate agents in two states 
and ended the fiscal year 2019 with a team of over 25,400 real estate professionals, operating throughout the United 
States and most of the Canadian provinces. In the fourth quarter of 2019, we expanded operations in the United 
Kingdom (U.K.) and Australia. Except for certain employees who hold active real estate licenses, virtually all of our real 
estate professionals are independent contractors. 

Technology Products and Services – In November 2018, the Company completed its asset acquisition of VirBELA, 
LLC’s (“VirBELA”) core group of products and services.  The Company also launched eXp World Technologies, LLC, 
its innovation and technology division, which now holds the VirBELA brand.  VirBELA continues to offer a modern, 
cloud-based environment focused on education and team development with clients in various industries from 
government to retail. The unique virtual collaborative work environment from VirBELA provides service-based 
businesses with distinct advantages in managing costs, attracting talent, and scaling operations without the burden of 
“brick and mortar” office locations.  This technology provides eXp Realty with a primary source of differentiation and 
competitive advantage. 

Title, Escrow, and Settlement Services – During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company entered into an 
agreement with a third-party investment firm to form a joint venture to offer title, escrow and settlement services in the 
United States. The joint venture, Silverline Title & Escrow, LLC is 50% owned by eXp Silverline Ventures, LLC, an 
indirect subsidiary of eXp and 50% owned by the third-party business partner.  Operations in this area are currently in a 
nascent state. 

Mortgage Brokerage Services - During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company made capital contributions in 
consideration for at least a minimum 50% ownership interest in First Cloud Investment Group, LLC (“First Cloud”) with 
the remaining ownership interest held by certain of our independent agents and brokers. First Cloud was organized for 
the purpose of managing IntroLend First Cloud, LLC (“IntroLend First Cloud”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of 
the Company created to provide mortgage origination to end-consumers. The Company will always retain at least 50% 
of the outstanding equity ownership units in First Cloud.  Operations in this area are currently in a nascent state. 
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eXp Realty 

eXp Realty is a leading, rapidly growing, cloud-based international real estate brokerage company. We disrupt from 
within the traditional real estate markets in which we operate for the benefit of agents and brokers through innovation, 
use of cloud-based technology, and development of world-class agent and broker attraction and retention practices.  We 
generate revenue primarily by serving as a licensed broker for the purpose of processing residential real estate 
transactions, from which we earn commissions. The Company in turn pays a portion of the commissions earned to the 
real estate agents and brokers. 

Our mission is to deliver maximum value to our shareholders, agents, brokers and staff, while building an international 
brand as the leading cloud-based brokerage. Our cloud-based solutions provide primarily residential real estate agents 
and brokers the collaborative tools to seamlessly support and facilitate buying and selling activities by consumers 
throughout the home purchase process. Our model is designed to: 

• Provide the opportunity for homebuyers to successfully experience home ownership and for homeowners to
realize the best outcomes possible through the sale of their homes.  Our licensed agents and brokers primarily
use our proprietary cloud-based transaction processing and home search and tour tools to help homebuyers find,
visit and close on the house that meets their needs, and to help homeowners efficiently market and sell their
homes without the effort—and additional costs—associated with the typical home selling process.

• Provide a business opportunity for our agents and brokers.  We provide an entrepreneurial business
opportunity for individuals to aid in the purchase and sale of residential homes. Low entry fees as well as the
ability to select their own schedules and time commitments allow our agents and brokers to supplement their
income by starting their own independent businesses without leaving their current jobs, while also proving
opportunities for strong leaders to build their own agency teams and grow under our brokerage brand on a full-
time basis. Our compensation structure (fees and share-based), technology, sales support and back-office
processing are designed to enable agents and brokers to successfully grow their independent businesses without
the fixed costs inherent with a traditional brick-and-mortar brokerage.

• Provide stock ownership opportunities for our agents and brokers.  Through our agent equity programs, our
agents and brokers have a unique choice to attain a greater vested interest in eXp through the acceptance of
equity awards in the Company’s stock as part of their compensation packages. These programs allow successful
agents and brokers to become stakeholders in the brand they represent and align our goals across the
distribution network.

Brokerage Offices and Services in Our Virtual World 

We operate over the internet and rely on cloud-based technologies to provide our residential real estate brokerage 
services. Through various platforms, buyers search real-time property listings, and sellers list properties and gain 
exposure across the various geographic markets in which we operate. We also provide buyers and sellers access to a 
network of professional, consumer-centric agents and brokers. Additionally, we deliver marketing, training and other 
support services to our brokers and agents through a combination of proprietary technology enabled services, as well as 
technology and support services contracted to third parties. Our brokers and agents leverage our technology, services, 
data, lead generation and marketing tools to represent residential real estate buyers and sellers to list, find and 
consummate the purchase or sale of a home. 

Internally, we use our technology to provide agents, teams of agents, and brokerage owners with opportunities for 
increased profitability, reduced risk, and greater levels of professional development while fostering an organizational 
culture that values collaboration, strength of community, and commitment to serving the consumer’s best interests. We 
provide agents, teams of agents, and brokers with the systems, support, professional development and infrastructure to 
survive and then thrive in unpredictable and, at times, challenging economic conditions. This includes delivering 24/7 
access to collaborative tools and training for real estate agents and brokers. 
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We have adopted a number of cloud-based technologies. Among the technologies we use to operate our business, is our 
3D, fully-immersive, cloud office, which has virtual conference rooms, training centers, and individual offices in which 
our management, staff, agents and brokers all work on a daily basis learning from, sharing with, transacting business 
with, and socializing with colleagues from different geographic regions by utilizing avatars. In these virtual spaces 
agents and brokers meet for state-based sales meetings, attend live interactive trainings and classes, go over commission 
disbursement authorization forms, build websites and online branding materials, and work on purchase and sales 
agreements.  

Further, in these virtual spaces new managing brokers are evaluated and approved, our management meets to discuss 
strategy and vision, and personnel interviews are conducted. In addition, we have face-to-face meetings, conferences, 
presentations, retreats and other physical interactions where circumstances warrant.  

We also provide physical space to brokers and agents when required, primarily with third party providers of access to 
offices, workspace and meeting rooms at locations worldwide.  

Our cloud office has fully-staffed transaction and administration, web development, search engine optimization and 
technical support teams. Consequently, our cloud office serves as our primary company office for brokers, agents, 
management and staff and provides agents, teams of agents and brokers with a full suite of back office functions, live 
training, education, coaching and mentoring that places a premium on engagement, discussion and collaboration, 
transaction support, broker support, and technical support. The utilization of this cloud office platform permits us to 
more easily serve and extend our entire geographic reach. 

Furthermore, we allow our agents and brokers, some of whom are former real estate brokerage owners, to leverage our 
infrastructure to reduce their fixed costs and to be empowered to build scalable teams of agents in any of the markets that 
we serve while preserving and enhancing the agents and brokers’ personal brands. In this way our agents and brokers 
can attract agents and build a co-brand in any markets currently served by the Company without any additional capital 
requirements. 

Agent and Broker Training and Communication 

eXp Realty has held firm in its belief that each individual agent delivers value to individual home buyers and sellers in 
different ways depending upon the knowledge, skills or niche of the agent and the needs and wants of the consumer. 
Consumers work with agents because of their skills and service individually and generally place greater weight on those 
individual skill sets, service levels and style than they do on the brokerage brand with which the agent is affiliated. 

Numerous real estate coaches provide training and classes to brokerages on a vendor basis or to individual agents outside 
of their brokerage relationship in the most cost-effective way to strengthen their skills and help them succeed. The needs 
of individual agents vary as do the methods of instruction that are most effective for their learning. This approach aims 
to offer coaching that draws upon, highlights, promotes and supports some of the best coaches in the industry based upon 
their individual talents and the corresponding fit to the particular needs to our individual, entrepreneurial professionals. 

Fee Structure 

The lower overall cost of operating our cloud office has enabled us to offer our agents and brokers a higher split of the 
gross commissions generated from real estate transactions than most traditional real estate brokerages. This higher fee 
split along with our unique delivery of support services and the flexibility it provides for brokers and agents has 
facilitated our growth over the past several years. 

We also differentiate ourselves by not charging our agents and brokers royalties or franchise fees. Our agents pay a low 
monthly cloud brokerage fee and various transaction processing fees.  
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Revenue Sharing Plan 

Our cloud office has enabled us to introduce and maintain a revenue sharing plan whereby each of our agents and 
brokers can participate in and from which they can receive commission income resulting from transactions consummated 
by agents and brokers who they have attracted to our company, helping to contribute to our growth. 

Consistent with our commitment to enabling and empowering agents and brokers in pursuit of building a scalable 
business and organization, our revenue sharing plan allows brokers and agents a financial mechanism to build teams 
across geographic borders without incurring any expense, oversight responsibility, or liability. 

Our revenue sharing plan provides an opportunity where agents and brokers can potentially earn additional income while 
focusing on the growth of the eXp brokerage brand and their individual agencies.   

Customers 

Our clients are primarily residential homeowners and homebuyers in the markets in which we operate as serviced by our 
international network of independent agents and brokers.  These customers are sellers or purchasers of new or existing 
homes and engage us to aid in the facilitation of the closing of the real estate transaction, including, but not limited to, 
search, listing, application processing and other pre- and post-close support.  In the United States, over 10.4 million 
people moved into or out of an owner-occupied residence in 2018, according to data published by the U.S. Census 
Bureau.  

Based on current market information, sales of existing residential properties represent a large majority of home sales in 
the U.S. market. This provides our agents and brokers with greater opportunities to represent the buy or sell—and 
sometimes both—sides of a real estate transaction. In addition, we help our customers fulfill their needs by providing 
ancillary transaction related services. Our experienced agents and brokers are well suited to support these customers’ 
needs with a level of professionalism, knowledge and support as they endeavor on one of the largest transactions they 
will most likely experience. 

Real Estate Industry Overview 

We primarily operate in the U.S.  residential real estate market. Through our network of independent agents and brokers, 
we have brokerages in all 50 states in the U.S. residential real estate market, residential real estate markets in most of the 
Canadian provinces, and, to a lesser extent, in parts of the U.K. and Australia, where we launched operations in late 
2019. As our principal operating market, the U.S. residential real estate market for existing homes accounted for 
approximately $1.5 trillion in transaction volume with 5.3 million homes sold in 2019 based on data released by the 
National Association of Realtors in 2020. 

The overall health of the U.S. residential real estate market, including demand for homes, is driven largely by, among 
other factors, the inventory of existing homes, the affordability of housing, macroeconomic factors (e.g., U.S. Federal 
Reserve rates, unemployment rates, job growth, etc.), governmental policies (e.g., tax deduction and credits, regulatory 
initiatives, etc.), demographic trends (e.g., customer tastes and perceptions, buy versus rent preferences, income growth, 
marriage rates, etc.), mortgage rates and financing availability. Although the housing market in the U.S. is cyclical as 
evidenced most recently during the recession of the late 2000’s and subsequent recovery since 2012, we believe that the 
residential real estate market will continue to grow due to expected increases in the formation of new households and the 
relatively low interest rate environment incentivizing homebuying, as well as a robust level of homes available for 
purchase. 

Residential real estate brokerage companies typically realize revenues in the form of a commission based on a 
percentage of the price of each home purchased or sold, which can vary based on industry standards, geographical 
location, and specific customer-agent negotiations, among other factors. Therefore, variability in the commissions earned 
in the real estate industry exists based on general economic and market factors, as well as price and volume of homes 
sold. When home prices and the volume of home sale transactions increase (decrease), commissions generally will also 
increase (decrease). However, we are positioned to earn commissions on either—or both—of the buy side or sell side of 
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residential real estate transactions, as well as the ability to receive other fees for complimentary services provided during 
the close process.  

Competition 

We compete with local, regional, national and international residential real estate brokerages with respect to the sale of 
homes and to attract and retain agents, teams of agents, brokers and consumers—both home sellers and buyers. We 
compete primarily on the basis of our service, culture, collaboration, utilization of cloud-based systems and technologies 
that reduce costs, while providing relevant and substantial professional development opportunities for our agents and 
brokers with an opportunity to generate more business and participate in the growth of our company. 

We believe that we are the only national real estate brokerage presently using a 3D immersive office environment in 
place of physical brick and mortar offices. Additionally, this innovative operational structure coupled with our 
distribution model allows us to effectively enter new markets with speed and flexibility and without much of the 
investment and cost associated with establishing a traditional brokerage. We also believe our compensation and 
incentive programs to attract and retain highly productive agents is one of the most compelling in the industry. As such, 
we believe that we are well-positioned in our competitive landscape. 

Express Offers 

In October 2019, we launched Express Offers, a new home-buying and selling platform for U.S. eXp Realty agents and 
their clients. This gives homeowners another option to sell their home quickly without the hassle of showings, staging 
and uncertainty.  

Express Offers allows eXp Realty agents to submit homes on behalf of their clients to a number of institutional buyers 
who are interested in purchasing homes in a particular local market. For home sellers, their properties may qualify to be 
submitted to more than one buyer, yielding multiple cash offers.   

Unlike other “iBuyer” experiences, Express Offers ensures a real estate agent is part of the transaction to assist the 
homeowner. When a homeowner expresses interest in selling their home with Express Offers, they are matched with a 
certified eXp Realty agent and receive a thorough disclosure that walks them through every detail of the process. eXp 
agents earn a percentage of the transaction fee each time that a buyer successfully closes a deal.  We believe that we 
operate the most agent-centric and homeowner beneficial offering in the nascent “iBuyer” market segment. 

Software Development 

Our Company continues to increase our investment in the development of our own cloud-based transaction processing 
platforms and further expand our products and service offerings. We continue to create process efficiencies and provide 
our agents and brokers with mobile applications designed to facilitate transactions in an efficient and consumer friendly 
way.  To further expand our products and service offerings, we offer an on-demand, home tour mobile application that 
enables home shoppers to request immediate access to properties exclusively to eXp Realty agents in certain markets.   

Our operational model and growth strategies necessitate the internally-developed technologies used to support our 
operations now and in the future, as well as requires us to, at times, consider existing and emerging technology 
companies for acquisition, partnerships and other collaborative relationships. 

Intellectual Property 

Our cloud-based real estate brokerage is highly dependent on the proprietary technology that we employ and the 
intellectual property that we create. “eXp Realty” is one of our registered trademarks in the United States. We have also 
placed the marks “3D MLS”, “3D Listing Service” and “RE Tech Campus” on the United States Patent and Trademark 
Office’s Supplemental Register. We also own the rights to the domain names: http://exprealty.com, http://exprealty.ca, 
http://exp-uk.co.uk, and http://expaustralia.com.au. 
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While there can be no assurance that registered trademarks will protect our proprietary information, we intend to assert 
our intellectual property rights against any infringement. Although any assertion of our rights could result in a 
substantial cost and diversion of management effort, we believe the protection and defense against infringement of our 
intellectual property rights are essential to our business. 

Seasonality of Business 

Seasons and weather traditionally impact the real estate industry in the markets in which we operate.  Spring and 
summer seasons historically reflect greater sales periods, and, in turn, higher revenues and operating results in 
comparison to fall and winter seasons.   

Government Regulation 

We serve the residential real estate industry which is regulated by federal, state and local authorities as well as private 
associations or state sponsored associations or organizations. We are required to comply with federal, state, provincial, 
and local laws, as well as private governing bodies’ regulations, which combined results in a highly-regulated industry. 

We are also subject to federal, state, and provincial regulations relating to employment, contractor, and compensation 
practices. Except for certain employees who have an active real estate license, virtually all real estate professionals in 
our brokerage operations have been retained as independent contractors, either directly or indirectly through third-party 
entities formed by these independent contractors for their business purposes. With respect to these independent 
contractors, like most brokerage firms, we are subject to the Internal Revenue Service regulations and applicable state 
law guidelines regarding independent contractor classification. These regulations and guidelines are subject to judicial 
and agency interpretation. 

Real Estate Regulation - Federal 

The Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act of 1974, as amended, (“RESPA”) became effective on June 20, 1975. 
RESPA requires lenders, mortgage brokers, or servicers of home loans to provide borrowers with pertinent and timely 
disclosures regarding the nature and costs of the real estate settlement process. RESPA also protects borrowers against 
certain abusive practices, such as kickbacks, and places limitations upon the use of escrow accounts. RESPA also 
requires detailed disclosures concerning the transfer, sale, or assignment of mortgage servicing, as well as disclosures for 
mortgage escrow accounts. 

The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (“Dodd-Frank Act”) moved authority to administer 
RESPA from the Department of Housing and Urban Development to the new Consumer Financial Protection Bureau 
(“CFPB”). The Dodd-Frank Act increased regulation of the mortgage industry, including but not limited to: (i) generally 
prohibiting lenders from making residential mortgage loans unless a good faith determination is made of a borrower’s 
creditworthiness based on verified and documented information; (ii) enacting regulations to help assure that consumers 
are provided with timely and understandable information about residential mortgage loans and to protect consumers 
against unfair, deceptive and abusive practices; and (iii) establishing minimum national underwriting guidelines for 
residential mortgages that lenders will be allowed to securitize without retaining any of the loans’ default risk. In 
February 2018, the CFPB released a five-year strategic plan indicating that the CFPB intends to continue to focus on 
protecting consumer rights while engaging in rulemaking to address unwarranted regulatory burdens. Under the current 
strategic plan, the CFPB would (i) provide “clear rules of the road” through rulemaking and amendments; (ii) foster a 
“culture of compliance” among businesses; (iii) engage in “vigorous enforcement”; and (iv) educate consumers to make 
the best financial decisions.  Additionally, in a recent regulatory agenda, the CFPB indicated that it planned to review 
“inherited regulations” to ensure “outdated, unnecessary, or unduly burdensome regulations” are addressed and 
modernized. As a result, the regulatory framework of RESPA applicable to our business may be subject to change. In 
addition, federal fair housing laws generally make it illegal to discriminate against protected classes of individuals in 
housing or brokerage services. Other federal laws and regulations applicable to our business include (i) the Federal Truth 
in Lending Act of 1969; (ii) the Federal Equal Credit Opportunity; (iii) the Federal Fair Credit Reporting Act; (iv) the 
Fair Housing Act; (v) the Home Mortgage Disclosure Act; (vi) the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act; (vii) the Consumer 
Financial Protection Act; (viii) the Fair and Accurate Credit Transactions Act; (ix) the Telephone Consumer Protection 
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Act; and (x) state and federal laws pertaining to the privacy rights of consumers, which affects how we collect and use 
customer information, including solicitation of new clients. 

Real Estate Regulation - State and Local Level 
Real estate and brokerage licensing laws and requirements vary from state to state. In general, all individuals and entities 
lawfully conducting businesses as real estate brokers, agents or sales associates must be licensed in the state in which 
they carry on business and must at all times be in compliance. 

Certain jurisdictions may require a person licensed as a real estate agent, broker, sales associate or salesperson, to be 
affiliated with a brokerage in order to engage in licensed real estate brokerage activities or allow the agent, broker, sales 
associate or salesperson to work for the public, another agent or broker, sales associate or salesperson conducting 
business on behalf of the brokerage, sponsoring agent, broker, sales associate or salesperson.  

Engaging in the real estate brokerage business requires obtaining a real estate brokerage license.  In order to obtain this 
license, jurisdictions require that a member or manager be licensed individually as a real estate broker in that 
jurisdiction. This member or manager is responsible for supervising the licensees and the entity’s real estate brokerage 
activities within the state. 

Real estate licensees, whether they are brokers, salespersons, individuals, agents or entities, must follow the state’s real 
estate licensing laws and regulations. These laws and regulations generally specify minimum duties and obligations of 
these licensees to their clients and the public, as well as standards for the conduct of business, including contract and 
disclosure requirements, record keeping requirements, requirements for local offices, escrow trust fund management, 
agency representation, advertising regulations and fair housing requirements. 

In each of the states where we have operations, we assign appropriate personnel to manage and comply with applicable 
laws and regulations. 

Most states have local regulations (city or county government) that govern the conduct of the real estate brokerage 
business. Local regulations generally require additional disclosures by the parties to a real estate transaction or their 
agents or brokers, or the receipt of reports or certifications, often from the local governmental authority, prior to the 
closing or settlement of a real estate transaction as well as prescribed review and approval periods for documentation and 
broker conditions for review and approval. 

Third-Party Rules 

Beyond federal, state and local governmental regulations, the real estate industry is subject to rules established by private 
real estate groups and/or trade organizations, including, among others, state and local Associations of REALTORS® 
(“AOR”), the National Association of Realtors® (“NAR”), and local Multiple Listing Services (“MLSs”). “REALTOR” 
and “REALTORS” are registered trademarks of the National Association of REALTORS®. 

Each third-party organization generally has prescribed policies, bylaws, codes of ethics or conduct, and fees and 
rules governing the actions of members in dealings with other members, clients and the public, as well as how the third-
party organization’s brand and services may or may not be deployed or displayed. 

We assign appropriate personnel to manage and comply with third party organization policies and bylaws. 

Employees 

We ended fiscal year 2019 with 634 full-time employees. Our employees are not members of any labor union, and we 
have never experienced business interruptions due to labor disputes. 

Our operations are overseen directly by management. Our management oversees all responsibilities in the areas of 
corporate administration, business development, and research. We have successfully expanded our current management 
to retain skilled employees with experience relevant to our business and intend to continue with this initiative. Our 
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management’s relationships with agents, brokers, technology providers, and customers will provide the foundation 
through which we expect to grow our business in the future. We believe the skill-set of our management team will be a 
primary asset in the development of our brands and trademarks. 

Available Information 

Our Company files annual, quarterly, and current reports, proxy statements and other documents with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission (“SEC”) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). The 
SEC maintains an Internet website that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information 
regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC. The public can obtain any documents that we file with the SEC at 
www.sec.gov. 

Our Company maintains a website at www.expworldholdings.com. Our filings with the SEC, including without 
limitation, our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and 
amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, are available 
through a link maintained on our website under the heading “Investor Relations—SEC Filings.” Information contained 
on our website is not incorporated by reference into this report.  

Item 1A. RISK FACTORS 

In addition to the other information set forth in this report, you should carefully consider the following factors, which 
could materially affect our business, financial condition or results of operations in future periods. The risks described 
below are not the only risks facing our company. Additional risks not currently known to us or that we currently deem to 
be immaterial also may materially adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations in future 
periods. 

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry 

We have identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting which could, if not 
remediated, result in material misstatements in our financial statements. 

Our management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting based on the 
framework in “Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013)” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations 
of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”). Under auditing standards established by the U.S. Public Company Oversight 
Board, a material weakness is a deficiency or combination of deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting, 
such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements will 
not be prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis. 

During its evaluation of the effectiveness of disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2019, management 
identified material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting related to user access and program change-
management over information technology and business process controls that are dependent on affected information 
technology general controls and implementing key components of the COSO framework including information and  
communication, control activities and monitoring. 

See Part II, Item 9 – “Controls and Procedures.” 

While we are in the process of identifying and implementing remedial measures to address the control deficiencies that 
led to the material weaknesses, there can be no assurance that remedial measures will prevent other control deficiencies 
or material weaknesses. We may identify additional material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting 
in the future. If we are unable to remediate the material weaknesses or we identify additional material weaknesses in our 
internal control over financial reporting in the future, our ability to analyze, record and report financial information free 
of material misstatements, and to prepare our financial statements within the time periods specified by the rules and 
forms of the SEC may be adversely affected. The occurrence of, or failure to remediate, the material weaknesses and 
any 
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further material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting may result in material misstatements as well 
as negatively impact the reliability of our financial statements, our reputation, our business and the trading price of our 
common stock, potentially leading to the suspension of trading on or delisting of our common stock from the NASDAQ 
stock exchange. 

We have experienced net losses in recent years, and because we have a limited operating history, our ability to fully 
and successfully develop our business is unknown. 

We have a history of operating at losses since our inception in October 2009. Our ability to realize consistent, 
meaningful revenues and profit over a sustained period has not been established and cannot be assured. 

While we believe that we have made significant progress in revenue growth and managing our overhead by 
implementing our cloud-based technology strategy, our services must achieve broad market acceptance by consumers 
and we must continue to grow our geographical reach, attract more agents and brokers, and increase the volume of our 
residential real-estate transactions. If we are unsuccessful in continuing to gain market acceptance, we will not be able to 
generate sufficient revenue to continue our business operations and could sustain on-going operating and net losses. 

Despite our ongoing efforts to build revenue growth, both organically and through acquisitions, and to control the 
anticipated expenses associated with the continued development, marketing and provision of our services, we may not be 
able to generate significant net income from operations in the future. 

Our profitability is tied to the strength of the residential real estate market, which is subject to a number of general 
business and macroeconomic conditions beyond our control. 

Our profitability is closely related to the strength of the residential real estate market which is cyclical in nature and 
typically is affected by changes in national, state and local economic conditions which are beyond our control. 
Macroeconomic conditions that could adversely impact the growth of the real estate market and have a material adverse 
effect on our business include, but are not limited to, economic slowdown or recession, increased unemployment, 
increased energy costs, reductions in the availability of credit or higher interest rates, increased costs of obtaining 
mortgages, an increase in foreclosure activity, inflation, disruptions in capital markets, declines in the stock market, 
adverse tax policies or changes in other regulations, lower consumer confidence, lower wage and salary levels, war or 
terrorist attacks, natural disasters or adverse weather events, or the public perception that any of these events may occur. 
Unfavorable general economic conditions, such as a recession or economic slowdown, in the United States, Canada or 
other markets we enter and operate within could negatively affect the affordability of, and consumer demand for, our 
services which could have a material adverse effect on our business and profitability. In addition, federal and state 
governments, agencies and government-sponsored entities such as Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac could take actions that 
result in unforeseen consequences to the real estate market or that otherwise could negatively impact our business. 

The real estate market is substantially reliant on the monetary policies of the federal government and its agencies and is 
particularly affected by the policies of the Federal Reserve Board, which regulates the supply of money and credit in the 
U.S., which in turn impacts interest rates. Our business could be negatively impacted by any rising interest rate 
environment. As mortgage rates rise, the number of home sale transactions may decrease as potential home sellers 
choose to stay with their lower mortgage rate rather than sell their home and pay a higher mortgage rate with the 
purchase of another home. Similarly, in higher interest rate environments, potential home buyers may choose to rent 
rather than pay higher mortgage rates. Changes in the interest rate environment and mortgage market are beyond our 
control, are difficult to predict and could have a material adverse effect on our business and profitability.

We may be unable to maintain our agent growth rate, which would adversely affect our revenue growth and results of 
operations. 

We have experienced rapid and accelerating growth in our real estate broker and agent base. During the year ended 
December 31, 2019, our net agent and broker base grew by 63.3%, from 15,570 agents and brokers at December 31, 
2018, to 25,423 agents and brokers at December 31, 2019. Because we derive revenue from real estate transactions in 
which our brokers and agents receive commissions, increases in our agent and broker base correlate to increases in 
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revenues, and the rate of growth of our revenue correlates to the rate of growth of our agent and broker base. The rate of 
growth of our agent and broker base cannot be predicted and is subject to many factors outside of our control, including 
actions taken by our competitors and macroeconomic factors affecting the real estate industry generally. We cannot 
assure you that we will be able to maintain our recent agent growth rate or that our agent and broker base will continue 
to expand in future periods. A slowdown in our agent growth rate would have a material adverse effect on revenue 
growth and could adversely affect our results of operations. 

We may be unable to effectively manage rapid growth in our business. 

We may not be able to scale our business quickly enough to meet the growing needs of our affiliated real estate 
professionals and if we are not able to grow efficiently, our operating results could be harmed. As the Company adds 
new real estate professionals, we will need to devote additional financial and human resources to improving our internal 
systems, integrating with third-party systems, and maintaining infrastructure performance. In addition, we will need to 
appropriately scale our internal business systems and our services organization, including support of our affiliated real 
estate professionals as our demographics expand over time. Any failure of or delay in these efforts could cause impaired 
system performance and reduced real estate professional satisfaction. These issues could reduce the attractiveness of our 
Company to existing real estate professionals who might leave the Company as well as resulting in decreased attraction 
of new real estate professionals. Even if we are able to upgrade our systems and expand our staff, such expansion may be 
expensive, complex, and place increasing demands on our management. We could also face inefficiencies or operational 
failures as a result of our efforts to scale our infrastructure and we may not be successful in maintaining adequate 
financial and operating systems and controls as we expand. Moreover, there are inherent risks associated with upgrading, 
improving and expanding our information technology systems. We cannot be sure that the expansion and improvements 
to our infrastructure and systems will be fully or effectively implemented on a timely basis, if at all. These efforts may 
reduce revenue and our margins and adversely impact our financial results. 

If we fail to grow in the various local markets that we serve or are unsuccessful in identifying and pursuing new 
business opportunities our long-term prospects and profitability will be harmed. 

To capture and retain market share in the various local markets that we serve, we must compete successfully against 
other brokerages for agents and brokers and for the consumer relationships that they bring. Our competitors could lower 
the fees that they charge to agents and brokers or could raise the compensation structure for those agents. Our 
competitors may have access to greater financial resources than us, allowing them to undertake expensive local 
advertising or marketing efforts. In addition, our competitors may be able to leverage local relationships, referral 
sources, and strong local brand and name recognition that we have not established. Our competitors could, as a result, 
have greater leverage in attracting new and established agents in the market and in generating business among local 
consumers. Our ability to grow in the local markets that we serve will depend on our ability to compete with these local 
brokerages. 

We may implement changes to our business model and operations to improve revenues that cause a disproportionate 
increase in our expenses or reduce profit margins. For example, we may allocate resources to acquiring lower margin 
brokerage models, the development of a mortgage servicing division, a commercial real estate division, a title and 
escrow company or a continuing education division. Expanding our service offerings could involve significant up-front 
costs that may only be recovered after lengthy periods of time. Any of these attempts to pursue new business 
opportunities could result in a disproportionate increase in our expenses and in reduced profit margins. In addition, any 
of these additional activities could expose us to additional compliance obligations and regulatory risks. 

If we fail to continue to grow in the local markets we serve or if we fail to successfully identify and pursue new business 
opportunities, our long-term prospects, financial condition and results of operations may be harmed, and our stock price 
may decline. 
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The utilization of a 3D cloud based immersive office as a suitable substitute for a physical brick and mortar location 
is a new and unproven strategy and we cannot guarantee that we will be able to operate and grow within its confines. 

Currently, our cloud office adequately supports the needs of our agent population located across the markets we serve. 
We cannot guarantee that our cloud office platform will continue to support our agent population and meet our business 
needs as we grow. The effectiveness of our cloud office platform is tied to a number of variables at any given time 
including server capacity and concurrent users. In addition, the use of the cloud office platform, and the use generally of 
3D immersive office environments as an acceptable substitute among agents and brokers for physical office locations is 
unproven. We cannot guarantee that industry rank and file will adopt or accept cloud-based 3D office environments as a 
substitute for a physical office environment in a sustainable, long-term manner. 

We intend to evaluate acquisitions or investments in third-party technologies and businesses, but we may not realize 
the anticipated benefits from, and may have to pay substantial costs related to, any acquisitions, mergers, joint 
ventures, or investments that we undertake. 

As part of our business and growth strategy, we evaluate acquisitions of, or investments in, a wide array of potential 
strategic opportunities, including third-party technologies and businesses as well as other real estate brokerages. If we 
are not able to integrate acquisitions, or execute on joint venture strategies, successfully, our operating results and 
prospects could be harmed. Since 2018, we have acquired new technology and operations and entered into joint venture 
arrangements.  We will continue to look for opportunities to acquire technologies or operations that we believe will 
contribute to our growth and development. The success of our future acquisition strategy will depend on our ability to 
identify, negotiate, complete and integrate acquisitions. The success of our future joint venture strategies will depend on 
our ability to identify, negotiate, complete, and successfully manage joint ventures with other parties. In addition, 
acquisitions and joint ventures could cause potentially dilutive issuances of equity securities or incurrence of debt. 

Acquisitions and joint ventures are inherently risky, and any we complete may not be successful. Any acquisitions and 
joint ventures we pursue would involve numerous risks, including the following: 

• difficulties in integrating and managing the operations and technologies of the companies we acquire, including
higher than expected integration costs and longer integration periods;

• diversion of our management’s attention from normal daily operations of our business;
• our inability to maintain the customers, key employees, key business relationships and reputations of the

businesses we acquire;
• our inability to generate sufficient revenue or business efficiencies from acquisitions or joint ventures to offset

our increased expenses associated with acquisitions or joint ventures;
• our responsibility for the liabilities of the businesses we acquire or gain ownership in through joint ventures,

including, without limitation, liabilities arising out of their failure to maintain effective data security, data
integrity, disaster recovery and privacy controls prior to the acquisition, or their infringement or alleged
infringement of third party intellectual property, contract or data access rights prior to the acquisition;

• difficulties in complying with new markets or regulatory standards to which we were not previously subject;
• delays in our ability to implement internal standards, controls, procedures and policies in the businesses we

acquire or gain ownership in through joint ventures and increased risk that our internal controls will be
ineffective;

• operations in a nascent state depend directly on utilization by eXp Realty agents and brokers;
• adverse effects of acquisition and joint venture activity on the key performance indicators we use to monitor our

performance as a business; and
• inability to fully realize intangible assets recognized through acquisitions or joint ventures and related non-cash

impairment charges that may result if we are required to revalue such intangible assets.

Our failure to address these risks or any other challenges we encounter with our future acquisitions, joint ventures and 
investments could cause us to not realize all or any of the anticipated benefits of such acquisitions or investments, incur 
unanticipated liabilities, and harm our business, which could negatively impact our operating results and financial 
condition. 
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We face significant risk to our brand and revenue if we fail to maintain compliance with the law and regulations of 
federal, state, county and foreign governmental authorities, or private associations and governing boards. 

We operate in a heavily regulated industry subject to complex, federal, state, provincial and local laws and regulations 
within the markets in which we operate and third-party organizations’ regulations, policies and bylaws governing the 
real estate business. 

In general, the laws, rules and regulations that apply to our business practices include, without limitation, RESPA. the 
federal Fair Housing Act, the Dodd-Frank Act, and federal advertising and other laws, as well as comparable state 
statutes; rules of trade organizations such as NAR, local MLSs, and state and local AORs; licensing requirements and 
related obligations that could arise from our business practices relating to the provision of services other than real estate 
brokerage services; privacy regulations relating to our use of personal information collected from the registered users of 
our websites; laws relating to the use and publication of information through the Internet; and state real estate brokerage 
licensing requirements, as well as statutory due diligence, disclosure, record keeping and standard-of-care obligations 
relating to these licenses. 

Additionally, the Dodd-Frank Act contains the Mortgage Reform and Anti-Predatory Lending Act (“Mortgage Act”) , 
which imposes a number of additional requirements on lenders and servicers of residential mortgage loans, by amending 
certain existing provisions and adding new sections to RESPA and other federal laws. It also broadly prohibits unfair, 
deceptive or abusive acts or practices, and knowingly or recklessly providing substantial assistance to a covered person 
in violation of that prohibition. The penalties for noncompliance with these laws are also significantly increased by the 
Mortgage Act, which could lead to an increase in lawsuits against mortgage lenders and servicers. 

As we expand our business into new markets, including the United Kingdom and Australia, we are subject to additional 
foreign governmental regulation. Ensuring compliance with these newly applicable laws could substantially increase our 
operating expenses. In addition, entry into these new markets exposes us to increased risk and liability. For example, the 
European Union’s General Data Protection Regulation (“GDPR”)  confers significant privacy rights on individuals 
(including employees and independent agents) , and materially increased penalties for violations. A violation of any of 
these applicable laws could have a material adverse effect on our business. 

Maintaining legal compliance is challenging and increases our costs due to resources required to continually monitor 
business practices for compliance with applicable laws, rules and regulations, and to monitor changes in the applicable 
laws themselves. 

We may not become aware of all the laws, rules and regulations that govern our business, or be able to comply with all 
of them, given the rate of regulatory changes, ambiguities in regulations, contradictions in regulations between 
jurisdictions, and the difficulties in achieving both company-wide and region-specific knowledge and compliance. 

If we fail, or we have alleged to have failed, to comply with any existing or future applicable laws, rules and regulations, 
we could be subject to lawsuits and administrative complaints and proceedings, as well as criminal proceedings. Our 
noncompliance could result in significant defense costs, settlement costs, damages and penalties. 

Our business licenses could be suspended or revoked, our business practices enjoined, or we could be required to modify 
our business practices, which could materially impair, or even prevent, our ability to conduct all or any portion of our 
business. Any such events could also damage our reputation and impair our ability to attract and service home buyers, 
home sellers and agents, as well our ability to attract brokerages, brokers, teams of agents and agents to our company, 
without increasing our costs. 

Further, if we lose our ability to obtain and maintain all of the regulatory approvals and licenses necessary to conduct 
business as we currently operate, our ability to conduct business may be harmed. Lastly, any lobbying or related 
activities we undertake in response to mitigate liability of current or new regulations could substantially increase our 
operating expenses. 
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We may suffer significant financial harm and loss of reputation if we do not comply, cannot comply, or are alleged to 
have not complied with applicable laws, rules and regulations concerning our classification and compensation 
practices for the agents in our owned-and-operated brokerage. 

Except for our employed state brokers and commission only employees, all real estate professionals in our brokerage 
operations have been retained as independent contractors, either directly or indirectly through third-party entities formed 
by these independent contractors for their business purposes. With respect to these independent contractors, like most 
brokerage firms, we are subject to the taxing authorities’ regulations and applicable laws regarding independent 
contractor classification. These regulations and guidelines are subject to judicial and agency interpretation, and it might 
be determined that the independent contractor classification is inapplicable to any of our affiliated real estate 
professionals. Further, if legal standards for classification of real estate professionals as independent contractors change 
or appear to be changing, it may be necessary to modify our compensation and benefits structure for our affiliated real 
estate professionals in some or all of our markets, including by paying additional compensation or reimbursing expenses. 

In the future we could incur substantial costs, penalties and damages, including back pay, unpaid benefits, taxes, expense 
reimbursement and attorneys’ fees, in defending future challenges by our affiliated real estate professionals to our 
employment classification or compensation practices. 

Our international operations are subject to risks not generally experienced by our U.S. operations. 

In addition to operating in Canada, in 2019 we expanded our business into Australia and the United Kingdom. Our 
international operations are subject to risks not generally experienced by our U.S. operations. The risks involved in our 
international operations and relationships that could result in losses against which we are not insured and therefore affect 
our profitability include: 

• fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates;
• exposure to local economic conditions and local laws and regulations;
• employment laws that are significantly different that U.S. laws;
• diminished ability to legally enforce our contractual rights and use of our trademarks in foreign countries;
• difficulties in registering, protecting or preserving trade names and trademarks in foreign countries;
• restrictions on the ability to obtain or retain licenses required for operations;
• withholding and other taxes on third party cross-border transactions as well as remittances and other

payments by subsidiaries;
• onerous requirements, subject to broad interpretation, for indirect taxes and income taxes that can result in

audits with potentially significant financial outcomes;
• changes in foreign taxation structures;
• compliance with the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, the U.K. Bribery Act or similar laws of other countries;
• uncertainties and effects of the implementation of the United Kingdom’s referendum to withdraw

membership from the European Union (referred to as Brexit), including financial, legal and tax
implications; and

• regional and country specific data protection and privacy laws including the GDPR.

In addition, activities of agents and brokers outside of the U.S. are more difficult and more expensive to monitor and 
improper activities or mismanagement may be more difficult to detect. Negligent or improper activities involving our 
agents and brokers may result in reputational damage to us and may lead to direct claims against us based on theories of 
vicarious liability, negligence, joint operations and joint employer liability which, if determined adversely, could 
increase costs, negatively impact the business prospects of our franchisees and subject us to incremental liability for their 
actions. 



If we do not remain an innovative leader in the real estate industry, we may not be able to grow our business and 
leverage our costs to achieve profitability. 

Innovation has been critical to our ability to compete against other brokerages for clients and agents. For example, we 
have pioneered the utilization of a 3D immersive online office environment in the real estate market which reduces our 
need for office space and facilitates the transaction of business away from an office. If competitors follow our practices 
or develop innovative practices, our ability to achieve profitability may diminish or erode. For example, certain other 
brokerages could develop or license cloud-based office platforms that are equal to or superior to ours. If we do not 
remain on the forefront of innovation, we may not be able to achieve or sustain profitability. 

The market for Internet products and services including, without limitation, 3D immersive experiences, virtual reality 
and augmented reality is characterized by rapid technological developments, evolving industry standards and consumer 
demands, and frequent new product introductions and enhancements. The Company’s future success will depend in 
significant part on its ability to continually improve the performance, features and reliability of its Internet-based virtual 
environment, its tools and other properties in response to both evolving demands of the marketplace and competitive 
product offerings, and there can be no assurance that the Company will be successful in doing so. In addition, the 
widespread adoption of new virtual reality and augmented reality applications through new technology developments 
could require fundamental changes in the Company’s services. 

Our value proposition for agents and brokers includes allowing them to participate in the revenues of our company 
and is not typical in the real estate industry. If agents and brokers do not understand our value proposition we may 
not be able to attract, retain and incentivize agents. 

Participation in our gross revenue sharing plan represents a key component of our agent and broker value proposition. 
Agents and brokers may not understand or appreciate its value. In addition, agents may not appreciate other components 
of our value proposition including the cloud office platform, the mobility it affords, the systems and tools that we 
provide to agents and brokers, and the professional development opportunities we create and deliver. If agents and 
brokers do not understand the elements of our agent value proposition, or do not perceive it to be more valuable than the 
models used by most competitors, we may not be able to attract, retain and incentivize new and existing agents and 
brokers to grow our revenues. 

We offer our independent agents the opportunity to earn a portion of their commissions through our revenue share 
program which pays under a multi-tiered compensation structure similar in some respects to network 
marketing.  Network marketing is subject to intense government scrutiny, and regulation and changes in the law, or 
the interpretation and enforcement of the law, might adversely affect our business.     

Various laws and regulations in the United States and other countries regulate network marketing. These laws and 
regulations exist at many levels of government in many different forms, including statutes, rules, regulations, judicial 
decisions, and administrative orders. Network marketing regulations are inherently fact-based and often do not include 
"bright line" rules. Additionally, we are subject to the risk that the regulations, or a regulator's interpretation and 
enforcement of the regulations, could change. From time to time, we have received requests to supply information 
regarding our revenue share plan to regulatory agencies. We could potentially in the future be required to modify our 
revenue sharing plan in certain jurisdictions in order to comply with the interpretation of the regulations by local 
authorities. 

In the United States, the Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”)  has entered into several highly publicized settlements with 
network marketing companies that required those companies to modify their compensation plans and business models. 
Those settlements resulted from actions brought by the FTC involving a variety of alleged violations of consumer 
protection laws, including misleading earnings representations by the companies' independent distributors, as well as the 
legal validity of the companies' business model and distributor compensation plans. FTC determinations such as these 
have created an ambiguity regarding the proper interpretation of the law and regulations applicable to network marketing 
companies in the U.S. Although a consent decree between the FTC and a specific company does not represent judicial 
precedent, FTC officials have indicated that the network marketing industry should look to these consent decrees, and 
the principles contained therein, for guidance. Additionally, following the issuance of these consent decrees, the FTC 
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issued non-binding guidance to the network marketing industry, suggesting it was intending to reinforce the principles 
contained in the consent decrees and provide other operational guidance to the network marketing industry. 

While we strive to ensure that our overall business model, and revenue share plan, are regulatory compliant in each of 
our markets, we cannot assure you that a regulator, if it were to review our business, would agree with our assessment 
and would not require us to change one or more aspects of our operations. Any action against us in the future by the FTC 
or another regulator could materially and adversely affect our operations. 

We cannot predict the nature of any future law, regulation, or guidance, nor can we predict what effect additional 
governmental regulations, judicial decisions, or administrative orders, when and if promulgated, would have on our 
business. Failure by us, or our independent agents, to comply with these laws, could adversely affect our business. 

We may be unable to attract and retain additional qualified personnel. 

To execute our business strategy, we must attract and retain highly qualified personnel. In particular, we compete with 
many other real estate brokerages for qualified brokers who manage our operations in each state. We must also compete 
with technology companies for developers with high levels of experience in designing, developing and managing cloud-
based software, as well as for skilled service and operations professionals, and we may not be successful in attracting 
and retaining the professionals we need. Additionally, in order to realize the potential benefits of acquisitions, we may 
need to retain employees from the acquired businesses or hire additional personnel to fully capitalize on the 
opportunities that such acquisitions may offer, and we may not be successful in retaining or attracting such individuals 
following an acquisition. From time to time in the past we have experienced, and we expect to continue to experience in 
the future, difficulty in hiring and difficulty in retaining highly skilled employees with appropriate qualifications. Many 
of the companies with which we compete for experienced personnel have greater resources than we do. In addition, in 
making employment decisions, particularly in the software industry, job candidates often consider the value of the stock 
options or other equity incentives they are to receive in connection with their employment. If the price of our stock 
declines, or continues to experience significant volatility, our ability to attract or retain key employees may be adversely 
affected. If we fail to attract new personnel or fail to retain and motivate our current personnel, our growth prospects 
could be severely harmed. 

Our operating results are subject to seasonality and vary significantly among quarters during each calendar year, 
making meaningful comparisons of successive quarters difficult. 

Seasons and weather traditionally impact the real estate industry. Continuous poor weather or natural disasters 
negatively impact listings and sales. Spring and summer seasons historically reflect greater sales periods in comparison 
to fall and winter seasons. We have historically experienced lower revenues during the fall and winter seasons, as well as 
during periods of unseasonable weather, which reduces our operating income, net income, operating margins and cash 
flow. 

Real estate listings precede sales and a period of poor listings activity will negatively impact revenue. Past performance 
in similar seasons or during similar weather events can provide no assurance of future or current performance, and 
macroeconomic shifts in the markets we serve can conceal the impact of poor weather or seasonality. 

Home sales in successive quarters can fluctuate widely due to a wide variety of factors, including holidays, national or 
international emergencies, the school year calendar’s impact on timing of family relocations, interest rate changes, 
speculation of pending interest rate changes and the overall macroeconomic market. Our revenue and operating margins 
each quarter will remain subject to seasonal fluctuations, poor weather and natural disasters and macroeconomic market 
changes that may make it difficult to compare or analyze our financial performance effectively across successive 
quarters. 
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If we fail to protect the privacy of employees, independent contractors, or consumers or personal information that 
they share with us, our reputation and business could be significantly harmed. 

Hundreds of thousands of consumers, independent contractors, and employees have shared personal information with us 
during the normal course of our business processing real estate transactions. This includes, but is not limited to, social 
security numbers, annual income amounts and sources, consumer names, addresses, telephone and cell phone numbers, 
and email addresses. 

The Application, disclosure and safeguarding of this information is regulated by federal and state privacy laws. To 
comply with privacy laws, we invested resources and adopted a privacy policy outlining policies and procedures for the 
use of safeguarding personal information. This policy includes informing consumers, independent contractors and 
employees that we will not share their personal information with third parties without their consent unless required by 
law. 

Privacy policies and compliance with federal and state privacy laws presents risk and we could incur legal liability for 
failing to maintain compliance. We may not become aware of all privacy laws, changes to privacy laws, or third- party 
privacy regulations governing the real estate business or be unable to comply with all of these regulations, given the rate 
of regulatory changes, ambiguities in regulations, contradictions in regulations between jurisdictions, and the difficulties 
in achieving both company-wide and region-specific knowledge and compliance. 

Our policy and safeguards could be deemed insufficient if third parties with whom we have shared personal information 
fail to protect the privacy of that information. Our legal liability could include significant defense costs, settlement costs, 
damages and penalties, plus, damage our reputation with consumers, which could significantly damage our ability to 
attract customers. Any or all of these consequences would result in meaningful unfavorable impact on our brand, 
business model, revenue, expenses, income and margins. 

Our business could be adversely affected if we are unable to expand, maintain and improve the systems and 
technologies which we rely on to operate. 

As the number of agents and brokers in our company grows, our success will depend on our ability to expand, maintain 
and improve the technology that supports our business operations, including, but not limited to, our cloud office 
platform. Loss of key personnel or the lack of adequate staffing with the requisite expertise and training could impede 
our efforts in this regard. If our systems and technologies lack capacity or quality sufficient to service agents and their 
clients, then the number of agents who wish to use our products could decrease, the level of client service and 
transaction volume afforded by our systems could suffer, and our costs could increase. In addition, if our systems, 
procedures or controls are not adequate to provide reliable, accurate and timely financial and other reporting, we may not 
be able to satisfy regulatory scrutiny or contractual obligations with third parties and may suffer a loss of reputation. Any 
of these events could negatively affect our financial position. 

Our business, financial condition and reputation may be substantially harmed by security breaches, interruptions, 
delays and failures in our systems and operations. 

The performance and reliability of our systems and operations are critical to our reputation and ability to attract agents, 
teams of agents and brokers into our company as well as our ability to service home buyers and sellers. Our systems and 
operations are vulnerable to security breaches, interruption or malfunction due to certain events beyond our control, 
including natural disasters, such as earthquakes, fire and flood, power loss, telecommunication failures, break-ins, 
sabotage, computer viruses, intentional acts of vandalism and similar events. In addition, we rely on third party vendors 
to provide the cloud office platform and to provide additional systems and related support. If we cannot continue to 
retain these services on acceptable terms, our access to these systems and services could be interrupted. Any security 
breach, interruption, delay or failure in our systems and operations could substantially reduce the transaction volume that 
can be processed with our systems, impair quality of service, increase costs, prompt litigation and other consumer 
claims, and damage our reputation, any of which could substantially harm our financial condition. 
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Loss of our current executive officers or other key management could significantly harm our business. 

We depend on the industry experience and talent of our current executives. We believe that our future results will 
depend in part upon our ability to retain and attract highly skilled and qualified management. The loss of our executive 
officers could have a material adverse effect on our operations because other officers may not have the experience and 
expertise to readily replace these individuals. To the extent that one or more of our top executives or other key 
management personnel depart from the Company, our operations and business prospects may be adversely affected. In 
addition, changes in executives and key personnel could be disruptive to our business. The Company does not have any 
key person insurance. 

Failure to protect intellectual property rights could adversely affect our business. 

Our intellectual property rights, including existing and future trademarks, trade secrets, patents and copyrights, are 
important assets of the business. We have taken measures to protect our intellectual property, but these measures may 
not be sufficient or effective. We may bring lawsuits to protect against the potential infringement of our intellectual 
property rights and other companies, including our competitors, could make claims against us alleging our infringement 
of their intellectual property rights. There can be no assurance that we would prevail in such lawsuits. Any significant 
impairment of our intellectual property rights could harm our business. 

Cybersecurity incidents could disrupt our business operations, result in the loss of critical and confidential 
information, adversely impact our reputation and harm our business. 

Cybersecurity threats and incidents directed at us could range from uncoordinated individual attempts to gain 
unauthorized access to information technology systems to sophisticated and targeted measures aimed at disrupting 
business or gathering personal data of customers. In the ordinary course of our business, we and our agents and brokers 
collect and store sensitive data, including proprietary business information and personal information about our 
customers. Our business, and particularly our cloud-based platform, is reliant on the uninterrupted functioning of our 
information technology systems. The secure processing, maintenance, and transmission of information are critical to our 
operations, especially the processing and closing of real estate transactions. Although we employ measures designed to 
prevent, detect, address, and mitigate these threats (including access controls, data encryption, vulnerability assessments, 
and maintenance of backup and protective systems) , cybersecurity incidents, depending on their nature and scope, could 
potentially result in the misappropriation, destruction, corruption, or unavailability of critical data and confidential or 
proprietary information (our own or that of third parties, including potentially sensitive personally information of our 
customers)  and the disruption of business operations. Any such compromises to our security could cause harm to our 
reputation, which could cause customers to lose trust and confidence in us, or could cause agents and brokers to stop 
working for us. In addition, we may incur significant costs for remediation that may include liability for stolen assets or 
information, repair of system damage, and compensation to customers and business partners. We may also be subject to 
legal claims, government investigation, and additional state and federal statutory requirements. 

The potential consequences of a material cybersecurity incident include regulatory violations of applicable U.S. and 
foreign privacy and other laws, reputational damage, loss of market value, litigation with third parties (which could 
result in our exposure to material civil or criminal liability) , diminution in the value of the services we provide to our 
customers, and increased cybersecurity protection and remediation costs (that may include liability for stolen assets or 
information) , which in turn could have a material adverse effect on our competitiveness and results of operations. 

If we fail to protect the privacy and personal information of our customers, agents or employees, we may be subject to 
legal claims, government action and damage to our reputation. 

To run our business, it is essential for us to store and transmit sensitive personal information about our customers, 
prospects, employees, and independent agents in our systems and networks. At the same time, we are subject to 
numerous laws, regulations, and other requirements that require businesses like ours to protect the security of personal 
information, notify customers and other individuals about our privacy practices, and limit the use, disclosure, or transfer 
of personal data across country borders. Regulators in the U.S. and abroad continue to enact comprehensive new laws or 
legislative reforms imposing significant privacy and cybersecurity restrictions. The result is that we are subject to 
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increased regulatory scrutiny, additional contractual requirements from corporate customers, and heightened compliance 
costs. These ongoing changes to privacy and cybersecurity laws also may make it more difficult for us to operate our 
business and may have a material adverse effect on our operations. For example, the European Union’s GDPR conferred 
new and significant privacy rights on individuals (including employees and independent agents) , and materially 
increased penalties for violations. In the U.S., California enacted the California Consumer Privacy Act—which is 
expected to go into full effect in 2020—imposing new and comprehensive requirements on organizations that collect and 
disclose personal information about California residents. In March 2017, the New York Department of Financial 
Services’ cybersecurity regulation went into effect, requiring regulated financial institutions to establish a detailed 
cybersecurity program. Program requirements included corporate governance, incident planning, data management, 
system testing, vendor oversight, and regulator notification rules. Now, other state regulatory agencies are expected to 
enact similar requirements following the adoption of the Insurance Data Security Model Law by the National 
Association of Insurance Commissioners that is consistent with the New York regulation.  

Any significant violations of privacy and cybersecurity could result in the loss of new or existing business, litigation, 
regulatory investigations, the payment of fines, damages, and penalties and damage to our reputation, which could have 
a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations. 

We could also be adversely affected if legislation or regulations are expanded to require changes in our business 
practices or if governing jurisdictions interpret or implement their legislation or regulations in ways that negatively 
affect our business, results of operations or financial condition. 

In addition, while we disclose our information collection and dissemination practices in a published privacy statement on 
our websites, which we may modify from time to time, we may be subject to legal claims, government action and 
damage to our reputation if we act or are perceived to be acting inconsistently with the terms of our privacy statement, 
customer expectations or state, national and international regulations. 

The occurrence of a significant claim in excess of our insurance coverage in any given period could have a material 
adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations during the period. In the event we or the vendors with 
which we contract to provide services on behalf of our customers were to suffer a breach of personal information, our 
customers and independent agents could terminate their business with us. Further, we may be subject to claims to the 
extent individual employees or independent contractors breach or fail to adhere to Company policies and practices and 
such actions jeopardize any personal information. 

In addition, concern among potential home buyers or sellers about our privacy practices could result in regulatory 
investigations, especially in the European Union as related to the GDPR. Additionally, concern among potential home 
buyers or sellers could keep them from using our services or require us to incur significant expense to alter our business 
practices or educate them about how we use personal information. 

We are subject to certain risks related to litigation filed by or against us, and adverse results may harm our business 
and financial condition. 

We are subject to risk of, and are from time to time involved in, or may in the future be subject to, claims, suits, 
government investigations, and proceedings arising from our business, including actions with respect to intellectual 
property, privacy, information security, data protection or law enforcement matters, tax matters, labor and employment, 
including claims challenging the classification of our agents and brokers as independent contractors and compliance with 
wage and hour regulations, and claims alleging violations of RESPA or state consumer fraud statutes, and commercial 
arrangements. We are also subject to risk related to shareholder derivative actions, standard brokerage disputes like the 
failure to disclose hidden defects in a property such as mold, vicarious liability based upon conduct of individuals or 
entities outside of our control, including our agents, brokers, third-party service or product providers, and purported class 
action lawsuits. 
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We cannot predict with certainty the cost of defense, the cost of prosecution, insurance coverage or the ultimate outcome 
of litigation and other proceedings filed by or against us, including remedies or damage awards. Adverse results in such 
litigation and other proceedings may harm our business and financial condition. Class action lawsuits can often be 
particularly burdensome given the breadth of claims, large potential damages and significant costs of defense. In the case 
of intellectual property litigation and proceedings, adverse outcomes could include the cancellation, invalidation or other 
loss of material intellectual property rights used in our business and injunctions prohibiting our use of business processes 
or technology that is subject to third party patents or other third party intellectual property rights. In addition, we may be 
required to enter into licensing agreements (if available on acceptable terms) and be required to pay royalties. 

From time to time, we may become involved in lawsuits and legal proceedings which arise in the ordinary course of 
business. At present, we are not involved in any material pending legal proceeding, and there are no proceedings in 
which any of our directors, officers or affiliates is an adverse party or has a material interest adverse to our interest. 

Risk Related to Our Stock 

Glenn Sanford, our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, together with Penny Sanford, a significant shareholder, 
own a significant percentage of our stock, and as a result, the trading price for our shares may be depressed and they 
can take actions that may be adverse to the interests of our stockholders. 

Glenn Sanford beneficially owns approximately 35% of our outstanding common stock as of December 31, 2019. Penny 
Sanford beneficially owns approximately 25% of our outstanding common stock as of December 31, 2019. In 
December 2017 Mr. Sanford and Ms. Sanford filed a Schedule 13D with the Securities and Exchange Commission 
(“SEC”) indicating that they had entered into an agreement to vote their shares as a group with respect to the election of 
directors and any other matter on which our shares of common stock are entitled to vote. This significant concentration 
of share ownership may adversely affect the trading price for our common stock because investors may perceive 
disadvantages in owning stock in companies with a controlling stockholder group. The group can significantly influence 
all matters requiring approval by our stockholders, including the election and removal of directors and any proposed 
merger, consolidation or sale of all or substantially all of our assets. In addition, due to his significant ownership stake 
and his service as our Principal Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board and Directors, Mr. Sanford controls the 
management of our business and affairs. This concentration of ownership could have the effect of delaying, deferring or 
preventing a change in control, or impeding a merger or consolidation, takeover or other business combination that could 
be favorable to our other stockholders. 

Because we can issue additional shares of common stock, our stockholders may experience dilution in the future. 

We are authorized to issue up to 220,000,000 shares of common stock, of which approximately 66.2 million shares were 
issued, and 65.2 million shares were outstanding as of December 31, 2019. Our board of directors has the authority to 
cause us to issue additional shares of common stock without consent of any of our stockholders. Consequently, the 
stockholders may experience more dilution in their ownership of our stock in the future. 

The stock price of our common stock has been and likely will continue to be volatile and may decline in value 
regardless of our performance. 

The market price for our common stock could fluctuate significantly for various reasons, many of which are outside our 
control, including those described above and the following: 

• our operating and financial performance and prospects;
• future sales of substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market, including but not limited to

shares we may issue as consideration for acquisitions or investments;
• housing and mortgage finance markets;
• our quarterly or annual earnings or those of other companies in our industry;
• the public’s reaction to our press releases, other public announcements and filings with the SEC;
• changes in recommendations or analysis of our prospects by securities analysts who track our common stock;
• market and industry perception of our success, or lack thereof, in pursuing our growth strategy;
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• strategic actions by us or our competitors, such as acquisitions or restructurings;
• actual or potential changes in laws, regulations and regulatory interpretations, including as a result of the 2017

Tax Act;
• changes in interest rates;
• changes in demographics relating to housing such as household formation or other consumer preferences

toward home ownership;
• changes in accounting standards, policies, guidance, interpretations or principles;
• arrival and departure of key personnel;
• adverse resolution of new or pending litigation or regulatory proceedings against us; and
• changes in general market, economic and political conditions in the United States and global economies.

In addition, the stock markets have experienced periods of high price and volume fluctuations that have affected and 
continue to affect the market prices of the equity securities of many companies, including technology companies and real 
estate brokerages. Such price fluctuations can be unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of those 
companies. In the past, stockholders have instituted securities class action litigation following periods of market 
volatility. If we were to become involved in securities litigation, it could subject us to substantial costs, divert resources 
and the attention of management from our business, and harm our business. 

Because we do not intend to pay any cash dividends on our shares of common stock in the near future, our 
stockholders will not be able to receive a return on their shares unless they sell them. 

We intend to retain any future earnings to finance the development and expansion of our business. We do not anticipate 
paying any cash dividends on our common stock in the near future. The declaration, payment and amount of any future 
dividends will be made at the discretion of the board of directors, and will depend upon, among other things, the results 
of operations, cash flows and financial condition, operating and capital requirements, and other factors as the board of 
directors considers relevant. There is no assurance that future dividends will be paid, and if dividends are paid, there is 
no assurance with respect to the amount of any such dividend. Unless we pay dividends, our stockholders will not be 
able to receive a return on their shares unless they sell them. 

Delaware law and our organizational documents may impede or discourage a takeover, which could deprive our 
investors of the opportunity to receive a premium for their shares. 

We are a Delaware corporation, and the anti-takeover provisions of Delaware law impose various impediments to the 
ability of a third party to acquire control of us, even if a change of control would be beneficial to our existing 
stockholders. In addition, provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated 
bylaws may make it more difficult for, or prevent a third party from, acquiring control of us without the approval of our 
Board of Directors. Among other things, these provisions: 

• do not permit cumulative voting in the election of directors, which would otherwise allow less than a majority
of stockholders to elect director candidates;

• delegate the sole power to a majority of the Board of Directors to fix the number of directors;
• provide the power to our Board of Directors to fill any vacancy on our Board of Directors, whether such

vacancy occurs as a result of an increase in the number of directors or otherwise;
• eliminate the ability of stockholders to call special meetings of stockholders; and
• establish advance notice requirements for nominations for election to our Board of Directors or for proposing

matters that can be acted on by stockholders at stockholder meetings.

The foregoing factors could impede a merger, takeover or other business combination or discourage a potential investor 
from making a tender offer for our common stock which, under certain circumstances, could reduce the market value of 
our common stock and our investors’ ability to realize any potential change-in-control premium. 



Item 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS 

Not applicable. 

Item 2. PROPERTIES 

Our principal corporate office is located at 2219 Rimland Drive, Suite 301 in Bellingham, Washington where we lease 
an office space that expires on December 31, 2020. We also lease small office spaces in a number of regions in which 
we operate, in order to comply with regulatory and licensing requirements within those jurisdictions and, in certain 
instances, to provide office space to our managing brokers and drop-in space for our agents. In some of these instances, 
the managing brokers are financially responsible for a significant portion of the rental expense associated with a leased 
office space. We generally do not provide office space for the agents other than for drop-in service. We do not own any 
real property. We believe that leased facilities are adequate to meet current needs and that additional facilities will be 
available for lease to meet future needs. 

Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

From time to time, we are involved in ordinary routine litigation incidental to the conduct of our business, including 
matters that may be certified as class or collective actions.  Additional information is described under “Legal 
proceedings” in Note 15 – Commitments and Contingencies to our Consolidated Financial Statements included 
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and such information is incorporated herein by reference. 

There are no legal proceedings pending or, to our knowledge, threatened that we believe could have a material adverse 
impact on our business, reputation, results of operations or financial condition. 

Item 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES 

Not applicable. 

PART II 

Item 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND 
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES 

Market Information 

Our common stock is quoted on the NASDAQ Global Market operated by NASDAQ, Inc. under the trading symbol 
“EXPI”. As of February 20, 2020, there are 65,619,860 issued and outstanding shares of our common stock held by a 
total of approximately 17,900 stockholders of record. 

Trading in our common stock quoted on the NASDAQ Global Market is often thin and is characterized by wide 
fluctuations in trading prices due to many factors, some of which may have little to do with our company’s operations or 
business prospects. We cannot assure you that there will be a market for our common stock in the future. 
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Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers 

The following table provides information about repurchases of our common stock through the quarter ended December 
31, 2019: 

(a) (b) (c) (d) 

Period 
Total number of 
shares purchased 

Average price paid 
per share 

Total number of 
shares purchased 
as part of publicly 
announced plans 
or programs (1) 

Approximate 
dollar value of 

shares that may 
yet be purchased 

under the plans or 
programs 

10/1/19-10/31/19  384,423  8.52  384,423  4,013,293 
11/1/19-11/30/19  289,163  9.84  289,163  1,159,526 
12/1/19-12/31/19  284,106  11.56  284,106  47,867,875 
Total  957,692 $  9.97  957,692 

(1) On December 27, 2018 the Company announced that our board of directors approved a stock repurchase
program authorizing us to purchase up to $25 million of our common stock.  The repurchase program began on
January 2, 2019. On November 26, 2019, the Company announced the approval to increase the authorization
limits of the Company’s stock repurchase program by its Board of Directors (the “Board”). The Board agreed to
extend the stock repurchase program through the fourth quarter of 2020 and increase the authorization for the
stock repurchase program from $25 million to $75 million of the Company’s common stock. The stock
repurchase program is more fully disclosed in Note 12, Stockholders’ Equity, to our Consolidated Financial
Statements.  As of December 31, 2019, we repurchased an aggregate of 2,743,637 shares of our common stock
in the open market pursuant to our share repurchase program.

Item 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA 

The following table summarizes our consolidated financial data, which has been derived from the Consolidated 
Financial Statements for each of the five years in the period ended December 31, 2019.    The selected consolidated 
financial data presented below should be read in conjunction with our annual consolidated financial statements and 



42 

accompanying notes and "Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" 
included elsewhere in this report. 

    

Year Ended December 31, 
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 

Statement of 
Operations Data: 
Revenue $  979,937,241 $  500,147,681   $  156,104,544 $  53,555,725 $  22,464,306 
Total expenses  988,715,325  522,532,196  178,136,198  60,927,558  24,320,560 
Operating loss  (8,778,084)   (22,384,515)   (22,031,654)   (7,371,833)   (1,856,254) 
Other expense 
(income)  281,555  (31,959)   2,077  355  1,104 
Income tax expense   496,981  77,800  97,234  42,528  103,069 
Net loss  (9,556,620)   (22,430,356)   (22,130,965)   (7,414,716)   (1,960,427) 
Net loss attributable 
to noncontrolling 
interest in 
subsidiary  28,906 (a)  29,801 (g)   21,526 
Net loss attributable 
common 
shareholders of eXp 
World Holdings, 
Inc.  (9,527,714)   (22,430,356)   (22,130,965)   (7,384,915)   (1,938,901) 

Net loss per share 
Basic  (0.15)   (0.39)   (0.42)   (0.14)   (0.04) 
Diluted  (0.15)   (0.39)   (0.42)   (0.14)   (0.04) 

Weighted average 
shares outstanding 

Basic  62,585,555  57,689,920  53,194,928  51,081,949  49,409,266 
Diluted  62,585,555  57,689,920  53,194,928  51,081,949  49,409,266 

Year Ended December 31, 

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 

Operating 
Statistics 
Brokerage 
Services 
Close homesale 
sides (d)  135,322  74,678  25,299  8,560  3,812 
Homesales volume 
(e) $  38,215,997,704 $  19,844,237,031 $  6,083,479,207 $  1,994,624,240 $  887,225,758 
Average homesale 
price (f) $  282,407 $  265,731 $  240,463 $  233,017 $  232,745 

As of December 31, 

Balance Sheet 
Data: 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 

Cash and cash 
equivalents  40,087,372  20,538,057  4,672,034  1,684,608  571,814 
Total assets   96,452,379 (b)  55,846,028 (b)  14,637,131  6,104,047  1,256,716 
Total liabilities (c)  44,324,500  25,866,399  10,376,460  3,577,021  664,210 
Equity  52,127,879  29,979,629  4,260,671  2,527,026  592,506 



(a) As of December 2019, the Company entered into an agreement with First Cloud Investment Group, LLC and was
determined to be the primary beneficiary. The Company consolidates First Cloud Investment Group, LLC and
records a noncontrolling interest for the portion of equity not attributable to the Company.

(b) Total assets include $10,607,800 of the acquired identifiable assets and goodwill resulting from the acquisition of
substantially all of the assets of VirBELA.

(c) Includes the long-term portion of future deliveries of the Company’s common stock valued at $832,946, calculated
using a discount rate of 10% as consideration paid resulting from the acquisition of substantially all of the assets of
VirBELA.

(d) Represents homesales sides on either the “buy” side or the “sell” side of a homesales transaction.

(e) Represents the volume of closed homesales transactions.

(f) Represents the average selling price of closed homesales transactions. The Company calculates the average selling
price by dividing the volume of closed homesale transactions by the number of closed homesale transactions.

(g) As of December 31, 2016, the Company acquired previously outstanding noncontrolling interest in First Cloud
Mortgage, Inc., resulting in a 100% interest. Upon obtaining 100% interest, the Company inactivated First Cloud
Mortgage, Inc.

Homesale units and volume are used as key metrics to determine the Company’s growth and profitability. We compare 
this data to competitors and historical data to measure business strategies and enhance business practices.  

Item 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITIONS AND RESULTS 
OF OPERATIONS 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (“MD&A”)  is intended to 
inform the reader about matters affecting the financial condition and results of operations of eXp World Holdings, Inc. 
(the “Holding Company”)  and its subsidiaries (collectively, “we,” “us”, “our” or the “Company”)  for the two-year period 
ended December 31, 2019. The following discussion should be read together with our consolidated financial statements 
and related notes included elsewhere within this report. The Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Conditions and Results of Operations contain forward-looking statements. Our actual results could differ materially from 
those anticipated in these forward-looking statements. See “Forward-Looking Statements” and “Item 1A. – Risk 
Factors” included elsewhere within this Annual Report on Form 10-K for a discussion of certain risks, uncertainties and 
assumptions associated with these statements. 

OVERVIEW 

MARKET CONDITIONS AND INDUSTRY TRENDS 

Our business is dependent on the economic conditions within the markets for which we operate.  Changes in the 
economy can have a positive or negative impact on our business.  The economic conditions influencing the housing 
markets primarily include economic growth, interest rates, unemployment, consumer confidence, mortgage availability 
and supply and demand. 

In periods of economic growth, demand typically increases resulting in increasing home sale prices.  Similarly, a decline 
in economic growth generally decreases demand.  Increasing interest rates and decreasing consumer confidence also 
generally decreases demand.  Additionally, regulations imposed by local, state and federal government agencies, and 
geopolitical instability, can also negatively impact the housing markets for which we operate. 
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According to the National Association of Realtors Summit in December 2019, home buyers continue to be sensitive to 
interest rates given the higher cost of homes.  Throughout 2019, homes sales increased as interest rates decreased.  Also 
throughout 2019, home ownership has continued to increase.  Economists have forecasted that interest rates will stay 
below 4% in fiscal 2020.  Homebuyer demand has increased substantially because of the low interest rate environment.  
Buyers are still faced with low inventory and a competitive market, particularly for entry level and mid-market buyers.  
With intensified competition, home prices will continue to increase, however this is offset by favorable interest rates.  

As of December 31, 2019, we believe that these factors are generally favorable. However, significant changes to one or 
more of these drivers could cause the demand for housing to slow, negatively affecting all real estate brokerage firms, 
including eXp Realty. 

Regardless of whether the housing market continues to grow or slows, the Company is positioned to leverage its low-
cost, high-engagement model, affording agents and brokers increased income and ownership opportunities while 
offering a scalable solution to brokerage owners looking to survive and thrive in a series of fluctuations in economic 
activity. 

Home Inventory 

According to National Association of Realtors (NAR) , the inventory of existing homes for sale in the U.S. was 1.6 
million as of January 2019 and decreased to 1.4 million at the end of December 2019 (preliminary) .  As a result, 
inventory has decreased from 3.9 average months of supply as of January 2019 to 3.0 average months’ supply as of 
December 2019 (preliminary) .   

Mortgage Rates 

According to the Federal Housing Finance Agency, mortgage rates on commitments for 30-year, conventional, fixed-rate 
mortgages averaged 3.9% for 2019 compared to 4.5% for 2018. Mortgage rates reached a high of 4.5% in January 2019.  
Mortgage rates are forecasted to decrease to 3.8% for 2020 and increase to 4.1% in 2021. To the extent mortgage rates 
increase, consumers have financing alternatives such as adjustable rate mortgages or shorter-term mortgages which can 
be utilized to obtain a mortgage rate that is lower than a 30-year fixed-rate mortgage.  

Housing Affordability Index 

Also, according to the NAR, the composite housing affordability index increased to 163.8 for November 2019 
(preliminary)  from 153.9 for January 2019. The housing affordability index continues to be at historically favorable 
levels. When the index is above 100, it indicates that a family earning the median income has sufficient income to 
purchase a median-priced home, assuming a 20 percent down payment and ability to qualify for a mortgage.  The 
favorable housing affordability index is due in part to favorable mortgage rate conditions and low overall 
unemployment.  

Home Sales Transactions 

According to the NAR, existing home sale transactions for December 2019 (preliminary)  increased to 5.5 million 
compared to 4.9 million for January 2019.  During 2019, eXp Realty settled home sales units was 135,322 resulting in 
sales volume of $38.2 billion.   Our home sale transactions growth was directly related to the growth of our agent base, 
which increased 63.3% in 2019. 

Existing Home Sales Price 

Existing home sales average price for December 2019 (preliminary)  was $274,500 compared to $249,300 in January 
2019  During this same period, eXp Realty homes sales price averaged $289,849 in December 2019 compared to 
$266,059 in January 2019. 
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Continued Accelerated Growth 

Our strength is attracting real estate agent and broker professionals that have contributed to our growth.  As of December 
31, 2019, we have grown our agent and broker base 63.3% to 25,423 agents and brokers compared to 15,570 as of the 
December 31, 2018. 

The following table sets forth the number of transactions, sales volume and commission revenue earned on real estate 
transactions: 

Year Ended Year Ended Change 
December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018 

Number Volume Revenue Number Volume Revenue Number Volume Revenues 
 135,322  $ 38,215,997,704  $ 979,937,241  74,678  $ 19,844,237,031  $ 500,147,681  60,644  $ 18,371,760,673  $ 479,789,560 

We continue to increase our presence in the United States and Canada through the execution of our growth strategies.  
And in the fourth quarter of 2019, we expanded operations to the United Kingdom and Australia. The rate of growth of 
our agent and broker base is difficult to predict and is subject to many factors outside of our control, including actions 
taken by our competitors and macroeconomic factors affecting the real estate industry in general. We can provide no 
assurance that the Company will be able to maintain our agent growth rate or that our agent and broker base will 
continue to increase in future periods. 

Agent Ownership 

The Company maintains an equity incentive program whereby agents and brokers of eXp Realty can become eligible for 
awards of the Company’s common stock through the achievement of production and agent attraction benchmarks. Under 
our equity incentive program, agents and brokers who qualify are issued shares of the Company’s common stock. 

The Company also administers a program whereby agents and brokers can establish a direct ownership interest in the 
Company as a shareholder. Agents and brokers can elect to receive 5% of their commission payable in the form of 
Company common stock which is issued at a 20% discount to market on the date of issuance. In 2019, approximately 
9,600 eXp Realty agents and brokers took advantage of this program resulting in the issuance of 3,801,603 shares of 
common stock. This agent equity program continues to be another element in creating a culture of agent-ownership. 

RECENT BUSINESS DEVELOPMENTS 

Real Estate Brokerage Initiatives 

Global Real Estate Cloud Brokerage 

The Company announced its first international expansions outside of North America into Australia and the U.K. This is 
part of the Company’s initiative to operate as a Global Real Estate Cloud Brokerage. We look forward to our cloud 
campus being populated by real estate professionals from around the globe as they conduct business, collaborate with 
each other and develop meaningful personal and professional relationships across borders and cultures. In addition to 
these new countries, the Company continues to also focus on growth in the United States. We continue to expand in 
Canada, with recent openings in Saskatchewan, Newfoundland and Labrador, Quebec, and future openings planned in 
Novia Scotia throughout the rest of 2020. 

Agent and Employee Experience 

The Company has embarked on an initiative to better understand both its agents and employee experience. In doing so, 
we have adopted many of the principles of the Net Promoter Score® (NPS) across many aspects of our organization.  
NPS is a measure of customer satisfaction and is measured on a scale between -100 and 100.  A NPS above 50 is 
considered excellent.  Whether it be the overall question "How likely are you to recommend eXp to your colleagues, 
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friends or family?" or more granular inquiries as to specific workflows or service offerings, we believe this will ensure 
we are delivering on the most important values to our agents and employees. In turn, this often leads to enthusiastic fans 
of eXp who will promote our Company and continue leading us through strong organic growth. 

This also ties into one of our core values, transparency. While we strive for high satisfaction, a low or trending lower 
NPS is equally important to identify. The Company’s fourth quarter cumulative agent NPS was 64. As NPS scores are 
often leading indicators to agents and employees’ future actions, we are able to learn quickly what may be a ‘pain point’ 
or product that is not meeting its desired objective. We then take that information and translate it into action with an 
effort to remediate the specific root cause(s) driving the lower score. This fast and iterative approach has already led to 
improvements in such parts of our business such as agent onboarding, commission transaction processing, and employee 
benefits.  

Agile at Scale 

The Company continues to focus and refine its efforts on our engagement strategy to build a positive employee 
experience to advance creativity, productivity and service quality to retain top performing talent with the overall goal of 
growing and improving overall profitability. We have been and will continue to form more and more smaller functional 
teams across the entire organization. This allows for faster identification of challenges and opportunities, autonomy and 
decision making, and execution affecting our agents and employees. This is tied together by ensuring all teams are 
aligned and working towards outcomes consistent with our vision, goals, and key results. 

Equity 

Our agent compensation plans represent a key lever in our strategy to attract and retain independent agents and brokers. 
The costs attributable to these plans are also a significant component of our commission structure and results of 
operations. Prior to 2020, we issued share-based compensation to our agents and brokers at a 20% discount, which will 
change to a 10% discount for issuances beginning in January 2020. Our operational strategy and the importance of the 
agent compensation plans to it have not changed, but the financial impact of the change in discount is expected to have a 
meaningful effect on our results of operations going forward.  Our stock repurchase program and agent growth incentive 
program are more fully disclosed in Note 12 – Stockholders’ Equity, of the Notes to the Condensed Consolidated 
Financial Statements. 

Technology Products and Services 

We continue developing the core VirBELA software platform and its underlying infrastructure to accommodate for the 
ever-increasing use and scale required to support our eXp Realty division. Also, we recently released a new product 
centered on the concept of an open campus whereby small and independent organizations may utilize sub spaces as part 
of a larger campus similar to collaborative environments that currently exist in the physical brick and mortar world. 
Lastly, we expect to continue to service existing and new business-to-business enterprise level contracts in the coming 
year.  
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Affiliated Services 

Recent acquisitions and partnerships have allowed us to begin offering to customers more products and services 
complimentary to our real estate brokerage business. These affiliated services include mortgage origination, title, escrow 
and settlement services, which we can now provide as a more inclusive offering in addition to our brokerage services. 
We anticipate continued growth and investment in these service offerings in 2020; however, actual performance will 
depend directly on utilization by eXp Realty agents and brokers. 

Results of Operations 

Year ended December 31, 2019 vs. Year ended December 31, 2018 

    

 Year End 
Percenta

ge of Year End 
Percenta

ge of Change 

December 31, 
2019 Revenue     

December 31, 
2018 Revenue  Dollar 

 Percenta
ge 

Statement of Operations Data: 
Revenue 

$  979,937,241 100.0 % $ 500,147,681  100.0 % $ 

479,789,56

0  95.9 % 

Expenses: 

Commission and other agent-related costs 

 895,881,750  91.4 459,715,836  91.9 

436,165,91

4  94.9 

General and administrative 

 89,035,059  9.1  59,854,742  12.0 29,180,317  48.8 

Sales and marketing  3,798,516  0.4  2,961,618  0.6  836,898  28.3 

Total expenses 

 988,715,325 100.9 522,532,196  104.5 

466,183,12

9  89.2 

Operating loss 

 (8,778,084)   (0.9)   (22,384,515)   (4.5)  13,606,431  60.8 

Other expense (income) 

Other expense (income), net  247,311  0.0  (31,959)   —  279,270  873.8 

Equity in (earnings) losses of unconsolidated affiliates  34,244  0.0  —  —  34,244  100.0 

Total other expense (income), net  281,555  0.0  (31,959)   —  313,514  (981.0)  

Loss before income tax expense 

 (9,059,639)   (0.9)   (22,352,556)   (4.5)  13,292,917  59.5 

Income tax expense  496,981  0.1  77,800  0.0  419,181  538.8 

Net loss 

$  (9,556,620)   (1.0) 

% 

 $  (22,430,356)   (4.5) 

% 

  $ 12,873,736  57.4 % 

Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest   (28,906)   (0.0)   —  —  (28,906)   100.0 

Net loss attributable to common shareholders of eXp World 

Holdings, Inc.  (9,527,714)   (1.0)   (22,430,356)   (4.5)  12,902,642  57.5 

Adjusted EBITDA (1) 

$  12,650,107  1.3 

% 

$  2,409,857  0.48 

% 

$ 10,240,250  424.9 % 

Net loss per share 

Basic $  (0.15)  $  (0.39)  $  0.24  61.5 % 

Diluted $  (0.15)  $  (0.39)  $  0.24  61.5 % 

Weighted average shares outstanding 

Basic  62,585,555  57,689,920 

Diluted  62,585,555  57,689,920 



(1) Adjusted EBITDA is not a measurement of our financial performance under U.S. GAAP and should not be considered as an 
alternative to net income, operating income or any other measures derived in accordance with U.S. GAAP.  For a definition of 
Adjusted EBITDA and a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net income, see “Non-U.S. GAAP Financial Measure.”

Revenue 

Our total revenues were $979.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared to $500.1 million for the same 
period in 2018, an increase of $479.8 million, or 95.9%.  Total revenues increased primarily as a result of an increase in 
real estate brokerage commissions, which is directly related to our increase in agent count of 63.3% compared to the 
same period in 2018.  

Commission and Other Agent Related Costs 

Commission and other agent-related costs were $895.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared to 
$459.7 million for the same period in 2018, an increase of $436.2 million, or 94.9%.  Commission and other agent 
related costs include sales commissions paid and are reduced by agent related fees. Commission and other agent related 
costs increased primarily as a result of an increase in settled real estate transactions and growth in our agent base. 

General and Administrative Expense 

General and administrative expenses were $89.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared to $59.9 
million for the same period in 2018, an increase of $29.2 million or 48.8%. General and administrative expenses include 
costs related to wages, including stock compensation, and other general overhead expenses. General and administrative 
expenses increased primarily as a result of an increase of $24.3 million in compensation related expenses including 
salaries, contract labor, employee benefits, and payroll taxes and processing. These increases are a direct result of the 
Company’s increase in employee and agent count. Employees increased from 354 in 2018 to 634 in 2019, an increase of 
79%. The Company’s agent base increased by 63.3%. Additionally, $3.2 million of the increase in general and 
administrative expenses is related to professional fees including accounting, legal, and other consulting. These increases 
are directly related to the Company’s continued revenue growth, international expansion and new business ventures.  

Sales and Marketing 

Sales and marketing expenses were $3.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared to $3.0 million for the 
same period in 2018, an increase of $0.8 million, or 28.3%.  Sales and marketing costs include lead capture costs and 
promotional materials. Sales and marketing expenses increased primarily as a result of an increase in lead capture costs 
of $0.7 million.  

Other Income (Expense)  

Other income (expense) includes amortization expense of the present value adjustment to our stock payable and start-up 
costs.  There were no significant changes in other income (expense) for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared to 
the same period in 2018. 

Income Tax Benefit (Expense)  

Income tax expense increased $0.4 million, or 539% ,for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared to the same 
period in 2018. 

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 

Year ended December 31, 2019 vs. Year ended December 31, 2018 

Our primary sources of liquidity are our cash and cash equivalents on hand and cash flows generated from our business 
operations.  Our ability to generate sufficient cash flow from operations or to access certain capital markets, including 
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banks, is necessary to fund our operations and capital expenditures, repurchase shares, and meet obligations as they 
become due,   

We believe that our existing balances of cash and cash equivalents and cash flows expected to be generated from our 
operations will be sufficient to satisfy our operating requirements for at least the next twelve months.  Our future capital 
requirements will depend on many factors, including our level of investment in technology, our rate of growth into new 
markets and capital used to repurchase shares of the Company’s common stock.  Our capital requirements may be 
affected by factors which we cannot control such as the residential real estate market, interest rates, and other monetary 
and fiscal policy changes to the manner in which we currently operate. In order to support and achieve our future growth 
plans, however, we may need or seek advantageously to obtain additional funding through equity or debt financing. 

We currently do not hold any bank debt. If we are unable to raise additional capital when desired, our business, results of 
operations, and financial condition would likely suffer. At December 31, 2019, our cash and cash equivalents totaled 
$40.1 million.  Cash equivalents are comprised of financial instruments with an original maturity of 90 days or less from 
the date of purchase, primarily money market funds.  We hold no marketable securities. 

Net Working Capital 

Net working capital is calculated as the Company’s total current assets less its total current liabilities.  The following 
table presents our net working capital as of ended December 31, 2019 and 2018: 

  

 December 31, 2019  December 31, 2018 Change 

Current assets $  78,819,020 $  42,326,727 $  36,492,293 
Current liabilities  (41,965,379)   (24,212,062)   (17,753,317) 

Net working capital $  36,853,641 $  18,114,665 $  18,738,976 

For the year ended December 31, 2019, net working capital increased $18.7 million, or 103%, compared to the 
comparable prior year period, primarily due to an increase in cash and cash equivalents of $19.5 million and 
commissions receivable of $8.6 million resulting from pending real estate transactions. In correlation to the number of 
pending real estate transactions, accrued expenses, which includes commissions payable and revenue share, increased 
$9.9 million. 

Cash Flows 

The following table presents our cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018: 
   

December 31, 
2019 2018 $ Change 

Cash provided by operating activities $  55,186,432 $  24,310,719  $  30,875,713 
Cash used in investment activities  (6,690,037)   (8,859,462)   2,169,425 
Cash provided by (used in) financing activities  (24,568,707)   2,015,034  (26,583,741) 

For the year ended December 31, 2019, cash provided by operating activities increased $30.9 million compared to the 
same period in 2018.  The change resulted primarily from the increased volume in our sales transactions, decrease in net 
losses, increase in customer deposits and participation by our agents and brokers in our Agent Equity Program and Agent 
Growth Incentive Program. See Note 12 – Stockholders’ Equity, of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, 
for further details related to this program. 

For the year ended December 31, 2019, cash used in our investing activities decreased primarily due to lower cash used 
for business acquisitions of approximately $5.2 million compared to the prior year, partially offset by an increase of $2.9 
million in capital expenditures. As we continue to develop and refine our cloud-based platforms and continue to 
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accelerate our business in innovative ways, we expect to continue to use our existing cash resources on similar 
expenditures for the next twelve months.  

For the year ended December 31, 2019, the increase in cash flows used in financing activities primarily related to the 
repurchase of common stock in the amount of $27.1 million offset by $2.3 million in proceeds from exercise of options. 
See Note 12 – Stockholders’ Equity, of the Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, for further 
details related to our Share Repurchase Program.  

Outlook 

As we continue to scale our Company in the future and increase market share, we aspire to realize gross margins at or 
near low double digits, resulting in Adjusted EBITDA margins in the lower single digits. Though we have reported 
decreasing gross margins over the last few fiscal years we expect to continue developing and offering additional services 
to our agents and brokers in addition to existing programs in an effort to increase margins. See “Item 7. Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Non-GAAP Financial Measures” for 
additional information and a reconciliation of net loss to Adjusted EBITDA. 

These operating ambitions are not forecasts and do not reflect our expectations, but rather are aspirational targets for 
future performance that may never be realized. These statements involve risks, uncertainties, assumptions and other 
factors that are difficult to predict and that could cause actual results to vary materially from those expressed in them. 
Factors include, among others, (i) changes in demand for the Company’s services and changes in consumer behavior; 
(ii) macroeconomic conditions beyond our control; (iii) the Company’s ability to effectively maintain its infrastructure to 
support its operations and initiatives; (iv) the impact of governmental regulations related to the Company’s operations; 
and other factors, as described in this Annual Report on Form 10-K in Part II, Item 1A, “Risk Factors.”

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP requires us to make certain judgments and 
assumptions, based on information available at the time of our preparation of the financial statements, in determining 
accounting estimates used in the preparation of the statements. Our significant accounting policies are described in 
Note 2 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies of the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Accounting estimates are considered critical if the estimate requires us to use judgments and/or make assumptions about 
matters that were uncertain at the time the accounting estimate was made and if different accounting estimates could 
have been used in the reporting period or changes in the accounting estimates are likely to occur that would have a 
material impact on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. 

Stock-based Compensation 

Our stock-based compensation is comprised of agent growth incentive programs, agent equity program, and stock option 
awards. Our stock-based compensation is more fully disclosed in Note 12 - Stockholders’ Equity, to our Consolidated 
Financial Statements. The Company accounts for stock-based compensation granted to employees and non-employees 
using a fair value method. Stock-based compensation awards are measured at the grant date fair value and is recognized 
over the requisite service period of the awards, usually the vesting period, on a straight-line basis, net of forfeitures. The 
Company reduces recorded stock-based compensation for forfeitures when they occur. 

Recognition of compensation cost for an award with a performance condition is based on the probable outcome of that 
performance condition being met. The Company estimates the share-based liability based on estimated performance 
probabilities based on our most recent estimates on probable achievement of the performance measures established 
under the Agent Growth Incentive Program. These estimates calculated based on the agent’s historical performance for 
each award type.  Also, the requisite service period at the grant date of performance awards is estimated based on the 
probability of the period of time it will take an agent to meet the performance metric. The value of the stock award is 
amortized over this period and recognized as stock compensation expense starting on the grant date. 
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Revenue Recognition 

The Company generates substantially all of its revenue from real estate brokerage services and generates a de minimis 
portion of its revenues from software subscription and professional services.  

Real Estate Brokerage Services 

The Company serves as a licensed broker in the areas in which it operates for the purpose of processing real estate 
transactions.  The Company is contractually obligated to provide services for the fulfillment of transfers of real estate 
between buyers and sellers.  The Company provides these services itself and controls the services necessary to legally 
represent the transfer of the real estate.  Correspondingly, the Company is defined as the Principal.  The Company, as 
principal, satisfies its obligation upon the closing of a real estate transaction.  As Principal, and upon satisfaction of our 
obligation, the Company recognizes revenue in the gross amount of consideration to which we expect to be entitled to.  

Revenue is derived from assisting home buyers and sellers in listing, marketing, selling and finding real estate.  
Commissions earned on real estate transactions are recognized at the completion of a real estate transaction once we 
have satisfied our performance obligation. Agent related fees are currently recorded as a reduction to commissions and 
other agent related costs.  

At each reporting period, we estimate revenue for closed transactions for which we have not yet received the closing 
documents due to timing of when a transaction settles. Additionally, provisions for anticipated differences between 
consideration due and amounts expected to be received are estimated and recorded, in most instances, as a reduction to 
revenue. 

Software Subscription and Professional Services 

The Company earns a de minimis amount of subscription revenue that is derived from fees from our customers to access 
the Company’s virtual reality software platform.  The terms of our subscriptions do not provide customers the right to 
take possession of the software.  Subscription revenue is generally recognized ratably over the contract term. 

Professional services revenue is derived from implementation and consulting services.  Professional services revenue is 
typically recognized over time as the services are rendered, using an efforts-expended (labor hours) input method.  

Software subscription and professional services revenue accounts for less than 1% of all revenue for the year ended 
December 31, 2019.  

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 

The majority of the Company’s accounts receivable is derived primarily from non-commission based fees. These 
accounts receivable are typically unsecured. The allowance for doubtful accounts is our estimate based identified 
potentially uncollectible amounts and consideration of historical experience of losses incurred. We periodically perform 
detailed reviews to assess the adequacy of the allowance. We exercise significant judgment in estimating the timing, 
frequency and severity of losses. 

The Company typically does not experience material uncollectible accounts. However, future experience could 
materially differ from historical results and could have an adverse impact to the Company’s results of operations, 
financial condition, and cash flows. 

Goodwill 

We review goodwill for impairment on an annual basis in the fiscal fourth quarter or on an interim basis if an event 
occurs or circumstances change that would more likely than not indicate that the fair value of the goodwill is below its 
carrying value. An impairment loss for goodwill would be recognized based on the difference between the carrying 
value and its estimated fair value, which would be determined based on either discounted future cash flows or another 
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appropriate fair value method. The evaluation of goodwill for impairment requires management to use significant 
judgments and estimates in accordance with U.S. GAAP, including, but not limited to, economic, industry, and 
company-specific qualitative factors, projected future net sales, operating results, and cash flows. Although we currently 
believe the estimates used in the evaluation of goodwill are reasonable, differences between actual and expected net 
sales, operating results, and cash flows and/or changes in the discount rates used could cause these assets to be deemed 
impaired. If this were to occur, we would be required to record a non-cash charge to earnings for the write-down in the 
value of the goodwill, which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial position but 
not our cash flows from operations. 

During the fourth quarter of 2019, we utilized a qualitative assessment of the fair value of goodwill. To perform this 
assessment, we identified and analyzed macroeconomic conditions, industry and market conditions, and company-
specific factors. Taking into consideration these factors, we estimated the potential change in the fair value of goodwill 
compared with our most recent quantitative impairment test. As a result of the analysis performed, management believes 
the estimated fair value of the reporting unit continues to exceed its carrying value by a substantial margin and does not 
represent a more likely than not possibility of potential impairment. The goodwill analysis did not result in an 
impairment charge. 

Income Taxes 

We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities based on the differences between the financial statement carrying 
amounts and the tax bases of assets and liabilities. A valuation allowance against deferred tax assets would be 
established if, based on the weight of available evidence, it is more likely than not (a likelihood of more than 50%) that 
some or all of the deferred tax assets are not expected to be realized.  Our assumptions, judgments, and estimates relative 
to the value of our deferred tax assets take into account predictions of the amount and category of future taxable income.  

Since inception, we have incurred operating losses, and accordingly, we have generally not recorded a provision for 
income taxes. We generally do not expect any significant changes in the amount of our income tax provision until we are 
no longer incurring operating losses.  

Litigation 

We recognize expense for legal claims when payments associated with the claims become probable and can be 
reasonably estimated. Due to the difficulty in estimating costs of resolving legal claims, actual costs could have a 
material adverse impact on our results of operations and cash flow, if we were to become a party to a material legal 
action. 

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND COMMITMENTS 

As a “smaller reporting company”, we are not required to provide the information required by this Item. 

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS 

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a current or future effect on our 
financial condition, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources that are material to our 
stockholders. 

NON-U.S. GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES 

To supplement our condensed consolidated financial statements, which are prepared and presented in accordance with 
U.S. GAAP, we use Adjusted EBITDA, a non-U.S. GAAP financial measure, to understand and evaluate our core 
operating performance. This non-GAAP financial measure, which may be different than similarly titled measures used 
by other companies, is presented to enhance investors’ overall understanding of our financial performance and should 
not be considered a substitute for, or superior to, the financial information prepared and presented in accordance with 
U.S.GAAP. 
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We define the non-U.S. GAAP financial measure of Adjusted EBITDA to mean net income (loss), excluding other 
income (expense), income tax benefit (expense), depreciation and amortization; stock-based compensation expense, and 
stock option expense. 

We believe that Adjusted EBITDA provides useful information about our financial performance, enhances the overall 
understanding of our past performance and future prospects, and allows for greater transparency with respect to a key 
metric used by our management for financial and operational decision-making. We believe that Adjusted EBITDA helps 
identify underlying trends in our business that otherwise could be masked by the effect of the expenses that we exclude 
in Adjusted EBITDA. In particular, we believe the exclusion of stock and stock option expenses, provides a useful 
supplemental measure in evaluating the performance of our underlying operations and provides better transparency into 
our results of operations. 

We are presenting the non-U.S. GAAP measure of Adjusted EBITDA to assist investors in seeing our financial 
performance through the eyes of management, and because we believe this measure provides an additional tool for 
investors to use in comparing our core financial performance over multiple periods with other companies in our industry. 

Adjusted EBITDA should not be considered in isolation from, or as a substitute for, financial information prepared in 
accordance with U.S. GAAP. There are a number of limitations related to the use of Adjusted EBITDA compared to Net 
Income (Loss), the closest comparable U.S. GAAP measure. Some of these limitations are that: 

• Adjusted EBITDA excludes stock-based compensation expense related to the Agent Growth Incentive Program
and stock option expense, which have been, and will continue to be for the foreseeable future, significant
recurring expenses in our business and an important part of our compensation strategy; and;

• Adjusted EBITDA excludes certain recurring, non-cash charges such as depreciation of fixed assets and
amortization of intangible assets and, although these are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and
amortized may have to be replaced in the future.

The following tables present a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net loss, the most comparable U.S. GAAP 
financial measure, for each of the periods presented: 

   

 Year Ended December 31, 
2019 2018 

Net loss $  (9,556,620)  $  (22,430,356) 
Other (income) / expense  281,555  (31,959) 
Taxes  496,981  77,800 
Depreciation & Amortization  2,383,743  893,988 
Stock compensation expense  13,958,951  19,053,478 
Stock option expense   5,085,497  4,846,906 
Adjusted EBITDA $  12,650,107 $  2,409,857 

The primary impact on Adjusted EBITDA is stock compensation expense. Stock compensation expense decreased $5.1 
million and increased $8.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively. Stock 
compensation expense is affected by awards granted and/or awards forfeited throughout the year. Awards granted, issued 
and forfeited are more fully disclosed in Note 12, Stockholders’ Equity, of the Consolidated Financial Statements.  

Item 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK 

As a “smaller reporting company”, we are not required to provide the information required by this Item. 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERD PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of eXp World Holdings, Inc. 

Opinion on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of eXp World Holdings, Inc. and subsidiaries (the 
"Company") as of December 31, 2019, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, equity, 
and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the "financial statements"). In 
our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of 
December 31, 2019, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended, in conformity with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States) (PCAOB), the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, based on criteria 
established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013)  issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations 
of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 12, 2020, expressed an adverse opinion on the Company's 
internal control over financial reporting because of material weaknesses. 

Basis for Opinion 

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on the Company's financial statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the 
PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities 
laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those 
risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. Our audit also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audit 
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP 

San Francisco, California 

March 12, 2020 

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2019. 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

Shareholders and Board of Directors 
eXp World Holdings, Inc. 
Bellingham, Washington 

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of eXp World Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”) and 
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2018, the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss), 
equity, and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial 
statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Company and subsidiaries at December 31, 2018, and the results of their operations and their cash flows 
for the year then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinion 

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to 
express an opinion on the Company’s consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting 
firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be 
independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and 
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material 
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. 

Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our 
audit also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable 
basis for our opinion. 

/s/ BDO USA, LLP 

We served as the Company’s auditor from 2017 to 2019. 

Salt Lake City, Utah 

March 18, 2019 

56 



57 

EXP WORLD HOLDINGS, INC. 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

   

As of December 31, 
2019 2018 

ASSETS 
CURRENT ASSETS 

Cash and cash equivalents $  40,087,372 $  20,538,057 
Restricted cash  6,987,076  2,502,591 
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $137,430 and $484,441, respectively  28,195,798  17,428,091 
Prepaids and other assets  3,548,774  1,857,988 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS  78,819,020  42,326,727 
Property, plant and equipment, net  5,428,152  2,739,525 
Operating lease right-of-use assets  1,264,215  — 
Other noncurrent assets  15,756  — 
Intangible assets, net  2,677,129  2,531,669 
Goodwill  8,248,107  8,248,107 

TOTAL ASSETS $  96,452,379 $  55,846,028 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 
CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Accounts payable $  2,592,894 $  1,758,377 
Customer deposits  6,987,076  2,502,591 
Accrued expenses  31,034,315  18,976,435 
Current portion of long-term payable  916,240  974,659 
Current portion of lease obligation - operating lease  434,854  — 

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES  41,965,379  24,212,062 

Long-term payable, net of current portion  1,529,506  1,654,337 
Long-term lease obligation - operating lease  829,615  — 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  44,324,500  25,866,399 

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 15) 

EQUITY 
Common Stock, $0.00001 par value 220,000,000 shares authorized; 66,199,308 
issued and 65,273,944 outstanding at December 31, 2019, 60,609,102 issued and 
60,609,102 outstanding at December 31, 2018  662  606 
Additional paid-in capital  130,682,916  90,755,616 
Treasury stock, at cost: 925,364 shares held at December 31, 2019  (8,623,212)   — 
Accumulated deficit  (70,292,980)   (60,765,266) 
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)  199,899  (11,327) 

Total eXp World Holdings, Inc., stockholders' equity  51,967,285  29,979,629 
Equity attributable to noncontrolling interest  160,594  — 

TOTAL EQUITY  52,127,879  29,979,629 
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY $  96,452,379 $  55,846,028 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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EXP WORLD HOLDINGS, INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 

   

Year Ended 
December 31, 

2019 2018 

Revenues $  979,937,241 $  500,147,681 

Expenses 
Commissions and other agent-related costs  895,881,750  459,715,836 
General and administrative  89,035,059  59,854,742 
Sales and marketing  3,798,516  2,961,618 
Total expenses  988,715,325  522,532,196 

Operating loss  (8,778,084)   (22,384,515) 

Other (income) expense 
Other (income) expense, net  247,311  (31,959) 
Equity in (earnings) losses of unconsolidated affiliates  34,244  — 
Total other (income) expense, net  281,555  (31,959) 

Loss before income tax expense  (9,059,639)   (22,352,556) 

Income tax expense  496,981  77,800 
Net loss $  (9,556,620)  $  (22,430,356) 

Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest  28,906  — 

Net loss attributable to eXp World Holdings, Inc. $  (9,527,714)  $  (22,430,356) 
Net loss per share  

Basic $  (0.15)  $  (0.39) 
Diluted $  (0.15)  $  (0.39) 

Weighted average shares outstanding 
Basic  62,585,555  57,689,920 
Diluted  62,585,555  57,689,920 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 



59 

EXP WORLD HOLDINGS, INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) 

   

Year Ended 
December 31, 

2019 2018 
Net loss $  (9,556,620)  $  (22,430,356) 

Less: Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests  28,906  — 
Consolidated net loss attributable to eXp World Holdings Inc. $  (9,527,714)  $  (22,430,356) 
Other comprehensive loss: 

Foreign currency translation gain (loss), net of tax  211,226  (19,781) 
Comprehensive loss attributable to eXp World Holdings Inc. $  (9,316,488)  $  (22,450,137) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 



EXP WORLD HOLDINGS, INC. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY 

Accumulated Total 
Common Stock Treasu!:Y Stock Additional Accumulated Other Comprehensive Noncontrolling Stockholders' 

Shares Amount Shares Amount Paid-In Caeital Deficit Income (Loss) Interest Egui!}' 

54,962,535 $ 550 $- $ 36,848,041 $ (32,596,374) $8,454 $- $4,260,671 

5,738,536 (5,738,536) 
97,371 999,999 1,000,000 

2,594,050 25 2,015,009 2,015,034 
1,270,545 13 19,053,465 19,053,478 

4,846,906 4,846,906 
1,684,601 17 21,253,660 21,253,677 

(19,781) (19,781) 
(22,430,356) (22,430,356) 

60,609,102 $ 606 $- $90,755,616 $ (60,765,26!i) $ (11,32:z) $- $ 29,979,629 

2,261,122 23 2,297,906 2,297,929 
1,345,754 13 13,208,990 13,209,003 

5,085,497 5,085,497 
3,801,603 38 37,767,813 37,767,851 

211,226 211,226 
(27,056,136) 

(1,818,273) 
2,743,637 (27,056,136) 

(18) (1,818,273) 18,432,924 (18,432,906) 
189,500 189,500 
(28,906) (9,556,620) 

Balance, December 31, 2017 
Cumulative effect adjustment of the 
adoption of Accounting Standards Update 
2018-07 
Shares issued for acquisition 
Exercise of options 
Stock compensation expense 
Stock option expense 
Agent equity stock compensation expense 
Foreign currency translation loss 
Net loss 
Balance, December 31, 2018 

Exercise of options 
Stock compensation expense 
Stock option expense 
Agent equity stock compensation expense 
Foreign currency translation gain 
Repurchase of common stock 
Retirement of treasury stock 
Noncontrolling interest 
Net loss 
Balance, December 31, 2019 66,199,308 $ 662 

(9,527,714) 
925,364 $ (8,623,212) $ 130,682,916 $ (70,292,980) $199,899 $160,594 $ 52,127,879 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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EXP WORLD HOLDINGS, INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

   Year Ended 
December 31, 

2019 2018 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

Net loss $  (9,556,620)  $  (22,430,356) 
Reconciliation of net loss to net cash provided by operating activities: 
Depreciation expense  2,057,242  869,657 
Amortization expense - intangible assets  326,501  24,331 
Amortization expense - long-term payable  139,723  21,196 
Equity in loss of unconsolidated affiliates  34,244  — 
Stock compensation expense  13,958,951  19,053,478 
Stock option expense  5,085,497  4,846,906 
Agent equity stock compensation expense   37,767,851  21,253,677 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities: 
Accounts receivable  (10,762,804)   (10,520,725) 
Prepaids and other assets  (1,696,075)   (1,179,040) 
Customer deposits  4,420,577  1,597,017 
Accounts payable  1,412,829  608,935 
Accrued expenses  11,301,702  10,165,643 
Other operating activities  254  — 
Long term payable  696,560 

NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES  55,186,432  24,310,719 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Purchases of property, plant and equipment  (5,000,037)   (2,134,462) 
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired  (1,500,000)   (6,725,000) 
Intangible assets acquired  (140,000)   — 
Other investing activities  (50,000)   — 

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES  (6,690,037)   (8,859,462) 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
Repurchase of common stock  (27,056,136)   — 
Proceeds from exercise of options  2,297,929  2,015,034 
Transactions with noncontrolling interests  189,500  — 

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES  (24,568,707)   2,015,034 

Effect of changes in exchange rates on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash  106,112  (20,870) 

Net change in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash  24,033,800  17,445,421 

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of year  23,040,648  5,595,227 
CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH, END OF YEAR $  47,074,448 $  23,040,648 

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOWS INFORMATION: 
Cash paid for income taxes $  129,725 $  72,682 

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES:  
Retirement of treasury stock $  18,432,924 $  — 
Lease liabilities arising from obtaining right-of-use assets $  1,524,242 $  — 
Intangible assets in accounts payable $  70,000 $  — 
Common stock issued for business acquisition $  — $  1,000,000 
Liabilities incurred associated with business acquisition $  — $  4,107,800 
Fixed asset purchases in accounts payable $  93,463 $  86,946 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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eXp World Holdings, Inc. 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

December 31, 2019 
(Expressed in U.S. dollars, except share and per share amounts unless otherwise noted) 

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION

eXp World Holdings, Inc. (collectively with its subsidiaries, the “Company” or “eXp”) was incorporated in 
the State of Delaware on July 30, 2008. Through various operating subsidiaries, the Company primarily 
operates a cloud-based real estate brokerage operating throughout the United States, and most of the Canadian 
provinces. In the fourth quarter of 2019, the Company began operations in the United Kingdom (U.K.) and 
Australia.  The Company focuses on a number of cloud-based technologies in order to grow an international 
brokerage without the burden of physical bricks and mortar or redundant staffing costs. 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles and are expressed in U.S. dollars. The Company’s fiscal year end is December 31.  

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

Principles of Consolidation 

The accompanying audited consolidated financial statements include the accounts of eXp World Holdings, Inc., 
its subsidiaries and those entities where we have greater than 50% ownership or where we exercise control over 
the operations. We use the equity method of accounting for entities in which we have a 50% or less investment 
and exercise significant influence. Entities in which we have less than a 20% investment and where we do not 
exercise significant influence are accounted for under the cost method. Intercompany transactions and balances 
are eliminated upon consolidation. See Note 5 – Variable Interest Entities.  

Noncontrolling Interest 

We have determined that one of our consolidated subsidiaries is a variable interest entity (“VIE”) and we have 
determined we are the primary beneficiary because we have a controlling financial interest, which includes both 
the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the VIE and a variable interest that potentially 
could be significant to the VIE.  The noncontrolling interest balance is adjusted each period to reflect the 
allocation of net income (loss) and other comprehensive income (loss) attributable to the noncontrolling 
interest, as shown in our Consolidated Statements of Operations and our Consolidated Statements of 
Comprehensive Income (Loss),  The noncontrolling interest balance in our Consolidated Balance Sheets 
represents the proportional share of the equity of the joint venture entities which is attributable to the minority 
shareholders. 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“U.S. 
GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets 
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the 
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. The Company regularly evaluates 
estimates and assumptions related to allowance for doubtful accounts, legal contingencies, income taxes, 
revenue recognition, stock-based compensation, goodwill, and deferred income tax asset valuation allowances. 
The Company bases its estimates and assumptions on current facts, historical experience and various other 
factors that it believes to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making 
judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities and the accrual of costs and expenses that are not 
readily apparent from other sources. The actual results experienced by the Company may differ materially and 
adversely from the Company’s estimates. To the extent there are material differences between the estimates and 
the actual results, future results of operations will be affected. 
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Reclassifications 

The Company has reclassified certain amounts in prior-period financial statements to conform to the current 
period’s presentation, specifically professional fees that were previously disclosed as its own line item that are 
now included in general and administrative expenses, depreciation and amortization that were previously 
disclosed as one line item that are now disclosed separately in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Cash 
Flows, payroll tax liabilities have been reclassed from other accrued expenses to payroll payable and vacation 
benefit liabilities have been reclassed from vacation payable to payroll payable in Note 10 – Accrued Expenses 
to our Consolidated Financial Statements.  

Joint ventures 

The Company has investments in joint ventures.  A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby the 
Company and other parties undertake an economic activity through a jointly controlled entity. Joint control 
exists when strategic, financial and operating policy decisions relating to the activities require the unanimous 
consent of the parties sharing control. Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method and are 
recognized initially at cost. The Company recognizes its share of income and expenses and equity movement in 
the venture in proportion to its percentage of ownership. See Note 4 – Investment in Joint Venture for 
additional information. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with maturity when purchased of three months or less to 
be cash equivalents. From time to time, the Company’s cash deposits exceed federally insured limits. The 
Company has not experienced any losses resulting from holding deposits in accounts in excess of federal 
insurance limits.  

Restricted cash 

Restricted cash totaled $6,987,076 and $2,502,591 at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively. 

The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash reported within the 
consolidated balance sheet that sum to the total of the same such amounts shown on the statement of cash 
flows. 

  

December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017 
Cash and cash equivalents $  20,538,057 $  4,672,034 
Restricted cash  2,502,591  923,193 
Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, beginning of period $  23,040,648 $  5,595,227 

 December 31, 2019 December 31, 2018 
Cash and cash equivalents $  40,087,372 $  20,538,057 
Restricted cash  6,987,076  2,502,591 
Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, end of year $  47,074,448 $  23,040,648 

Restricted cash consists of cash held in escrow by the Company’s brokers and agents on behalf of real estate 
buyers. The Company recognizes a corresponding customer deposit liability until the funds are released.  Once 
the cash transfers from escrow, the Company reduces the respective customers’ deposit liability. 

Fair value measurements 

The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount that could be received upon the sale of an asset or paid to 
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Financial 
assets are marked to bid prices and financial liabilities are marked to offer prices. Fair value measurements do 
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not include transaction costs. The fair value hierarchy prioritizes the quality and reliability of the information 
used to determine fair values. Categorization within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of input 
that is significant to the fair value measurement. The fair value hierarchy is defined into the following three 
categories: 

  

Input Level Definitions 

Level 1 Inputs are quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities (these are observable market inputs). 

Level 2 

Inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are 
observable for the asset or liability (includes quoted market prices for 
similar assets or identical or similar assets in markets in which there are 
few transactions, prices that are not current or prices that vary 
substantially). 

Level 3 
Inputs are unobservable inputs that reflect the entity's own assumptions in 
pricing the asset or liability (used when little or no market data is 
available). 

The Company holds funds in a money market account. The Company values its money market funds at fair 
value on a recurring basis.  

Accounts receivable and allowance for doubtful accounts 

The majority of the Company’s accounts receivable is derived from non-commission based technology fees. 
These accounts receivable are typically unsecured. The allowance for doubtful accounts is our estimate based 
on historical experience. The Company periodically performs detailed reviews to assess the adequacy of the 
allowance. The Company exercises significant judgment in estimating the timing, frequency and severity of 
losses. 

The Company historically has not experienced material uncollectible accounts.  For the years ended December 
31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the allowance for uncollectible accounts is $137,430 and $484,441, 
respectively. 

Foreign currency translation 

The Company’s functional and reporting currency is the United States dollar and the functional currency of the 
Company’s foreign subsidiaries is the local currency of their country of domicile. Monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated using the exchange rate prevailing at the balance 
sheet date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at rates of 
exchange in effect at the date of the transaction. Average monthly rates are used to translate revenues and 
expenses. Gains and losses arising on translation or settlement of foreign currency denominated transactions or 
balances are included in the consolidated statements of operations in other (income) expense, net. The 
Company does not employ any derivative or hedging strategy to offset the impact of foreign currency 
fluctuations. 

Fixed assets 

Fixed assets are stated at historical cost and are depreciated on the straight-line method over the estimated 
useful lives. Useful lives are: 

Computer hardware and software: 3 to 5 years 
Furniture, fixtures and equipment: 5 to 7 years 
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Maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred. Expenditures that substantially increase an asset’s useful life 
or improve an asset’s functionality are capitalized. 

The Company capitalizes the costs associated with developing its internal-use cloud-based residential real-
estate transaction system. Capitalized costs are primarily related to costs incurred in relation to internally 
created software during the application development stage including costs for upgrades and enhancements that 
result in additional functionality. 

Goodwill 

Goodwill represents the excess of the consideration paid over the estimated fair value of assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed in a business combination.  The Company evaluates goodwill for impairment annually in the 
fourth quarter.  Generally, this evaluation begins with a qualitative assessment to determine if the fair value of 
the reporting unit is more likely than not less than its carrying value.  The test for impairment requires 
management to make judgments relating to future cash flows, growth rates and economic and market 
conditions.  In addition to the annual impairment evaluation, the Company evaluates at least quarterly whether 
events or circumstances have occurred in the period subsequent to the annual impairment testing which indicate 
that it is more likely than not an impairment loss has occurred.  

The Company did not recognize impairment for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018. 

 Intangible assets 

The Company’s intangible assets are finite lived and consist primarily of trade name, technology and customer 
relationships. Each intangible asset is amortized on a straight-line basis over its useful life, ranging from three 
to 10 years.  The Company evaluates its intangible assets for recoverability and potential impairment, or as 
events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may be impaired. 

The Company did not recognize impairment for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018. 

Software development costs  

The Company capitalizes software development costs related to products to be sold, leased, or marketed to 
external users, and internal-use software.  

Business combinations 

The Company accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method of accounting, under which the 
consideration for the acquisition is allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed.  The Company 
recognizes identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date fair values as determined 
by management as of the acquisition date.  Fair value determinations require considerable judgment and are 
sensitive to changes in underlying assumptions, estimates and market factors. Estimating the fair value of 
individual reporting units requires us to make assumptions and estimates regarding significant changes or 
planned changes in the use of the assets, as well as industry and economic conditions. These assumptions and 
estimates include projected revenues and income growth rates, terminal growth rates, competitive and consumer 
trends, market-based discount rates, and other market factors. If current expectations of future growth rates are 
not met or market factors outside of our control change significantly, then our goodwill or intangible assets may 
become impaired. Additionally, as goodwill and intangible assets associated with recently acquired businesses 
are recorded on the balance sheet at their estimated acquisition date fair values, those amounts are more 
susceptible to impairment risk if business operating results or macroeconomic conditions deteriorate.  

Acquisition-related costs, such as due diligence, legal and accounting fees, are expensed as incurred and not 
considered in determining the fair value of the acquired assets. 
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Impairment of long-lived assets 

The Company periodically evaluates the carrying value of long-lived assets to be held and used when events 
and circumstances warrant such a review. The carrying value of a long-lived asset is considered impaired when 
the anticipated undiscounted cash flow from such asset is less than its carrying value. When assets are 
considered impaired, a loss is recognized based on the amount by which the carrying value exceeds the fair 
value of the long-lived asset. Fair value is determined primarily using the anticipated cash flows discounted at a 
rate commensurate with the risk involved. 

Stock based compensation 

Our stock-based compensation is comprised of agent growth incentive programs, agent equity program, and 
stock option awards. Our stock-based compensation is more fully disclosed in Note 12 - Stockholders’ 
Equity. The Company accounts for stock-based compensation granted to employees and non-employees using a 
fair value method. Stock-based compensation awards are measured at the grant date fair value and is recognized 
over the requisite service period of the awards, usually the vesting period, on a straight-line basis, net of 
forfeitures.  The Company reduces recorded stock-based compensation for forfeitures when they occur. 

Recognition of compensation cost for an award with a performance condition is based on the probable outcome 
of that performance condition being met. 

Revenue recognition 

The Company generates substantially all of its revenue from real estate brokerage services and generates a de 
minimis portion of its revenues from software subscription and professional services. 

Real Estate Brokerage Services 

The Company serves as a licensed broker in the areas in which it operates for the purpose of processing 
residential real estate transactions.  The Company is contractually obligated to provide services for the 
fulfillment of transfers of residential real estate between buyers and sellers.  The Company provides these 
services itself and controls the services necessary to legally transfer the residential real estate.  Correspondingly, 
the Company is defined as the principal.  The Company, as principal, satisfies its obligation upon the closing of 
a residential real estate transaction.  As principal, and upon satisfaction of our obligation, the Company 
recognizes revenue in the gross amount of consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled. 

Revenue is derived from assisting home buyers and sellers in listing, marketing, selling and finding residential 
real estate.  Commissions earned on real estate transactions are recognized at the completion of a residential real 
estate transaction once we have satisfied the performance obligation. Agent related fees are currently recorded 
as a reduction to commissions and other agent related costs.   

Software Subscription and Professional Services 

Subscription revenue is derived from fees from our customers to access the Company’s virtual reality software 
platform.  The terms of our subscriptions do not provide customers the right to take possession of the 
software.  Subscription revenue is generally recognized ratably over the contract term. 

Professional services revenue is derived from implementation and consulting services.  Professional services 
revenue is typically recognized over time as the services are rendered, using an efforts-expended (labor hours) 
input method.  

Software subscription and professional services revenue accounts for less than 1% of all revenue for the year 
ended December 31, 2019. 
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The Company does not currently collect sales and use taxes on fees from agents and brokers and assumes 
responsibility to pay these costs to the appropriate taxing authorities. 

Disaggregated revenue 

The Company primarily operates as a real estate brokerage firm. The vast majority of our revenue is derived 
from providing a single service (real estate brokerage services) to purchasers and sellers of homes in the U.S. 
See Note 16 – Segment Information for details regarding segment and geographic information. 

Management believes that no disaggregation of revenue from services to customers currently exists that would 
provide additional insight into the future recognition of revenue and cash flows. 

 Advertising and marketing costs 

Advertising and marketing costs are generally expensed in the period incurred. Advertising and marketing 
expenses are included in the sales and marketing expense line item on the accompanying consolidated 
statements of operations. For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company incurred advertising 
and marketing expenses of $3,798,516 and $2,403,941, respectively. 

Income taxes 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from the differences between the tax basis of an asset or liability and its 
reported amount in the financial statements as well as from net operating loss and tax credit carry forwards. The 
measurement of current and deferred tax assets and liabilities is based on provisions of enacted tax laws; the 
effects of future changes in tax laws or rates are not anticipated. Valuation allowances are established when 
necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized. Income tax expense or benefit is 
the tax payable or refundable, respectively, for the period adjusted for the change during the period in deferred 
tax assets and liabilities. For U.S. income tax returns, the open taxation years subject to examination range from 
2011 to 2019. 

Comprehensive loss 

The Company’s only component of comprehensive loss are net losses and foreign currency translation 
adjustments. 

Net loss per share 

Basic net loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss for the period by the weighted average number of 
shares of common stock outstanding during the period. Diluted loss per share is computed by dividing net loss 
for the period by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding plus, if dilutive, 
potential common shares outstanding during the period.  The Company does not pay dividends or have 
participating shares outstanding. 

Recently Adopted Accounting Principles 

Leases 

In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update 
(ASU) 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). ASU 2016-02 is intended to improve the financial reporting of leasing 
transactions by requiring organizations that lease assets to recognize assets and liabilities for the rights and 
obligations created by leases that extend more than twelve months on the balance sheet. This accounting update 
also requires additional disclosures surrounding the amount, timing, and uncertainty of cash flows arising from 
leases. In July 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-11 – Leases (Topic 842) – Targeted Improvements.  The 
amendments in ASU 2018-11 provide entities with an additional (and optional) transition method to adopt the 
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new leases standard. Under this new transition method, an entity initially applies the new leases standard at the 
adoption date and recognizes a cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings in the 
period of adoption. Consequently, an entity’s reporting for the comparative periods presented in the financial 
statements in which it adopts the new leases standard will continue to be in accordance with U.S. GAAP (Topic 
840, Leases). An entity that elects this additional (and optional) transition method must provide the required 
Topic 840 disclosures for all periods that continue to be in accordance with Topic 840. The amendments do not 
change the existing disclosure requirements in Topic 840 (for example, they do not create interim disclosure 
requirements that entities previously were not required to provide). 

 The Company adopted ASU 2016-02 effective January 1, 2019 using the modified retrospective approach and 
elected the practical expedient to use the effective date of adoption as the application date for the leases 
whereby the prior periods were not restated.  There was no net cumulative effect adjustment to retained 
earnings as of January 1, 2019 as a result of this adoption. This standard did not have a material impact on the 
Company’s balance sheets or cash flows from operations and did not have a significant impact on the 
Company’s operating results. The most significant impact was the recognition of right-of-use (ROU) assets and 
lease obligations on the balance sheet upon adoption on January 1, 2019.  
The Company elected to utilize the transition guidance accounting policy elections available including, not 
recording a ROU lease asset and lease obligation for short term leases, to not separate lease and non-lease 
components, and to apply a portfolio discount rate to all leases similar in nature and term.  

With the adoption of ASU 2016-02, the Company determined if an arrangement is a lease at inception and 
performed a lease classification assessment. Based on this assessment, the Company concluded it only has 
operating leases. Leases are included in ROU lease assets, current portion of lease obligations, and long-term 
lease obligations on the Company’s balance sheet.  Certain arrangements previously considered leases under 
Topic 840 were determined to not be leases under Topic 842.  Lease expense for short-term leases that, at the 
commencement date have a lease term of 12 months or less, is recorded in the Company’s consolidated 
statements of operations as incurred. 

ROU lease assets represent the Company’s right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease 
obligations represent the Company’s obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease.  ROU lease 
assets and obligations are recognized at the commencement date based on the present value of lease payments 
over the lease term. The Company has determined to not separate lease components from non-lease components 
in the lease payments for its office space leases, which are currently the only leases the Company has under 
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 842 – Leases (“ASC 842”). The rate implicit in the lease was not 
readily determinable in the lease arrangements and as such, the Company used its incremental borrowing rate 
based on the information available at the commencement date in determining the present value of lease 
payments. The Company calculated the rate utilizing rate information provided from our lenders based on a 
secured line of credit adjusted for the average lease term of three years.  The ROU lease asset also includes any 
lease payments made in advance and excludes lease incentives. The Company’s lease terms include options to 
extend the lease when it is reasonably certain that the Company will exercise its option. The Company 
evaluates renewal options quarterly for any changes in assumptions. Lease expense for operating lease 
payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  Refer to Note 14 - Leases for more 
information. 

Intangibles 

In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-04 – Intangibles – Goodwill and Other (Topic 350).  ASU 2017-
04 eliminates Step 2 from the goodwill impairment test. Under ASU 2017-04, if a reporting unit’s carrying 
amount exceeds its fair value, the entity will record an impairment charge based on that difference. The 
impairment charge will be limited to the amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit. Previously, if the 
fair value of a reporting unit was lower than its carrying amount (Step 1), an entity was required to calculate 
any impairment charge by comparing the implied fair value of goodwill with its carrying amount (Step 2). 
Additionally, under ASU 2017-04, entities that have reporting units with zero or negative carrying amounts will 
no longer be required to perform the qualitative assessment to determine whether to perform Step 2 of the 
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goodwill impairment test. As a result, reporting units with zero or negative carrying amounts will generally be 
expected to pass the simplified impairment test; however, additional disclosure will be required of those 
entities. This ASU is effective in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019. Early adoption on a 
prospective basis is permitted for annual and interim goodwill impairment testing dates after January 1, 2017. 
The Company early adopted ASU 2017-04 effective January 1, 2019.  There were no significant adjustments to 
our financials or our disclosures under the new guidance. 

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements 

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12 – Income Taxes (Topic 740).  ASU 2019-12 removes 
certain exceptions for investments, intraperiod allocations and interim calculations and adds guidance to reduce 
complexity in accounting for income taxes.  ASU 2019-12 is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods 
within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2020; early adoption is permitted.  The Company is still 
assessing the amendments of ASU 2019-12 and the impact the amendments will have on the Company’s 
consolidated financial statements and related disclosures. 

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-13, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820) – Disclosure 
Framework – Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value Measurement, which removes certain 
disclosure requirements related to the fair value hierarchy, such as removing the requirement to disclose the 
amount of and reasons for transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, modifies existing disclosure requirements 
related to measurement uncertainty and adds new disclosure requirements, such as disclosing the range and 
weighted average of significant unobservable inputs used to develop Level 3 fair value measurement. ASU 
2018-13 is effective beginning January 1, 2020; early adoption is permitted. Certain changes are applied 
retrospectively to each period presented and others are to be applied either in the period of adoption or 
prospectively. The Company does not expect the amendments of ASU 2018-13 will have a significant impact 
on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and related disclosures. 

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 326).  ASU 2016-
13 modifies the measurement of expected credit losses of certain financial instruments, requiring entities to 
estimate an expected lifetime credit loss on financial assets.  ASU 2016-13 is effective for fiscal years and 
interim periods within those years beginning after December 15, 2019.  The Company does not expect the 
amendments of ASU 2016-13 to have a significant impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements 
and related disclosures. 

3. ACQUISITIONS

VirBELA 

On November 29, 2018, (the “Acquisition Date”), the Company and its subsidiary, eXp World Technologies, 
LLC (“Purchaser) acquired substantially all the assets of VirBELA, LLC (VirBELA), a California limited 
liability company. VirBELA provides a cloud-based environment focused on educational and innovative 
learning technologies to enhance global education experiences that empower individuals, teams, and 
organizations for clients in various industries. Its model allows for a level of engagement and participation that 
can typically only be achieved with face-to-face instruction. Its proprietary immersive 3D campus, which 
supports blended learning and big data assessment, is highly customizable to meet the branding and educational 
needs of clients. VirBELA developed the Company’s current cloud campus called eXp World, which provides 
24/7 access to collaborative tools, training and socialization for the Company’s real estate agents and 
employees. The acquisition of VirBELA’s core group of products and services will allow eXp Realty to 
continue to accelerate its business in a sustainable and innovative way, which is consistent with our vision to 
expand the product offering to agents, teams and others who could benefit from their own, always available 
environments for collaboration. 

The Company acquired the assets of VirBELA for a total purchase price of $10,607,800, consisting of cash of 
$7,000,000 and future payments of $3,607,800, that can be settled at the Company’s discretion with cash or 
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through the issuance of shares of the Company’s common stock. A cash payment of $6,500,000 was paid at 
closing and 97,371 shares of the Company’s restricted common stock having a value of $1,000,000 was issued 
at closing.  On the acquisition date, the Company held $500,000 in accounts payable to secure the seller’s 
performance of certain post close obligations. During the first quarter of 2019, the seller performed its post 
close obligations and the $500,000 was paid to the seller. The remaining obligation will be paid in either cash or 
in the Company’s common stock, at its discretion, having a value of $1,000,000 on each of the first, second and 
third anniversaries of the Acquisition Date. The fair value of future payment obligations was $2,607,800 as of 
the Acquisition Date and is remeasured at each reporting period since the Company could issue a variable 
number of shares of common stock based on a fixed monetary amount. The discount of $392,200 will be 
amortized over the reporting periods using the effective interest method during fiscal years 2019, 2020 and 
2021. For the period ended December 31, 2019, the discount amortization was $139,723.  As of December 31, 
2019, long-term payables, net of current portion and current portion of long-term payable was $832,946 and 
$916,240, respectively 

The following table shows the allocation of the purchase price of VirBELA to the acquired identifiable assets, 
and goodwill: 

  

Accounts receivable  $  4,273 
Inventory  968 
Fixed assets  23,452 
Intangible assets  2,331,000 
Goodwill  8,248,107 

Total purchase price $  10,607,800 

The Acquisition was accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting under which the Company 
allocated the total purchase price to the tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired based on their 
estimated fair values as of the acquisition date, as determined by management. The excess of the purchase price 
over the aggregate fair values of the identifiable assets was recorded as goodwill. Goodwill generated from the 
Acquisition was primarily attributable to an assembled workforce and planned expansion of VirBELA into new 
markets. 

The purchase price allocation to identifiable intangible assets acquired in the VirBELA acquisition was: 
   

Tradename       $ 1,169,000 
Existing Technology 297,000 
Non-competition agreements 125,000 
Customer contracts 740,000 

Total intangible assets purchased $ 2,331,000 

The allocation of the fair value of the acquired business was based on valuations of the estimated net fair value 
of the assets acquired. For tax purposes, goodwill is amortized over 15 years and is tax deductible. The fair 
values of these net assets acquired are based on management’s estimates and assumptions, as well as other 
information compiled by management, including valuations that utilize customary valuation procedures and 
techniques.  

4. INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURE

During the quarter ended December 31, 2019, the Company, and its newly formed entity eXp Silverline 
Ventures, LLC entered into an agreement to purchase a 50% ownership interest in Silverline Title & Escrow, 
LLC (“Silverline”).  The remaining ownership interest is held by a third-party investment entity. 
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The purpose of the business of Silverline is to operate and manage a title agency that performs, among other 
functions, core title agent services (for which liabilities arises), including the evaluation of searches to 
determine the insurability of title, the clearance of underwriting objections, the actual issuance of polices on 
behalf of insurance companies, and, where customary, the issuance of title commitments and the conducting of 
title searchers.  

The Company made an initial investment of $50,000 and the investment is accounted for under the equity 
method of accounting and reported as other noncurrent assets in the consolidated balance sheets.  As of 
December 31, 2019, the operations of Silverline are not material to the Company’s financial position or results 
of operations. 

5. VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES

First Cloud Investment Group, LLC (“First Cloud”), a Nevada limited liability company, holds investment and 
profit interests in IntroLend First Cloud, LLC “IntroLend First Cloud”), a Delaware limited liability company 
that provides mortgage origination for end-consumers.   

During the quarter ended December 31, 2019, the Company made capital contributions in consideration for an 
ownership interest in First Cloud with the remaining ownership interest held by certain of our independent 
agents and brokers. First Cloud was organized for the purpose of managing IntroLend First Cloud, a wholly-
owned indirect subsidiary of the Company. The Company will always retain at least 50% of the outstanding 
equity ownership units in First Cloud. During the start-up phase, eXp holds a greater than 50% interest in First 
Cloud. As eXp agents continue to invest in First Cloud, agents’ interests will increase until the interest for both 
eXp and agents equal 50%.  

First Cloud is considered a VIE. 

A company is deemed to be the primary beneficiary of a VIE and must consolidate the entity if the company 
has both (1) the power to direct the activities of a VIE that most significantly impact the VIE’s economic 
performance and (2) the obligation to absorb losses of the VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE or 
the right to receive benefits from the VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE.  The Company has 
concluded that the Company is the primary beneficiary since the Company has the power to direct the activities 
of the entity and has an economic interest that will absorb the losses and/or receive benefits that could be 
significant to the VIE.  Accordingly, the Company consolidates the assets and liabilities and operating results in 
the consolidated financial statements.  The Company recognizes noncontrolling interest in the consolidated 
balance sheets.  The income or loss allocations reflected on the consolidated statement of operations may create 
volatility in the reported results of operations, including net losses attributable to common stockholders. 
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The financial information of First Cloud, which is included in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet and 
the consolidated statement of operations for the period of ownership is presented below. As of December 31, 
2019, the operations of First Cloud are not material to the Company’s financial position or results of operations. 

As of  
 December 31, 2019 

Assets 
Cash $  424,407 
Prepaid expenses  368 
Security deposits  1,600 

Total assets $  426,375 

Liabilities & Equity 
Membership interests payable $  45,500 
Accounts payable  14,735 

Total liabilities $  60,235 

Equity $ 
Members equity  474,500 
Current year profit (loss)  (108,360) 

Total equity $  366,140 

Total liabilities & equity $  426,375 

Year Ended December 31, 2019 

Revenues $  21,600 

Expenses  129,960 

Net loss $  (108,360) 
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6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

The following table summarizes the Company’s assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis 
as of December 2019 and 2018: 

   

December 31, 2019 

Fair Value 

Quoted Prices in Active 
Markets  
 (Level 1)  

Significant Other 
Observable Inputs 

 (Level 2)  

Significant 
Unobservable Inputs 

 (Level 3)  
Assets: 

Money market funds $  18,280,779  $  18,280,779 $  — $  — 
Total Assets $  18,280,779  $  18,280,779 $  — $  — 

December 31, 2018 

Fair Value 

Quoted Prices in Active 
Markets 
 (Level 1) 

Significant Other 
Observable Inputs 

 (Level 2) 

Significant 
Unobservable Inputs 

 (Level 3) 
Assets: 

Money market funds $  8,051,662  $  8,051,662 $  — $  — 
Total Assets $  8,051,662  $  8,051,662 $  — $  — 

There have been no transfers between Levels 1, Level 2 and Level 3 in the period presented. The Company did 
not have any Level 2 or Level 3 financial assets or liabilities in the period presented. 

7. PREPAIDS AND OTHER ASSETS

Prepaids and other assets consisted of the following: 
   

As of December 31, 
2019  2018 

Prepaid expenses $  1,729,540 $  1,070,064 
Prepaid insurance  954,231  706,435 
Rent deposits  73,485  51,113 
Other assets  791,518  30,376 

$  3,548,774 $  1,857,988 

8. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, NET

Property, plant and equipment, net consisted of the following: 
   

As of December 31, 
2019 2018 

Computer hardware and software $  8,431,195 $  3,925,129 
Furniture, fixture and equipment  20,480  5,910 

Total depreciable property and equipment  8,451,675  3,931,039 
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization  (3,377,807)   (1,320,103) 
Depreciable property, net  5,073,868  2,610,936 
Assets under development  354,284  128,589 

Property, plant and equipment, net $  5,428,152 $  2,739,525 



74 

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 was $2,057,242, and $869,657 
respectively.  

9. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill were: 
   

As of December 31, 
2019 2018 

Goodwill  8,248,107 $  — 
Acquisitions/(Impairment)  —  8,248,107 
Total goodwill  8,248,107 $  8,248,107 

Our goodwill was recorded in connection with the acquisition of VirBELA in November 2018 and represents 
fair value as of the acquisition date. The Company has a risk of future impairment to the extent that individual 
reporting unit performance does not meet projections. Additionally, if current assumptions and estimates, 
including projected revenues and income growth rates, terminal growth rates, competitive and consumer trends, 
market-based discount rates, and other market factors, are not met, or if valuation factors outside of our control 
change unfavorably, the estimated fair value of our goodwill could be adversely affected, leading to a potential 
impairment in the future. No events occurred that indicated it was more likely than not that our goodwill was 
impaired. 

Definite-Lived intangible assets were as follows: 
   

As of December 31, 2019 
Gross Accumulated Net Carrying 

Amount Amortization Amount 
Trade name $  1,169,000 $  (126,642)  $  1,042,358 
Existing technology (1)  558,961  (98,884)   460,077 
Non-competition agreements  125,000  (45,139)   79,861 
Customer relationships  740,000  (80,167)   659,833 
Software  225,000  —  225,000 
Licensing agreement   210,000  —  210,000 

Total $  3,027,961 $  (350,832)  $  2,677,129 

As of December 31, 2018 
Gross Accumulated Net Carrying 

Amount Amortization Amount 
Trade name $  1,169,000 $  (9,742)  $  1,159,258 
Existing technology  297,000  (4,950)   292,050 
Non-competition agreements  125,000  (3,472)   121,528 
Customer relationships  740,000  (6,167)   733,833 
Software  225,000  —  225,000 

Total $  2,556,000 $  (24,331)  $  2,531,669 

(1) Includes capitalized software development costs and acquired technologies from the VirBELA asset
purchase.
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Amortization expense for definite-lived intangible assets was $326,501 in 2019 and $24,331 in 2018. 
As of December 31, 2019, expected amortization related to definite-lived intangible assets will be: 

 

Expected amortization 
2020  506,787 
2021  740,072 
2022  193,829 
2023  297,850 
2024 and thereafter  938,591 

Total $  2,677,129 

10. ACCRUED EXPENSES

Accrued expenses consisted of the following: 
   

As of December 31, 
2019 2018 

Commissions payable $  26,029,987 $  16,368,811 
Payroll payable (1)   1,200,788  2,012,712 
Taxes payable  1,205,372  217,820 
Stock liability awards   749,958  — 
Other accrued expenses  1,848,210  377,092 

$  31,034,315 $  18,976,435 

(1) Certain amounts have been reclassed from prior year presentation in the accrued expenses table above.
Specifically, $204,295 of payroll tax liabilities have been reclassed from other accrued expenses to payroll
payable and $690,587 of vacation benefit liabilities have been reclassed from vacation payable to payroll
payable.

11. DEBT

The Company cancelled its $1,000,000 line of credit in May 2019 that was scheduled to mature in August 2019, 
as the Company had not had any borrowings against the line of credit. 

12. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

As of December 31, 2019, the Company had 66,199,308 shares of common stock issued and 65,273,944 shares 
outstanding.  As of December 31, 2018, the Company had 60,609,102 shares of common stock issued and 
outstanding. 

Our shareholder approved equity plans described below are administered under our 2013 Stock Option Plan and 
our 2015 Equity Incentive Plan. The purpose of the equity plans is to retain the services of valued employees, 
directors, officers, agents, and consultants and to incentivize such persons to make contributions to our 
company and motivate excellent performance.  

Agent Equity Program 

The Company provides agents and brokers the opportunity to elect to receive 5% of commissions earned from 
each completed residential real estate transaction in the form of common stock. If such an election is made, they 
are entitled to receive the equivalent number of shares of common stock, based on the fixed monetary value of 
the commission payable. The shares are issued at a 20% discount to market on the date of issuance. Prior to 
2020, we recognized a 20% discount on these issuances as an additional cost of sales charge during the periods 
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presented.  Beginning in January 2020, the Company amended the Agent Equity Plan and changed the discount 
on issued shares from 20% to 10% .  

During the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company issued 3,801,603 and 1,684,601 shares, 
respectively, of common stock to agents and brokers for total consideration of $37,767,851 and, $21,253,677, 
respectively for the settlement of commissions payable, inclusive of the 20% discount. 

Agent Growth Incentive Program 

The Company administers an equity incentive program whereby agents and brokers become eligible to receive 
awards of the Company’s common stock through agent attraction and performance benchmarks. The incentive 
program encourages greater performance and awards agents with common stock based on achievement of 
performance milestones.  Awards typically vest after performance benchmarks are reached and three years of 
subsequent service is provided to the Company. 

In January 2019, the Company amended the Agent Growth Incentive Program. The amendment changed the 
share-based performance awards from a fixed-share amount to a fixed-dollar amount of shares based on the 
achievement of performance metrics. The performance metrics did not change under the amended program.  
The recognition of the award depends on which performance metric is achieved and the number of shares 
granted is calculated based on the fixed dollar amount of the respective award and the stock price on the last 
day of the month in which the agent achieves the performance metric. Once it is probable an agent will reach 
the performance metric, the award is recognized as a liability.  Since the Company’s obligation on the grant 
date is based on a fixed monetary amount that will be settled with a variable number of shares upon 
achievement of the performance condition, ASC 480 – Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity requires these 
awards to be classified as liabilities until the number of shares to be issued becomes fixed. The awards become 
fixed once the performance metric is achieved. The share price on the last day of the month the performance 
metric is met is used to calculate the number of shares to be awarded. Upon achievement of the performance 
metric, the award is no longer considered a liability and is reclassified from a liability to equity.  

For the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company’s stock compensation attributable to the Agent Growth 
Incentive Program was $13,299,784.  Of this amount, $900,535 is attributable to the liability classified Agent 
Growth Incentive Program awards. The entire stock compensation expense related to the Agent Growth 
Incentive Program is included in general and administrative expense in the consolidated statement of 
operations. 

The following table illustrates changes in the Company’s stock compensation liability during the year ended 
December 31, 2019:  

 

Stock Compensation Liability Activity Amount 
Balance, December 31, 2018 $  - 
Estimated stock awards  900,535 
Stock awards reclassified from liability to equity  (623,533) 
Balance, December 31, 2019 $  277,002 

As of December 31, 2019, the Company had 1,866,483 unvested common stock awards and unrecognized 
compensation costs totaling $19,934,606 attributable to stock awards where the performance metric has been 
achieved and the number of shares awarded are fixed. The cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted 
average period of 1.69 years.  
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The following table illustrates the Company’s stock activity for the Agent Growth Incentive Program for stock 
awards where the performance metric has been achieved for the following periods: 

  

Weighted Average 
Grant Date 

Shares  Fair Value 
Balance, December 31, 2017  3,059,065 $  7.60 
Granted  2,380,100  11.59 
Vested and issued  (889,769)   12.16 
Forfeited  (676,519)   4.05 
Balance, December 31, 2018  3,872,877 $  11.63 
Granted  1,687,457  9.23 
Vested and issued  (1,494,633)   11.21 
Forfeited  (677,592)   3.39 
Balance, December 31, 2019  3,388,109 $  11.04 

Stock Option Awards 

The fair value of the options issued was calculated using a Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing model with the 
following assumptions: 

 

Assumptions:  Year Ended December 31, 2019 
Expected term 5 - 6.25 years 
Expected volatility 91.04% - 127.93% 
Risk-free interest rate 1.48% - 2.70% 
Dividend yield - %

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company granted 776,746 stock options to employees with an 
estimated grant date fair value of $6,494,211.   

The following table illustrates the Company’s stock option activity for the following periods: 

Weighted  
Average  

Weighted Remaining  
Average Contractual Term 

Options      Exercise Price      Intrinsic Value      (Years) 
Balance, December 31, 2017  10,873,292 $  1.50 $  5.08  6.65 
Granted  870,000  10.86  (3.78)   9.34 
Exercised  (2,594,050)   0.78  11.90  — 
Forfeited  (451,629)   3.03  9.59  — 
Balance, December 31, 2018  8,697,613 $  2.08 $  5.00  6.07 
Granted  776,746  9.44  0.64  9.52 
Exercised  (2,261,122)   1.02  8.56  — 
Forfeited  (437,881)   7.94  2.45  — 
Balance, December 31, 2019  6,775,356 $  2.90 $  8.43  5.59 
Exercisable at December 31, 2019  5,368,458  1.37  9.96  4.71 
Vested at December 31, 2019  5,460,777 $  1.48 $  9.85  4.78 

The grant date fair value of options to purchase common stock is recorded as stock-based compensation over 
the vesting period.  As of December 31, 2019, unrecognized compensation cost associated with options to 
purchase common stock was $10,655,374, that is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 
approximately 2 years. 
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Stock Repurchase Plan 

On December 27, 2018 the Company announced that our board of directors (“the Board”) approved a stock 
repurchase program authorizing us to purchase up to $25,000,000 of our common stock.  Purchases under the 
repurchase program may be made in the open market or through a 10b5-1 plan and are expected to comply with 
Rule 10b-18 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.   The timing and number of shares 
repurchased depends upon market conditions. The repurchase program does not require the Company to acquire 
a specific number of shares.  The cost of the shares that are repurchased is funded from available working 
capital.  

The repurchase program began on January 2, 2019 and was set to expire on June 28, 2019. On June 12, 2019 
the Company under authorization from the Board of Directors, amended the plan. The amended plan extended 
the repurchase program through December 31, 2019.  On November 26, 2019, the Company announced the 
approval to increase the authorization limits of the Company’s stock repurchase program by the Board. The 
Board agreed to extend the stock repurchase program through the fourth quarter of 2020 and increase the 
authorization for the stock repurchase program from $25 million to $75 million of the Company’s common 
stock. 

For accounting purposes, common stock repurchased under the stock repurchase programs is recorded based 
upon the settlement date of the applicable trade. Such repurchased shares are held in treasury and are presented 
using the cost method. During the year ended December 31, 2019 the Company repurchased 2,743,637 shares 
of common stock at a total cost of $27,056,136. These shares are considered issued but not outstanding.  

In December 2019, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the retirement of the Company’s common 
stock related to repurchases made during 2019. On December 31, 2019 the Company retired 1,818,273 of 
common stock available in treasury valued at $18,432,924.   

13. INCOME TAXES

The components of the provision for income tax expense are as follows: 
   

Year Ended December 31, 
2019 2018 

Current: 
Federal $  — $  — 
State  319,978  77,494 
Foreign  261,549  306 

 581,527  77,800 
Deferred 

Federal  17,542  — 
State  14,948  — 
Foreign  (117,036)   — 

 (84,546)   — 
Total provision (benefit) for income taxes $  496,981 $  77,800 
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The Company is subject to United States federal and state income taxes at an approximate rate of 24.58%. The 
reconciliation of the provision for income taxes at the United States federal statutory rate compared to the 
Company’s income tax expense as reported is as follows: 

   

Year Ended December 31, 
2019 2018 

Statutory tax rate  21.00 %   21.00 % 
State taxes  0.35 %   4.02 % 
Permanent differences  (3.85) %   (0.57) % 
Unrecognized tax benefit   (0.67) %   — % 
Share-based compensation  11.51 %   (10.46) % 
Foreign tax rate differential  (1.68) %   (0.10) % 
Valuation allowance  (140.59) %   (15.43) % 
Prior year true up items   109.08 %   — % 
Other net  (0.65) %   1.19 % 

Total  (5.50) %   (0.35) % 

Deferred tax assets consist of the following at: 
   

December 31, 
2019 2018 

Deferred tax assets: 
Net operating loss carryforward $  12,789,390 $  6,186,379 
Temporary differences  435,559  598,732 
Lease liability  310,792  — 
Share-based compensation  6,455,843  228,989 

Total gross deferred tax assets $  19,991,584 $  7,014,100 
Deferred tax liabilities: 

Property and equipment  (145,526)   (439,388) 
Intangibles/Goodwill  (179,619)   — 
Right of use lease asset  (310,730)   — 
Valuation allowance  (19,271,163)   (6,574,712) 

Net deferred tax assets $  84,546 $  — 

At December 31, 2019, the Company had federal and state net operating losses of approximately $48.1 million 
and $37.5 million, respectively, which could be subject to certain limitations under section 382 of the Internal 
Revenue Code. Out of the federal net operating loss, approximately $8.7 million will carry forward 20 years 
and can offset 100% of future taxable income; and $39.4 million carries forward indefinitely and can offset 
80% of taxable income. Utilization of the net operating loss carryforwards are subject to various limitations due 
to the ownership change limitations provided by Internal Revenue Code (IRC) Section 382 and similar state 
provisions. As of December 31, 2019, the Company conducted an IRC Section 382 analysis with respect to its 
net operating loss carryforwards and determined there was an insignificant limitation. 

The Company has provided a valuation allowance at December 31, 2019 and 2018 of $19,271,163 and 
$6,574,712, respectively, for its net deferred tax assets as it cannot conclude it is more likely than not all of the 
estimated net deferred tax assets will be realized. The valuation allowance increased by $12,696,451 and 
increased by $3,474,318 during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. 

Undistributed earnings of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries are considered to be indefinitely reinvested and 
accordingly, no provision for applicable income taxes has been provided thereon. Upon distribution of those 
earnings, the Company would be subject to withholding taxes payable to various foreign countries. As of 
December 31, 2019, the undistributed earnings of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries were immaterial. 
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As of December 31, 2019, the Company maintains liabilities for uncertain tax positions.  These liabilities 
involve considerable judgment and estimation and are continuously monitored by management based on the 
best information available, including changes in tax regulations, the outcome of relevant court cases, and other 
information.  A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of gross unrecognized benefits is as follows: 

Year Ended December 31, 
2019 2018 

Unrecognized tax benefits - beginning of year $ -  $  - 
Gross increase for tax positions of prior years  53,699  - 
Gross decrease for federal tax rate change for tax positions of prior years  - - 
Gross increase for tax positions of current year  - - 
Settlements  - - 
Lapse of statute of limitations  - - 
Unrecognized tax benefits - end of year  - - 

$  53,699  $  - 

The unrecognized tax benefits relate primarily to state taxes. As of December 31, 2019, the total amount of 
unrecognized tax benefits that would affect the Company effective tax rate, if recognized, is $60,685.  The 
Company's policy is to recognize interest and penalties related to income tax matters in income tax expense. As 
of December 31, 2019, the Company accrued interest or penalties related to uncertain tax positions in the 
amount of $6,986.  The Company currently has no federal or state tax examinations in progress nor has it had 
any federal or state tax examinations since its inception.  Because the Company has net operating loss 
carryforwards, there are open statues of limitations in which federal, state and foreign taxing authorities may 
examine the Company's tax returns for all years from December 31, 2011 through the current period.  

14. LEASES

The Company adopted ASU 2016-02 – Leases (Topic 842) effective January 1, 2019 using the modified 
retrospective approach whereby the cumulative effect of adoption was recognized on the adoption date and 
prior periods were not restated.  There was no net cumulative effect adjustment to retained earnings as of 
January 1, 2019 as a result of adoption.  ASU 2018-11 – Leases (Topic 842) – Targeted Improvements permits 
an entity to apply the new leases standard at the date of adoption.  Consequently, an entity’s reporting for the 
comparative periods presented in the financial statements in which it adopts the new leases standard will 
continue to be in accordance with ASC 840 – Leases. 

Operating Leases 

The Company’s lease portfolio consists of office leases with lease terms ranging from less than one year to 
seven years, with the weighted average lease term being three years.  

Certain leases provide for increases in future lease payments once the term of the lease has expired, as defined 
in the lease agreements.  These leases generally also include real estate taxes. 

Information as Lessee under ASC 842 

The Company reassessed all of our leases to determine whether any expired or existing contracts were or 
contained a lease under ASC 842.  Expired or existing contracts previously considered leases under ASC 840 
no longer meet the definition of a lease under ASC 842 and therefore, have been excluded from future lease 
payments.  
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The Company still maintains these agreements, along with other short-term leases that are not capitalized, and 
the expenses are recognized in the period incurred.  

As of December 31, 2019, maturities of the operating lease liabilities by fiscal year were as follows: 

Year ending December 31, 
2020 $ 474,579 
2021 377,930 
2022 318,326 
2023 182,269 
2024 5,388 
Thereafter 6,286 

Total lease payments $ 1,364,778 
Less: interest (100,309) 

Total operating lease liabilities   $ 1,264,469 

Included below is other information regarding leases for the year ended December 31, 2019. 

Year Ended  
December 31, 2019 

Other information 
Operating lease expense  $ 249,208 
Short-term lease expense  $ 26,852 
Cash paid for operating leases $ 249,462 
Weighted-average remaining lease term (years)– operating leases (1) 3 
Weighted-average discount rate – operating leases 4.85% 

(1) The Company’s lease terms include options to extend the lease when it is reasonably certain the Company will
exercise its option.  Additionally, the Company considered any historical and economic factors in determining if a
lease renewal or termination option would be exercised.

Rent expense is recorded in General and Administrative expense in the consolidated statements of operations.

Information as Lessee under ASC 840 -2018 

As previously disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018, future 
minimum lease payments under ASC 840 for operating leases were as follows: 

 

Year ending December 31, 
2019 $  451,710 
2020  420,518 
2021  237,142 
2022  42,532 
2023 and thereafter  4,134 

Total $ 1,156,036 
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15. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

From time to time, the Company is subject to potential liability under laws and government regulations and 
various claims and legal actions that may be asserted against us that could have a material adverse effect on our 
business, reputation, results of operations or financial condition. Such litigation may include, but is not limited 
to, actions or claims relating to sensitive data, including our proprietary business information and intellectual 
property and that of our clients and personally identifiable information of our employees and contractors, cyber-
attacks, data breaches and non-compliance with our contractual or other legal obligations. 

There are no matters pending or, to our knowledge, threatened that are expected to have a material adverse 
impact on our business, reputation, results of operations or financial condition. 

There are no proceedings in which any of our directors, officers or affiliates, or any registered or beneficial 
stockholder, is an adverse party or has a material interest adverse to our interest. 

16. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Historically, management has not made operating decisions and assessed performance based on geographic 
locations.  Rather, the chief operating decision maker makes operating decisions and assesses performance 
based on the products and services of our identified operating segments.  While management does consider real 
estate and brokerage services, the acquired technology and affiliated services provided to be identified 
operating segments, the profits and losses and assets of the acquired technology and affiliated series are not 
material.     

Operating Segments 

The Company primarily operates as a cloud-based real estate brokerage.  The real estate brokerage business 
represents 99.9% and 95.8% of the total revenue and total assets, respectively, of the Company as of December 
31, 2019. 

In November 2018, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets of VirBELA, a virtual reality software 
platform.  The Company offers software subscriptions to customers to access our virtual reality software 
platform.  Additionally, the Company offers professional services for implementation and consulting services.  
However, as VirBELA is still primarily used as an internal resource for our operations, the operations and 
assets of VirBELA are not managed by the Company’s chief operating decision-maker as a separate reportable 
segment.   

Services provided through our First Cloud and eXp Silverline ventures are in the emerging stages of 
development as contributing segments and are not material to the Company’s total revenue, total, loss or total 
assets as of December 31, 2019. 

The Company aggregates the identified operating segments for reporting purposes. 

Geographical Information 

The Company primarily operates within the real estate brokerage markets in the United States and Canada. 
During the fourth quarter, the Company expanded operations into the UK and Australia. 

The Company’s management analyzes geographical locations on a forward-looking basis to identify growth 
opportunities.  For the year ended December 31, 2019, approximately 3% of the Company’s total net 
revenue was generated outside of the U.S. Assets held outside of the U.S. as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 
were 9% and 3%, respectively. 
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The Company’s technology services and affiliated services are currently provided only in the U.S. 

17. DEFINED CONTRIBUTION SAVINGS PLAN

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company established a defined contribution savings plan to 
provide eligible employees with a retirement benefit that permits eligible employees the opportunity to actively 
participate in the process of building a personal retirement fund. The Company sponsors the defined 
contribution savings plan. In 2019 the Company began matching a portion of contributions made by 
participating employees. The Company's cost for contributions to this plan was $654,038 and zero for the years 
ended December 2019 and 2018, respectively.  



Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND 
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE 

None 

Item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures 

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the 
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2019 pursuant to Rule 13a-15 under the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). The term “disclosure controls and procedures” 
means controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed 
by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and 
reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, 
without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in 
the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the Company’s 
management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions 
regarding required disclosure. 

Based on the evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2019, our Chief Executive Officer 
and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as a result of material weaknesses in our internal control over financial 
reporting, our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as of December 31, 2019. 

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as 
defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act). Our management, including our Chief Executive 
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial 
reporting as of December 31, 2019. In making its evaluation, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of 
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013). 

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such 
that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of a company’s annual or interim financial statements 
will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. 

Based on this evaluation, management concluded that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was not 
effective as of December 31, 2019 due to the material weaknesses described below. Additionally, the material 
weaknesses did not result in any restatements of our consolidated financial statements or disclosures for any prior period. 
The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019 has been audited by Deloitte 
and Touche LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in its report, which is included below.  

Notwithstanding the material weaknesses, management has concluded that the Consolidated Financial Statements 
included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K present fairly, in all material respects, the Company’s financial position, 
results of operations and cash flows of the Company for the periods presented in conformity with U.S. GAAP. 

Material Weaknesses 

General Information Technology Controls (GITCs) - We identified a material weakness related to GITCs in certain areas 
related to user access and program change-management over information technology (IT) systems utilized by the 
Company. Some of our business process controls (automated and manual) are dependent on the affected GITCs they too 
were deemed ineffective because they could have been adversely impacted. We believe that these control deficiencies 
were a result of: IT control processes lacking sufficient documentation; insufficient testing of changes; lack of training 
for our personnel on the importance of GITCs; and a lack of access control considerations in the design of the systems 
that could impact internal control over financial reporting.  
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Information and Communication, Control Activities and Monitoring – The Company also identified that it did not fully 
implement key components of the COSO framework, including control and monitoring activities relating to: (i) 
providing oversight over the system of internal control, (ii) overseeing the nature and scope of monitoring activities and 
management's evaluation and remediation of deficiencies, (iii) using appropriate processes and technology to assign 
responsibility and segregate duties as necessary, (iv) maintaining quality through processing, and (v) attracting, 
developing, and retaining sufficient and competent personnel to support the achievement of internal control objectives. 

The Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, Deloitte and Touche LLP has audited the effectiveness 
of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019 and expressed an adverse opinion, 
which appears below here in Item 9 of this Form 10-K. 

Planned Remediation Actions: 

Management has been implementing and continues to implement measures designed to ensure that control deficiencies 
contributing to the material weaknesses are remediated, such that these controls are designed, implemented, and 
operating effectively in addition to implementing new monitoring controls to help mitigate the risks associated with the 
ineffective GITCs. The remediation actions include: (i) establishing an internal audit team to support the Company’s 
entire control environment and its ongoing internal controls development and monitoring; (ii) creating and filling an IT 
compliance oversight function; (iii) educating control owners concerning the principles and requirements of each 
control, with a focus on those related to user access and change-management over IT systems impacting financial 
reporting; (iv) developing and maintaining documentation underlying GITCs to promote knowledge transfer upon 
personnel and function changes; (v) developing enhanced controls and reviews related to changes in IT systems; (vi) 
performing an in-depth analysis of who should have access to perform key functions within the system that impact 
financial reporting and redesigning aspects of the system to better allow the access rights to be implemented; and (vii) 
adding additional manual controls to monitor information and data produced by the system to help mitigate the risks 
associated with ineffective GITCs. 

We believe that these actions will remediate the material weaknesses. The weaknesses will not be considered 
remediated, however, until the applicable controls operate for a sufficient period of time and management has concluded, 
through testing, that these controls are operating effectively.  

Material Weaknesses Previously Identified 

We previously reported material weaknesses in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018 
and Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the quarters during the subsequent period through September 30, 2019.  The 
control activity material weakness previously reported was that we did not have effective business processes and 
controls as well as resources with adequate training and support to conduct an effective review of manual reconciliations 
including the complex data feeds into the reconciliations of high-volume transactions.   

To address the previously disclosed material weakness described above, we re-designed the transaction settlement 
process and controls related to the processing of our high-volume of transactions. We also hired additional personnel to 
review the transactions and managers to provide oversight and provided additional training to personnel involved with 
these business processes and the related control activities. Lastly, we implemented a new monitoring control to help 
ensure the impact of any adjustments to recorded transactions are reflected in the financial statements.  

While we have made progress on the remediation of the control activity material weakness, such control activity has 
some dependency on GITCs and therefore has not been fully remediated as of December 31, 2019. 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of eXp World Holdings, Inc. 

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting  

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of eXp World Holdings, Inc. and subsidiaries (the 
“Company”) as of December 31, 2019, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) 
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). In our opinion, because of 
the effect of the material weaknesses identified below on the achievement of the objectives of the control criteria, the 
Company has not maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, based on 
criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO. 

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States) (PCAOB), the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019, of the 
Company and our report dated March 12, 2020, expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements.  

Basis for Opinion 

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its 
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s 
Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with 
the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal 
securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was 
maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial 
reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness 
of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the 
circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding 
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies 
and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the 
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are 
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of 
management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely 
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the 
financial statements. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. 
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may 
deteriorate. 

Material Weaknesses 
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A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such 
that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the company’s annual or interim financial statements 
will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. The following material weaknesses have been identified and included 
in Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting:  

General Information Technology Controls (GITCs): The Company did not have effective controls designed to assess 
logical access and program change-management over information technology (IT) systems. As a result of these 
deficiencies, the related process-level manual and automated application controls that rely on information from the 
affected IT systems were also ineffective.    

Information and Communication, Control Activities and Monitoring: The Company also identified that it did not fully 
implement key components of the COSO framework, including information and communication, control and monitoring 
activities relating to: (i) providing oversight over the system of internal control, (ii) overseeing the nature and scope of 
monitoring activities and management’s evaluation and remediation of deficiencies, (iii) using appropriate processes and 
technology to assign responsibility and segregate duties as necessary, (iv) maintaining quality through processing and (v) 
attracting, developing, and retaining sufficient and competent personnel to support the achievement of internal control 
objectives. 

These material weaknesses were considered in determining the nature, timing, and extent of audit tests applied in our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019, of the Company, and this 
report does not affect our report on such financial statements. 

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP 

San Francisco, California  

March 12, 2020 
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Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

Other than the efforts noted above to remediate the previously reported material weaknesses, there have been no changes 
in our internal control over financial reporting during the period covered by this annual report on Form 10-K that has 
materially affected or, are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. 

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Internal Controls 

Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, does not expect that our disclosure 
controls or our internal controls will prevent or detect all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well 
designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control system’s objectives will be 
met. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance 
that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the Company have been detected. The design of any system 
of controls is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance 
that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions. Over time, controls may 
become inadequate because of changes in conditions or deterioration in the degree of compliance with associated 
policies or procedures. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error 
or fraud may occur and not be detected. 

Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION 

None. 

PART III 

Item 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

Directors and Executive Officers 

The following individuals serve as directors and executive officers of our company. All directors of our company hold 
office until the next annual meeting of our stockholders or until their successors have been elected and qualified. The 
executive officers of our company are appointed by our board of directors and hold office until their resignation or 
removal from office. 

Date First Elected 
Name Position Age or Appointed 
Glenn Sanford Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, 

Treasurer, Secretary, and Director 53 March 12, 2013 
Jason Gesing Chief Executive Officer, eXp Realty, and Director 46 September 27, 2014 
Jeff Whiteside Chief Financial Officer 56 November 1, 2018 
Eugene Frederick Director 64 April 7, 2016 
Randall Miles Director 63 July 20, 2016 
Darren Jacklin Director 47 May 22, 2014 
Susan Truax Director 54 August 9, 2017 
Dan Cahir Director 37 November 29, 2018 

Business Experience 

The following is a brief description of the business experience and education of each director and executive officer 
during at least the past five years, indicating the person’s principal occupation during that period, and the name and 
principal business of the organization in which such occupation and employment were carried out. 

Glenn Sanford has served as our Chief Executive Officer and Director since March 12, 2013. Since 2002, Mr. Sanford 
has been actively involved in the online real estate space. In early 2007, Mr. Sanford launched eXp Realty, LLC and 

88 



grew the Company to three offices and into two states. After the decline in the real estate market in 2008, Mr. Sanford 
and his executive team rewrote the entire business model to reduce costs and provide consumers with more information 
and access than ever before. In October 2009, eXp Realty International, Inc. was launched as the first truly cloud-based 
national real estate brokerage which meant giving up the traditional brick and mortar environment and moving to a fully-
immersive 3D virtual office environment where agents, brokers and staff collaborate across borders while learning and 
transacting business from anywhere in the world.  Since that time eXp World Holdings Inc. has quickly grown 
throughout the United States and Canada. 

Prior to joining the Company Mr. Sanford ran a large mega-agent team and consulted to Keller Williams International as 
a member of the Agent Technology Council in the areas of online client acquisition, client conversion and technology. 
Mr. Sanford was also a significant contributor to Keller Williams Internet Lead Generation Masterminds. Prior to real 
estate, Mr. Sanford was active at the executive level with a number of technology-related companies. In 1998, 
Mr. Sanford founded and served as President for eShippers.com, an online e-commerce and logistics company. 

We believe Mr. Sanford is qualified to serve on our board of directors because of his business and management 
experience. 

Jason Gesing joined the Company in March 2010 and was appointed Chief Business Development Officer in 
September 2012, a position he held until June 2014. From June 2014 through September 2016, Mr. Gesing served as the 
Corporation’s President. And from September 2016 through August 2018, Mr. Gesing served as Chief Executive Officer 
of our Real Estate Brokerage Division. Mr. Gesing currently serves as Chief Executive Officer of eXp Realty. With over 
a decade of experience in real estate in various capacities, Mr. Gesing holds broker’s license in Massachusetts. 

Mr. Gesing has been practicing law at Gesing Law Offices, LLP since 2009, and was an attorney with Murphy, Hesse, 
Toomey & Lehane, LLP in Boston, MA from 2002 to 2010. In his capacity as a lawyer, he obtained a broad base of 
experience in corporate, municipal, real estate, compliance, health care, construction, litigation, and administrative law, 
and advising clients on day to day issues and managing crises. He has acted in a variety of roles and undertaken a variety 
of matters including: corporate counsel; municipal counsel; hospital counsel; leasing, licensing and contract negotiation; 
governance and compliance; appearances before administrative hearing officers and state judges; defense of 
management in unfair labor practice charges; collective bargaining; internal investigations; and, owner representative in 
construction matters. 

Mr. Gesing obtained a Bachelor of Arts (Magna Cum Laude) in 1996 from Syracuse University, and a Juris Doctor in 
2002 from Boston College Law School. He is licensed to practice law in Massachusetts and New Hampshire. 

We believe Mr. Gesing is qualified to serve on our board of directors because of his business and legal experience. 

Jeff Whiteside joined the Company as its Chief Financial Officer and Chief Collaboration Officer on November 1, 2018. 
Mr. Whiteside has more than 30 years of experience in global finance and operational leadership including executive 
positions at General Electric, Pitney Bowes, and RM Sotheby’s Auctions. Additionally, Mr. Whiteside held the positions 
of Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operating Officer at three software and technology companies. Mr. Whiteside has 
extensive international experience from living and working in Asia, Australia, Europe, and Canada. 

Recently, Mr. Whiteside founded and served as the Auction Director at Saratoga Auto Museum from November 2016 
through October 2018, Chief Operating Officer of Saratoga Juice Bar, LLC from January 2015 through November 2016, 
Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer at RM Sotheby’s Auctions in 2014 and 2015, and Vice President 
and Group Financial Officer at Pitney Bowes from 2008 through 2013. 

Mr. Whiteside works closely with eXp World Holdings, Inc. CEO, Glenn Sanford and leads finance, business 
development, new ventures, international markets and investor relations. 

Mr. Whiteside is a graduate of Rensselaer Polytechnic, obtaining both his B.S. (with an emphasis in Managerial 
Economics) and M.B.A. in 1986. 
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Eugene Frederick has served as a director of the Company since April 2016 and joined the Company as an agent in 
April 2015. For over a decade prior to joining the Company, Mr. Frederick served in various management capacities at 
Keller Williams Realty. Mr. Frederick spent much of this time recruiting other top-producing real estate agents in the 
states of Virginia and Texas. Prior to joining the Keller Williams management team in the mid-nineties, Mr. Frederick 
was one of the top-producing real estate agents in the State of Texas beginning in the late eighties. Earlier in his career, 
in the mid-eighties, Mr. Frederick served as Controller for Texas Instruments before leaving the corporate world for real 
estate. 

The Board believes that Mr. Frederick is qualified to serve on our board of directors because of his extensive experience 
in residential real estate and his leadership ability, particularly in managing growth. 

Randall Miles has served as an independent director of the Company since July 2016 and was appointed Vice-Chairman 
on January 20, 2018. For over 25 years Mr. Miles has held senior leadership positions in global financial services, 
financial technology and investment banking companies. His extensive investment banking background at bulge bracket, 
regional and boutique firms advising financial services companies on strategic and financial needs has crossed many 
disciplines. Mr. Miles transactional and advisory experience is complemented by leadership of public and private equity 
backed financial technology, specialty finance and software companies that have included Chairman and CEO at 
LIONMTS where he was nominated for the Ernst & Young Entrepreneur of the Year award, CEO at Syngence 
Corporation, COO of AtlasBanc Holdings Corp. and CEO of Advantage Funding / NAFCO Holdings which grew to in 
excess of $1 billion. 

Mr. Miles was Managing Partner at SCM Capital Group, a global strategic and financial advisory firm, where he served 
beginning in 2000 through January 2013. Subsequently, he served as a Managing Director at Riparian Partners, a 
division of Oppenheimer & Co., Inc. Since June 2014, Mr. Miles has served as Senior Managing Director, Head of 
FIG and COO, Investment Banking at Cantor Fitzgerald & Co. Mr. Miles has held senior leadership roles at 
Oppenheimer& Co., D.A. Davidson and & Co., The First Boston Corporation (Credit Suisse) Meridian Capital and 
Greenwich Capital Markets. Mr. Miles has broad public, private and nonprofit board experience and has been active for 
many years in leadership roles with the Make-A-Wish Foundation. He presently serves on the boards of Kuity, Corp. and 
Posiba, Inc. as Vice Chairman and Chairman respectively. 

Mr. Miles holds a BBA from the University of Washington and holds FINRA licenses Series 7, 24, 63 and 79. 

The Board believes that Mr. Miles is well qualified to serve on the Company’s board of directors because of his 
extensive background in investment banking and financial services. 

Darren Jacklin has served as an independent director of the Company since May 22, 2014. For over 24 years, Darren 
Jacklin has traveled four continents and over 48 countries mentoring entrepreneurs and business owners on specific and 
measurable strategies that they can consistently use to increase their income, transform their obstacles into cash flow and 
turn their passion into profits. 

His uncanny ability to increase wealth and success by uncovering hidden assets, overlooked opportunities and 
undervalued possibilities has captured the attention of Tiger 21, The Wall Street Journal, Yahoo Finance, NBC TV, CBS 
TV, Global TV international radio stations, magazines and newspapers, movie producers, best-selling authors, CEO’s 
and business experts worldwide. 

Darren Jacklin currently sits on paid international boards of directors of public companies and advisory boards. Darren 
has personally trained over 150 Fortune 500 companies such as Microsoft, AT&T, Black & Decker, Barclays Bank, as 
well as high school, college, university students and professional athletes and has connected with people in more than 
126 countries. 

We believe Mr. Jacklin is qualified to serve on our board of directors because of his business experience and venture 
capital background. 
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Susan (Suzy) Truax brings to the Board 15 years of experience in the real estate industry. Since March 2017, she has 
served as the Chief Executive Officer and Founder of The Smart Move Realty Group, a brokerage powered by eXp 
Realty. From April 2016 to March 2017, Ms. Truax served as Chief Executive Officer of Keller Williams Realty in San 
Carlos, California, and from November 2015 to May 2016, she served as Productivity Coach and a real estate 
professional with Keller Williams Realty in San Francisco, California. From September 2014 to November 2015, 
Ms. Truax served as a real estate professional with Alain Pinel Realtors in the San Francisco Bay Area. From May 2013 
to September 2014, she served as a Realtor with Berkshire Hathaway and Fox & Roach Realtors in Blue Bell, 
Pennsylvania and Cape May County, New Jersey. Previously, from February 2011 to December 2012, she served as 
Vice President and Realtor with Coldwell Banker Realty Corp. Associates. Ms. Truax is a licensed Realtor in the San 
Francisco Bay Area, Greater Philadelphia, South New Jersey and Florida. 

The Board believes that Ms. Truax is well qualified to serve on our Board because of her experience as both a realtor and 
having management roles in various brokerages across the United States, in addition to her role on eXp’s Agent 
Advisory Council. 

Dan Cahir was appointed as an independent director of the Company on November 29, 2018. Mr. Cahir has more than 
10 years of experience managing public and private equity investments across a variety of industries. Currently, 
Mr. Cahir serves as the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Investment Officer of Sapling Capital, LLC, positions he has 
held since June 2018. 

From June 2013 to June 2018, Mr. Cahir served as a portfolio manager at Long Light Capital, managing a public equity 
portfolio and evaluating venture capital and private equity investments and allocations to external fund managers. From 
September 2011 to April 2013, Mr. Cahir was a member of the investment team at Ziff Brothers Investments, a private 
investment firm. From August 2007 to September 2009, Mr. Cahir was a member of the investment team at Madrone 
Capital Partners where he led the analysis on venture capital, private equity and public equity investments. 

Mr. Cahir began his career in September 2005 with Bain & Co., where he advised Fortune 500 and private equity clients 
on M&A, growth and efficiency initiatives until June 2007. 

Mr. Cahir completed his studies and earned his Bachelor of Arts Degree in Economics in 2005, graduating with the 
summa cum laude distinction from Claremont McKenna College and completed his studies and earned a Master of 
Business Administration from Harvard Business School in 2011. 

The Board believes that Mr. Cahir is qualified to serve on our board of directors because of his extensive experience in 
managing equity portfolios and well as advising Fortune 500 clients on M&A, growth and cost-cutting strategies. 

Family Relationships 

There are no family relationships between our directors or executive officers. 

Involvement in Certain Legal Proceedings 

None of our directors or executive officers has been involved in any of the following events during the past ten years: 

(a) any bankruptcy petition filed by or against any business of which such person was a general partner or 
executive officer either at the time of the bankruptcy or within two years prior to that time; 

(b) any conviction in a criminal proceeding or being subject to a pending criminal proceeding (excluding 
traffic violations and other minor offences); 

(c) being subject to any order, judgment, or decree, not subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated, of 
any court of competent jurisdiction, permanently or temporarily enjoining, barring, suspending or otherwise limiting his 
involvement in any type of business, securities or banking activities; 
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(d) being found by a court of competent jurisdiction (in a civil action), the Securities and Exchange
Commission or the Commodity Futures Trading Commission to have violated a federal or state securities or 
commodities law, and the judgment has not been reversed, suspended, or vacated; 

(e) being the subject of, or a party to, any federal or state judicial or administrative order, judgment,
decree, or finding, not subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated, relating to an alleged violation of: (i) any federal or 
state securities or commodities law or regulation; or (ii) any law or regulation respecting financial institutions or 
insurance companies including, but not limited to, a temporary or permanent injunction, order of disgorgement or 
restitution, civil money penalty or temporary or permanent cease- and-desist order, or removal or prohibition order; or 
(iii) any law or regulation prohibiting mail or wire fraud or fraud in connection with any business entity; or

(f) being the subject of, or a party to, any sanction or order, not subsequently reversed, suspended or
vacated, of any self-regulatory organization (as defined in Section 3(a)(26) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934), any 
registered entity (as defined in Section 1(a)(29) of the Commodity Exchange Act), or any equivalent exchange, 
association, entity or organization that has disciplinary authority over its members or persons associated with a member. 

Code of Ethics 

On September 20, 2018, the Company adopted a code of business conduct and ethics which is available on our website 
at www.expworldholdings.com. 

Security Holder Nominating Procedures 

We do not have any formal procedures by which our stockholders may recommend nominees to our board of directors. 

Committees of the Board of Directors 

As of the date of this report, our directors served on the committees of the Board indicated in the following table: 

Director      Independent  Compensation Committee      Audit Committee Governance 
Committee 

Glenn Sanford Chair Member 
Randall Miles X Member Chair Member 
Jason Gesing Chair 
Darren Jacklin X Member Member 
Susan Truax Member 
Dan Cahir X Member 

Audit Committee 

Our audit committee consists of three independent members: Randall Miles, Chairman and financial expert; Darren 
Jacklin and Dan Cahir. The purpose of the Audit Committee to assist the board of directors in fulfilling its oversight 
responsibilities for the financial reporting process, the system of internal control, the audit process, and the Company's 
process for monitoring compliance with laws and regulations including overseeing the integrity of the Company’s 
financial statements; the independent auditor’s qualifications and independence; the performance of the Company’s 
independent auditor and internal audit function; the Company’s systems of disclosure controls and procedures; and the 
Company’s compliance with ethical standards adopted by the Company 

Compensation Committee 

Our Compensation Committee is appointed by the Board of Directors and is responsible to the Board for carrying out 
their duties, namely, determining and approving the Executive Compensation Packages. The purpose of the 
Compensation Committee includes overseeing our compensation policies, plans, and benefit programs, reviewing and 
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approving for our executive officers: annual base salary, annual incentive bonus, including the specific goals and 
amount, equity compensation, employment agreements, severance arrangements, and any other benefits, compensation, 
or arrangements, and administering our equity compensation plans. 

Corporate Governance Committee 

Our Corporate Governance Committee is appointed by the Board of Directors. The purpose of the Corporate Governance 
Committee includes overseeing and evaluating the Board’s performance and the Company’s compliance with corporate 
governance regulations, guidelines and principles and selecting, or recommending to our Board of Directors for 
selection, individuals to stand for election as directors. 

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance 

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires the Company’s directors, executive officers and persons who owned more 
than 10% of the Company’s common stock (collectively, “Reporting Persons”) to file reports of ownership and changes 
in ownership of common stock and other securities of the Company on Forms 3, 4 and 5 with the SEC. Reporting 
Persons were required by SEC regulations to furnish the Company with copies of all Section 16(a) forms they filed. 

Based solely on review of reports received by the Company or written representations from the Reporting Persons, the 
Company believes that with respect to the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019, all Reporting Persons complied with all 
applicable Section 16(a) filings. 

Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

The particulars of the compensation paid to our principal executive and principal financial officers; our president; and 
certain other officers, all of whom will collectively refer to as the “named executive officers” of our company are set out 
in the following summary compensation table: 

SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE 

Change in 
Pension Value  

and 
Nonqualified 

 Non-Equity  Deferred  
Name and Principal Stock Option  Incentive Plan  Compensation  All Other 
Position Year Salary Bonus  Awards(1)  Awards(2)  Compensation  Earnings Compensation(3)  Total 

($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) 
Glenn Sanford 2019  72,000 -0- -0- -0- -0- -0-  1,297,405 (4)  1,369,405 
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman 
of the Board  2018  58,875 -0- -0- -0- -0- -0-  1,748,092 (4)  1,806,967 
Jason Gesing, 2019  164,616 -0- -0-  807,858 (5) -0- -0-  423,770 (4)  1,396,244 
Chief Executive Officer, eXp Realty  2018  150,000 -0-  89,813 -0- -0- -0-  583,558 (4)  823,371 
Jeff Whiteside, 2019  288,399  160,800 -0- -0- -0- -0- -0-  449,199 
Chief Financial Officer 2018  33,125  36,000 -0-    2,638,017 (5) -0- -0- -0-    2,707,142

(1) Amounts in this column represent stock awards issued to the individuals noted, with the fair value determined
at the date of grant in accordance with U.S. GAAP based on the closing price of our common stock on the
applicable grant date. See Note 12, Stockholders’ Equity, above for the assumptions used in determining the
grant date fair value of stock awards.  Director compensation as part of stock awards for Jason Gesing
amounted to $89,813 in 2018.

(2) Amounts in this column represent option awards issued to the individuals noted, based on the fair value
determined at the date of grant in accordance with U.S. GAAP. See Note 12, Stockholders’ Equity, above for
the assumptions used in determining the grant date fair value of option awards.

(3) The value of privileges and other personal benefits, perquisites and property for the officers that do not exceed
the lesser of $10,000 or 10% of the total of the annual salary and bonus and is not reported herein.
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(4) Consists of revenue sharing earned and officer revenue.

(5) The dollar amount shown represents the aggregate grant date fair value of common stock options granted,
determined in accordance with US GAAP, but not what was fully vested as of December 31, 2019.

Retirement or Similar Benefit Plans 

There are no arrangements or plans in which we provide pension, retirement or similar benefits for directors or executive 
officers. Our directors and executive officers may receive stock options and stock grants at the discretion of our board of 
directors. We do not have any bonus or profit sharing plans pursuant to which cash or non-cash compensation is or may 
be paid to our directors or executive officers, except that stock options or stock grants may be granted at the discretion of 
our board of directors. Mr. Sanford and Mr. Gesing are participants in the Company’s revenue share plan and would 
continue to receive those benefits similar to all other agents and brokers of eXp Realty on a long-term basis. Any 
revenue share paid to officers and directors would discontinue at the point they are no longer in an executive position 
with the Company, however revenue share based on their position would continue as would be consistent with the 
revenue share plan. 

Resignation, Retirement, Other Termination, or Change in Control Arrangements 

The Company does not have any agreements or plans in place for the named executive officers that would provide 
additional compensation in connection with a resignation, retirement or other termination or a change in control. 

Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year End 
    

Option awards Stock awards 
Equity incentiv

e 
Equity incentiv

e 
Equity incentiv

e plan awards: 
plan awards: Market plan awards: Market or 

Number of  Number of Number of 
Number o

f value of Number of payout value 
securities securities securities shares or shares of unearned of unearned 

underlying  underlying underlying units of units of shares, units shares, units 
unexercise

d unexercised unexercised Option Option stock that  stock that or other rights or other rights 
options (#)  options (#) unearned exercise expiration have not have not have not have not 

Name exercisable  
unexercisabl

e options (#) price ($) date vested (#)  vested ($) vested (#) vested ($) 

(a) (b) (c) (d) (e) (f) (g) (h) (i) (j)
Glenn 
Sanford, 
Chief 
Executive 
Officer 
and 
Chairman 
of the 
Board   1,617,000  —  —  $  0.13 10/1/2022  —   $  —  —  — 
Jeff 
Whiteside
, Chief 
Financial 
Officer  62,500  187,500  —  $  11.65 11/1/2028  —   $  —  —  — 
Jason 
Gesing, 
CEO eXp 
Realty  601,942  100,000  —  $ 

0.13 - 
9.32 

(1
) 

10/1/2022-
11/6/2029 

(1
)  612 

(2
) $ 

10.40-
16.22 

(2
)  —  — 

(1) Represents range of exercise price and expiration dates for all of Mr. Gesing’s stock options. Options were
granted on different dates throughout his tenure.
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(2) Represents total number of stock grants awarded but not year vested to Mr. Gesing and range of share price at
grant date of each different stock grant award.

Compensation of Directors 

Mr. Sanford is also our Chief Executive Officer (see Executive Compensation table for services acting as Officers). 

For the year ended December 31, 2019, Mr. Jacklin’s compensation was $200,000 and continues to be issued common 
stock having a value of $2,000 each month. For the year ended December 31, 2019, Mr. Frederick received $2,000 each 
month for directorship activities, which was paid in common stock. The number of shares of common stock to be issued 
is determined by the closing price of the last trading day of the month. For the year ended December 31, 2019, Ms. 
Truax’s compensation was $25,000, and stock options valued at $25,000 were granted to Ms. Truax. Mr. Frederick does 
not receive director fees; however, both Mr. Frederick and Ms. Truax received revenue sharing. Mr. Frederick received 
$4,227,130 and $24,045 in revenue sharing and stock awards, respectively, and Ms. Truax received $41,956 and $33,448 
in revenue sharing and commissions, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2019, Mr. Cahir’s compensation 
was $200,000.  The annual compensation for Mr. Miles was increased to $200,000 in August 2019. Directors are 
reimbursed for reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in the performance of duties as a Board member. 

The following table sets forth certain information regarding the compensation earned by or awarded to each non-
employee director during fiscal year 2019 who served on our Board during the fiscal year 2019: 

  

Fees Earned or  
Name Paid in Cash      Option Awards (1)      Stock Awards (2)     Total 
Richard Miller (5) $  31,250 $  — $  — $  31,250 
Randall Miles (3) $  137,502 $  — $  — $  137,502 
Darren Jacklin $  222,266 $  — $  24,045 $  246,311 
Dan Cahir (4) $  183,344 $  — $  — $  183,344 
Susan Truax (6) $  22,917 $  25,009 $  — $  47,926 
Eugene Frederick $  — $  — $  24,045 $  24,045 

(1) The dollar amounts shown represent the aggregate grant date fair value of stock options granted, determined in
accordance with U.S. GAAP, but not what has fully vested as of December 31, 2019.

(2) The dollar amounts shown represent the grant date fair value of stock awards granted, with the fair valued
determined at the date of grant in accordance with US GAAP, based on the closing price of our common stock
on the applicable grant date.

(3) As of December 31, 2019, Mr. Miles has 955,661 unexercised option awards, which includes 350,000 options
under a contract between Mr. Miles and Ms. Sanford.

(4) As of December 31, 2019, Mr. Cahir has 100,000 unexercised option awards.

(5) Mr. Miller was a member of the Company’s Board of Directors until June 5, 2019.

(6) As of December 31, 2019, Ms. Truax has 17,540 unexercised option awards.

In 2016, we agreed to compensate Mr. Miles the award of stock options to purchase 1,350,000 shares of the Company’s 
common stock at an exercise price equal to the fair market value on the grant date, with such shares vesting over a three-
year period in equal monthly installments, in addition to his annual compensation and reimbursement of expenses 
reasonably incurred. 
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Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND 
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS 

Principal Stockholders and Management 

The following table provides certain information regarding the ownership of our common stock, as of February 20, 2020 
by each person known to us to own more than 5% of our outstanding common stock; each of our executive officers; each 
of our directors; and all of our executive officers and directors as a group. 

 

     Amount and Nature of      Percentage of 
Title of Class Name and Address of Beneficial Owner Beneficial Ownership(1)  Class(2) 

More than 5% stockholders: 
Common Stock Penny Sanford 2219 Rimland Drive, Suite 301 

Bellingham, WA 98226  15,589,325 23.76 
Directors and named executive officers: 

Common Stock Glenn Sanford 2219 Rimland Drive, Suite 301 
Bellingham, WA 98226  22,466,146 (3) 33.41 

Common Stock Jason Gesing 2219 Rimland Drive, Suite 301 Bellingham, 
WA 98226  1,686,261 (4) 2.55 

Common Stock Jeff Whiteside 2219 Rimland Drive, Suite 301 
Bellingham, WA 98226  78,200 (5) 0.12 

Common Stock Eugene Frederick 2219 Rimland Drive, Suite 301 
Bellingham, WA 98226  2,326,199 (6) 3.54 

Common Stock Randall Miles 2219 Rimland Drive, Suite 301 
Bellingham, WA 98226  895,701 (7) 1.35 

Common Stock Darren Jacklin 2219 Rimland Drive, Suite 301 
Bellingham, WA 98226  79,932 0.12 

Common Stock Susan Truax 2219 Rimland Drive, Suite 301 Bellingham, 
WA 98226  18,727 (8) 0.03 

Common Stock Dan Cahir 2219 Rimland Drive, Suite 301 Bellingham, 
WA 98226  44,444 (9) 0.07 

Common Stock All executive officers and directors as a group (8 
persons)  27,595,610 40.06 

Notes 

(1) Except as otherwise indicated, we believe that the beneficial owners of the common stock listed above, based on
information furnished by such owners, have sole investment and voting power with respect to such shares, subject to
community property laws where applicable. Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the
SEC and generally includes voting or investment power with respect to securities.

(2) Percentage of ownership is based on 65,619,860 shares of our common stock issued and outstanding as of February
20, 2020. Common stock subject to options or warrants exercisable within 60 days of February 20, 2020 are deemed
outstanding for purposes of computing the percentage ownership of the person holding such option or warrants, but
are not deemed outstanding for purposes of computing the percentage ownership of any other person.

(3) Includes 20,849,146 shares of our common stock including stock options to acquire 1,617,000 shares of our
common stock exercisable within 60 days of February 20, 2020.

(4) Includes of 1,078,068 shares of our common stock and stock options to acquire 608,193 shares of our common
stock exercisable within 60 days of February 20, 2020.



(5) Includes 75 shares of our common stock and stock options to acquire 78,125 shares of our common stock only
exercisable within 60 days of February 20, 2020.

(6) Includes 1,001,602 shares of our common stock pledged as collateral. Includes 13,961 shares of our common stock
owned indirectly by Ms. Fredrick.

(7) Consists of stock options to acquire shares of our common stock only exercisable within 60 days of February 20,
2020.

(8) Includes 1,187 shares of our common stock and stock options to acquire 17,540 shares of our common stock
exercisable within 60 days of February 20, 2020.

(9) Consists of stock options to acquire shares of our common stock only exercisable within 60 days of February 20,
2020.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans 

The following table summarizes certain information regarding our equity compensation plan as at December 31, 2019: 

Number of securities 
remaining available for 
future issuance under 

Number of securities to  Weighted-average equity compensation 
be issued upon exercise  exercise price of plans (excluding 
of outstanding options,  outstanding options,  securities reflected in 

warrants and rights warrants and rights  column (a)) 
Plan Category (a) (b) (c) 
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders  9,981,923  5.34  12,241,829 
Equity compensation plans not approved by security 
holders  —  —  — 

Total  9,981,923  5.34  12,241,829 

2013 Stock Option Plan 

On September 27, 2013, we adopted a stock option plan. The purpose of the stock option plan is to retain the services of 
valued key employees, directors, officers and consultants and to encourage such persons with an increased initiative to 
make contributions to our company. Under the stock option plan, eligible employees, consultants and certain other 
persons who are not eligible employees, may receive awards of “non–qualified stock options”. Individuals, who, at the 
time of the option grant, are employees of our company or any related company (as defined in the stock option plan) 
who are subject to tax in the United States may receive “incentive stock options,” and non–U.S. residents may receive 
awards of “non-qualified stock options”. The number of shares of our common stock issuable under the plan is 
10,000,000. As of January 31, 2020, there were 4,090,666 shares of our common stock available for future issuance. We 
do not expect to grant future option awards under the 2013 stock option plan. 

2015 Equity Incentive Plan 

On March 12, 2015, we adopted an equity incentive plan which was subsequently amended on August 28, 2017, 
October 29, 2017 and on October 24, 2019. The purpose of the equity incentive plan is to retain the services of valued 
key employees, directors, officers and consultants and to encourage commitment and motivate excellent performance. 
Our employees, consultants and directors are eligible to participate in the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan as determined by 
the Board. The following equity awards may be granted under the equity incentive plan: “incentive stock options”, “non-
qualified stock options,” shares of restricted stock, restricted stock units and other stock-based awards; provided, that 
“incentive stock options” may be granted only to employees. The number of shares of our common stock issuable under 
the plan is 30,000,000 and under the 2019 amendment, the aggregate number of shares reserved for issuance under the 
Plan will automatically increase on December 1 of each year, commencing on December 1, 2019, and ending on (and 
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including) December 1, 2024, in an amount equal to the lesser of (a) three percent (3%) of the total number of shares of 
Common Stock outstanding on December 31 of the preceding calendar year, or (b) the number of shares of Common 
Stock repurchased by the Company pursuant to any issuer repurchase plan then in effect; provided that the board of 
directors may act prior to December 1 of a given year to provide that there will be no share increase for such year or that 
the increase for such year will be a lesser number of shares than otherwise provided in clause (a) or (b). As of January 
31, 2020, there were an aggregate of  21,920,830 shares of our common stock outstanding with 8,079,170 available for 
future issuances. 

On November 14, 2017, we filed a registration statement on Form S-8 to register the sale of 23,273,890 shares issuable 
under the 2013 Stock Option Plan and 2015 Equity Incentive Plan. 

Changes in Control 

We are unaware of any arrangement the operation of which may at a subsequent date result in a change of control of our 
company. 

Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR 
INDEPENDENCE 

Transactions with Related Persons 

During the periods presented there have been no transactions with related persons. 

Director Independence 

Our bylaws provide that we have at least one director, and as of the date this report, our Board consisted of a total seven 
directors, consisting of Glenn Sanford, Jason Gesing, Eugene Frederick,  Randall Miles, Darren Jacklin, Susan Truax 
and Dan Cahir. Under NASDAQ Marketplace Rule 5605(a)(2), a director is not considered to be independent if he or 
she is also an executive officer or employee of the Company, or otherwise has any material relationship with the 
Company or its affiliates that would impair independence. Using this definition of director independence, each of the 
following directors are considered independent; Darren Jacklin, Randall Miles, and Dan Cahir. 

Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES 

Principal Accounting Fees 

The following table sets forth fees billed or accrued by our independent registered public accountants during the 
fiscal years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018: 

   

Year Ended December 31, 
2019 2018 

Audit fees $  1,044,000 $  785,000 
Audit related fees  —  — 
Tax fees  —  — 
All other fees  —  — 
Total fees $  1,044,000 $  785,000 

Audit fees pertain to the audit of our annual Consolidated Financial Statements, including reviews of the interim 
financial statements contained in our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and services that are normally provided by an 
independent registered accountant in connection with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements. 

Our current principal accountant Deloitte & Touche LLP was engaged to audit our consolidated financial statements for 
the year ended December 31, 2019.  BDO USA, LLP was engaged to audit our consolidated financial statements for the 
year ended December 31, 2018. 
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Audit-related fees consists of fees billed for assurance and related services that are reasonably related to the performance 
of the audit or review of our consolidated financial statements, which are not reported under “Audit Fees.” 

Tax fees consist of fees billed for professional services for tax compliance, tax advice, and tax planning. 

The principal accountant for the current year and for the most recently completed fiscal year is not expected to present at 
the stockholders’ meeting and, therefore, will not make a statement or be available to respond to questions. 

All other fees consist of fees for products and services other than the services reported above. There were no 
management consulting services provided in the fiscal years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018. 

Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures 

All services provided by our independent registered accountants were pre-approved by the Audit Committee. The Audit 
Committee is presented, for approval, a description of the Audit-related, Tax and Other services expected to be 
performed by the independent registered accounts during the fiscal year. 

The Audit Committee determined that all services provided by our independent registered accountants were compatible 
with maintaining their independence. 

PART IV 

Item 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES 

EXHIBITS 

  

Exhibit Exhibit 
Number      Description 

2.1 Merger Agreement dated August 15, 2013 with eXp Realty International, Inc. and eXp Acquisition Corp. 
(incorporated by reference on Form 8-K, filed on August 20, 2013) 

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference from Appendix A to the 
Company’s Definitive Information Statement on Schedule 14C filed on October 9, 2018) 

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws (incorporated by reference from Appendix B to the Company’ Definitive 
Information Statement on Schedule 14C filed on October 9, 2018) 

4.1  Description of Securities 

10.1  Affiliate Stock Purchase Agreement (incorporated by reference from Form 8-K, filed on March 18, 2013) 

10.2  Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference from Form 8-K, filed on October 2, 2013) 

10.3 eXp Realty International Corporation 2015 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to the 
Company’s Definitive Information Statement on Schedule 14C filed on April 2, 2015) 

10.4 First Amendment to eXp Realty International Corporation 2015 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by 
reference to Company’s Definitive Information Statement on Schedule 14C filed on October 6, 2017) 

10.5 Second Amendment to eXp World Holdings, Inc 2015 Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to 
Company’s Definitive Information Statement on Schedule 14C filed on December 11, 2019) 
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10.6 eXp Realty International Corporation 2015 Agent Equity Program Enrollment Form (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 99.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 30, 2015) 

10.7 Second Amendment to eXp World Holdings, Inc Stock Repurchase Program (incorporated by reference from 
Form 8-K filed on November 27, 2019) 

10.8 eXp World Holdings, Inc Stock Repurchase Program (incorporated by reference from 8-K filed on December 
31, 2018) 

14.1  Code of Ethics 

21.1  Subsidiaries of the Registrant 

31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) under the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) under the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

32.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

32.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of 
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 

101.INS  XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary 

None 



SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly 
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 

eXp World Holdings, Inc. 
(Registrant) 

Date: March 12, 2020 /s/ Glenn Sanford 
Glenn Sanford 
Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) 

Date: March 12, 2020 /s/ Jeff Whiteside 
Jeff Whiteside 
Chief Financial Officer 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following 
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated. 

Name Title Date 

/s/ GLENN SANFORD March 12, 2020 
Glenn Sanford 

/s/ JEFF WHITESIDE March 12, 2020 
Jeff Whiteside 

/s/ ALAN GOLDMAN March 12, 2020 
Alan Goldman 

/s/ JAMES BRAMBLE March 12, 2020 
James Bramble 

/s/ JASON GESING March 12, 2020 
Jason Gesing 

/s/ EUGENE FREDERICK March 12, 2020 
Eugene Frederick 

/s/ RANDALL MILES March 12, 2020 
Randall Miles 

/s/ DARREN JACKLIN March 12, 2020 
Darren Jacklin 

/s/ SUSAN TRUAX March 12, 2020 
Susan Truax 

/s/ DAN CAHIR 

Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board 
(Principal Executive Officer) 

Chief Financial Officer 
(Principal Financial Officer) 

Chief Accounting Officer 

General Counsel 

Director 

Director 

Director 

Director 

Director 

Director 
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March 12, 2020 
Dan Cahir 
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